
 

  
COUNCIL MEETING #C19-15 

       AGENDA 
MONDAY, JULY 29, 2019  

7:00 p.m. 
Council Chambers, City of Dawson Office  

 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER  
 

2. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 
a) Council Meeting Agenda #C19-15 

 
3. PUBLIC HEARING 

a) Subdivision Application #19-068 RE: Lot 13, Callison Industrial Subdivision Ph. II 
 

4. DELEGATIONS AND GUESTS 
a) Phil Dirks, CPA, Metrix Group LLP RE: Presentation of the Draft Audited Financial Statements for the Year Ended 

December 31, 2018 
 

5. BUSINESS ARISING FROM DELEGATIONS 
 

6. ADOPTION OF THE MINUTES 
a) Council Meeting Minutes #C19-14 of July 15, 2019 
 

7. BUSINESS ARISING FROM MINUTES  
a) Council Meeting Minutes #C19-13 of June 24, 2019 
 

8. FINANCIAL AND BUDGET REPORTS 
a)  Audited Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2018 
 

9. SPECIAL MEETING, COMMITTEE, AND DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS 
a) Request for Decision RE: Subdivision Application #19-068: Lot 13, Callison Phase II 
b) Request for Decision RE: Playground Surface Replacement 
c) Information Report RE: Lot 13, Block 1, Day’s Addition Removal of Caveat Request 
d)  Request for Decision RE: Industrial Infill and Dome Road Urban Residential Development Boundaries 
e) Development Incentives Policy Review & Development Cost Charge Program Design Final Report 
 

10. BYLAWS AND POLICIES 
a) Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 3 #2019-08 RE: Cannabis Retail Services – First Reading 
b) Heritage Bylaw #2019-04 – First Reading 
 

11. CORRESPONDENCE 
a) Paul McConnell, President, Yukon Liquor Corporation RE: Proposed Approach to Yukon’s Liquor Act 
b) Paul McConnell, President, Yukon Liquor Corporation RE: Liquor Act Review and Public Drinking 
c) Mark Roberts, Director, Infrastructure and Development Branch RE: Diversion Centre Project 
d) Jackie Olson, Executive Director, KVA RE: KVA Advisor Appointment 
e) Priska Wettstein RE: Garbage Bins Dome Subdivision 
f) RCMP, Dawson Detachment, “M” Division – June 2019 Policing Report 
 

12. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

13. INCAMERA 
a) Financial Related Matter 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT   
 
 



P.O BOX 308, DAWSON CITY, YUKON   Y0B 1G0 
PH: (867) 993-7400,  FAX: (867) 993-7434 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING: 
CONSOLIDATION APPLICATION AND ZONING BYLAW 

AMENDMENT 
 

Subdivision Application: #19-068 
 
Subject Property: Lot 13 Callison Industrial Subdivision Ph. II 
Date: July 29, 2019 
Time: 7:00 pm 
Location: Council Chambers, Town Hall  
 

As per the Municipal Act, S. 319.4, 
upon receiving an application for 
subdivision/consolidation, council 
must give public notice of the 
application.  
 
 
 
 
Therefore, the City of Dawson is 
now requesting input from the 
public regarding dividing Lot 13 
Callison Industrial Subdivision 
Phase II into two lots. 
 
 
 
 

 
For more information, to view the application details, or to provide your input prior to the public 
meeting, please contact the Community Development Officer using the following contact 
information:  
 
Clarissa Huffman 
Community Development Officer 
Box 308, Dawson City YT Y0B1G0 
cdo@cityofdawson.ca 
867-993-7400 ext. 414 
 

mailto:cdo@cityofdawson.ca
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Mayor and Council of City of Dawson

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of City of Dawson (the City), which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the statements of operations and accumulated surplus,
changes in net financial assets,  and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the City as at December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and  its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

(continues)
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Independent Auditors' Report to the Mayor and Council of City of Dawson (continued)

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue as a
going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Edmonton, Alberta
July 29, 2019 DRAFT



    

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Mayor and Members of Council of City of Dawson

The integrity, relevance and comparability of the data in the accompanying financial statements are the
responsibility of management. 

The financial statements are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. They necessarily include some amounts that are based on the best estimates and
judgements of management.

To assist in its responsibility, management maintains accounting, budget and other controls to provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are appropriately authorized, that assets are properly accounted
for and safeguarded, and that financial records are reliable for preparation of financial statements.

Metrix Group LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, have been appointed by the City Council to
express an opinion on the City's financial statements. 

Cory Bellmore
Chief Administrative Officer
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CITY OF DAWSON

Statement of Financial Position

As At December 31, 2018

2018 2017
(Restated)
(Note 12)

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 5,673,619 $ 6,966,471
Receivables (Note 3) 1,403,625 935,727

7,077,244 7,902,198

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 4) 839,580 1,072,857
Deferred revenue 109,950 92,239
Obligations under capital lease (Note 5) 54,551 85,553
Long term debt - 926,989

1,004,081 2,177,638

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 6,073,163 5,724,560

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Tangible capital assets (Note 6) 20,629,150 20,748,302
Inventory for consumption 81,734 101,482
Prepaid expenses 1,977 6,845

20,712,861 20,856,629

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (Note 7) $ 26,786,024 $ 26,581,189

Contingencies (Note 9)  

ON BEHALF OF COUNCIL:

_____________________________ 

_____________________________ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
4

DRAFT



CITY OF DAWSON

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
(Budget) (Actual) (Actual)

(Note 14)
(Restated)
(Note 12)

REVENUE
Taxes and grants in lieu of taxes $ 2,975,852 $ 3,026,736 $ 2,925,584
Government transfers for operating 2,509,359 2,675,410 2,287,176
Sales and user charges 2,305,318 2,237,439 2,232,329
Licenses and permits 53,020 65,588 50,089
Return on investments 50,000 46,915 36,832
Other 40,788 31,142 39,076
Penalties and costs on taxes 29,100 27,538 30,347
Fines 3,000 2,080 1,450

7,966,437 8,112,848 7,602,883

EXPENSES
Parks and recreation 1,911,060 1,769,234 1,535,346
General administration 1,416,071 1,133,740 1,054,978
Water supply and distribution 1,256,046 996,707 943,218
Transportation services 926,252 967,532 1,016,711
Waste management 677,399 654,388 645,096
Wastewater treatment and disposal 523,499 484,266 280,400
Fire 477,183 384,605 331,231
Land use planning, zoning and development 340,521 291,446 136,151
Cable television 274,197 203,817 259,360
Council and other legislative 180,378 165,759 121,300
Bylaws enforcement and emergency measures 153,588 138,140 121,645
Cemeteries 15,000 1,020 1,175
Amortization - 1,245,153 1,279,211

8,151,194 8,435,807 7,725,822

ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFECIT) BEFORE
OTHER REVENUE (184,757) (322,959) (122,939)

OTHER REVENUE  
Government transfers for capital 8,695,700 546,426 1,421,631
Insurance proceeds for capital 42,964 - 69,095
Gain (loss) on disposal of tangible capital

assets - (18,632) 23,875

8,738,664 527,794 1,514,601

ANNUAL SURPLUS 8,553,907 204,835 1,391,662

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 26,581,189 26,581,189 25,189,527

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR
(NOTE 8) $ 35,135,096 $ 26,786,024 $ 26,581,189

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF DAWSON

Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2018 2017
(Budget) (Actual) (Actual)
(Note 14) (Restated) 

ANNUAL SURPLUS $ 8,553,907 $ 204,835 $ 1,391,662

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (9,457,335) (1,158,443) (1,972,124)

Amortization of tangible capital assets - 1,245,153 1,279,211

Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 13,810 26,875

Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets - 18,632 (23,875)

(903,428) 323,987 701,749

(Acquisition) use of inventory for consumption - 19,748 (12,945)

(Acquisition) use of prepaid expenses - 4,868 37,387

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET FINANCIAL
ASSETS (903,428) 348,603 726,191

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 5,724,560 5,724,560 4,998,369

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, END OF YEAR $ 4,821,132 $ 6,073,163 $ 5,724,560

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF DAWSON

Statement of Cash Flows

For The Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017
(Restated)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Annual surplus $ 204,835 $ 1,391,662
Non-cash items not included in annual surplus (deficit):

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,245,153 1,279,211
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 18,632 (23,875)

1,468,620 2,646,998

Changes in non-cash working capital  
balances related to operations:

Receivables (467,898) (159,691)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (233,277) (10,798)
Deferred revenue 17,711 (10,458)
Inventory for consumption 19,748 (12,945)
Prepaid expenses 4,868 37,387

(658,848) (156,505)

Cash flow from operating activities 809,772 2,490,493

CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
Purchase of tangible capital assets (1,158,443) (1,972,124)
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 13,810 26,875

Cash flow used by capital activities (1,144,633) (1,945,249)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of long term debt (926,989) (53,606)
Repayment of obligations under capital lease (31,002) (41,692)

Cash flow used by financing activities (957,991) (95,298)

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,292,852) 449,946

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,966,471 6,516,525

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR
   (NOTE 2) $ 5,673,619 $ 6,966,471

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF DAWSON

Schedule of Equity in Tangible Capital Assets (Schedule 1)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR $ 19,735,760 $ 18,950,549
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 1,158,443 1,972,124
Amortization of tangible capital assets (1,245,153) (1,279,211)
Repayment of capital long-term debt 926,989 53,606
Repayment of obligations under capital lease 31,002 41,692
Net book value of disposed tangible capital assets (32,442) (3,000)

BALANCE, END OF YEAR $ 20,574,599 $ 19,735,760

Equity in tangible capital assets is comprised of the following:
Tangible capital assets (net book value) $ 20,629,150 $ 20,748,302
Long-term debt - (926,989)
Obligations under capital lease (54,551) (85,553)

$ 20,574,599 $ 19,735,760

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF DAWSON
Schedule of Segmented Information                                          (Schedule 2)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

  

      

General
Administration

Parks and
Recreation

Protective
Services

Transportation
Services

Utilities and
Cable TV All Other Total

REVENUE

Taxes and grants in lieu of taxes $ 635,615 $ 908,021 $ 317,807 $ 635,615 $ 423,743 $ 105,935 $ 3,026,736
Government transfers 514,328 727,032 253,622 514,328 346,620 319,480 2,675,410
Sales and user charges 51,842 195,550 19,055 9,450 1,957,080 4,462 2,237,439
All other 143,645 - 2,080 - 10,340 17,198 173,263

1,345,430 1,830,603 592,564 1,159,393 2,737,783 447,075 8,112,848

EXPENSES

Salaries, wages and benefits 624,758 819,822 316,848 409,084 701,009 375,521 3,247,042
Contracted and general services 282,157 92,872 95,328 348,188 1,123,569 17,798 1,959,912
Materials and supplies 117,352 151,686 50,914 181,395 155,389 64,094 720,830
Utilities 30,148 284,748 12,890 18,219 306,129 - 652,134
Repairs and maintenance 42,009 294,083 2,906 7,129 30,605 - 376,732
Insurance 37,316 50,526 40,605 3,518 22,476 812 155,253
Interest on capital lease and long-term

debt - 37,080 3,254 - - - 40,334
Grants to individuals and organizations - 38,417 - - - - 38,417

$ 1,133,740 $ 1,769,234 $ 522,745 $ 967,533 $ 2,339,177 $ 458,225 $ 7,190,654

NET REVENUE (DEFICIT) BEFORE
AMORTIZATION 211,690 61,369 69,819 191,860 398,606 (11,150) 922,194

Amortization 79,424 658,001 77,395 107,732 322,601 - 1,245,153

NET REVENUE (DEFICIT) $ 132,266 $ (596,632) $ (7,576) $ 84,128 $ 76,005 $ (11,150) $ (322,959)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF DAWSON

Schedule of Segmented Information (Schedule 3)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

  

      

General
Administration 

Parks and
Recreation

Protective
Services

Transportation
Services

Utilities and
Cable TV All Other Total

REVENUE

Taxes and grants in lieu of taxes $ 614,373 $ 877,675 $ 307,186 $ 614,373 $ 409,582 $ 102,395 $ 2,925,584
Government transfers 510,307 686,153 240,153 480,307 320,205 50,051 2,287,176
Sales and user charges 29,420 170,597 20,015 9,450 2,001,697 1,150 2,232,329
All other 125,997 - 1,450 - 15,589 14,758 157,794

1,280,097 1,734,425 568,804 1,104,130 2,747,073 168,354 7,602,883

EXPENSES

Salaries, wages and benefits $ 539,623 $ 785,424 $ 264,717 $ 400,183 $ 698,927 $ 237,504 $ 2,926,378
Contracted and general services 329,438 99,600 50,800 416,555 965,357 10,533 1,872,283
Materials and supplies 99,010 106,442 74,310 165,689 189,343 9,799 644,593
Utilities 30,071 315,395 11,287 20,277 207,266 - 584,296
Repairs and maintenance 25,318 105,932 5,259 9,429 48,027 - 193,965
Insurance 31,518 49,201 42,232 4,578 19,154 790 147,473
Interest on capital lease and long-term

debt - 38,331 4,271 - - - 42,602
Grants to individuals and organizations - 35,021 - - - - 35,021

1,054,978 1,535,346 452,876 1,016,711 2,128,074 258,626 6,446,611

NET REVENUE (DEFICIT) BEFORE
AMORTIZATION 225,119 199,079 115,928 87,419 618,999 (90,272) 1,156,272

Amortization 145,756 618,573 75,778 95,984 343,120 - 1,279,211

NET REVENUE (DEFICIT) $ 79,363 $ (419,494) $ 40,150 $ (8,565) $ 275,879 $ (90,272) $ (122,939)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CITY OF DAWSON

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2018

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES        

The financial statements of the City of Dawson (the "City") are the representations of
management, prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by the City are as follows: 

(a) Reporting Entity

The financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, changes in
financial position of the reporting entity.  The entity is comprised of all the organizations that
are owned or controlled by the City and are, therefore, accountable to the Mayor and
Council for the administration of their financial affairs and resources.

The statements exclude trust assets that are administered for the benefit of external parties.

(b) Basis of Accounting

Revenues are accounted for in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that
gave rise to the revenues.

Funds from external parties and earnings thereon restricted by agreement or legislation are
accounted for as deferred revenue until used for the purpose specified.

Government transfers, are recognized in the financial statements as revenues in the period
that the events giving rise to the transfer occurred, providing the transfers are authorized,
the City has met any eligibility criteria, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be
made.

Expensess are recognized in the period the goods and services are acquired and a liability
is incurred or transfers are due.

(c) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the period.  Where measurement uncertainty exists, the financial statements have
been prepared within reasonable limits of materiality.  Actual results could differ from those
estimates.  

The City has used estimates to determine accrued liabilities, tangible capital asset useful
lives as well as provisions made for allowances for amounts receivable or any provision for
impairment.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of items that are readily convertible to known
amount of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, and have a maturity of
one year or less at acquisition. 

(continues)
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CITY OF DAWSON

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2018

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Land Held for Resale

Land held for resale is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Cost includes
costs for land acquisition and improvements required to prepare the land for servicing such
as clearing, stripping and leveling charges.  Related development costs incurred to provide
infrastructure such as water and wastewater services, roads, sidewalks and street lighting
are recorded as physical assets under the respective function. 

(f) Inventory for consumption      

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost determined by
the first in, first out method. 

(g) Tangible Capital Assets      

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost,
less residual value, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life as follows:

Buildings 7 - 40 years
Engineered structures:

Cable TV 10 - 25 years
Water and wastewater 15 - 50 years
Other 7 - 20 years
Roads 30 years

Machinery and equipment 7 - 20 years
Land improvements 7 - 25 years

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at fair value at the date of
receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

Works of art for display are not recorded as tangible capital assets but are disclosed. 

(h) Tax Revenue

Property tax revenue is based on market value assessments determined in accordance with
the Municipal Act. Tax rates are established annually. Taxation revenues are recorded at the
time tax billings are issued.  Assessments are subject to appeal.  

(i) Contaminated Sites

Contaminated sites are defined as a result of contamination being introduced in air, soil,
water or sediment of a chemical, organic, or radioactive material or live organism that
exceeds an environmental standard.  A liability for remediation on contaminated sites is
recognized, net of any recoveries, when an environmental standard exists, contamination
exceeds the environmental standard, the City is directly responsible for or accepts
responsibility for the liability, future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable
estimate of the liability can be made.

(continues)
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CITY OF DAWSON

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2018

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in
the provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are
not intended for sale in the normal course of operations.  The change in non-financial assets
during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the
consolidated change in net financial assets (debt) for the year. 

2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS          

2018 2017

Bank accounts and petty cash on hand $ 1,438,595 $ 2,017,207
Guaranteed Investment Certificates 4,235,024 4,949,264

$ 5,673,619 $ 6,966,471

Guaranteed Investment Certificates bear interest at rates ranging from 1.30% to 1.85% and maturing
between April and November 2019.    

3. RECEIVABLES        

2018 2017

Receivable from other governments $ 1,151,835 $ 733,319
Trade and other 104,857 114,803
Goods and Services Tax rebate 93,225 65,252
Taxes and grants in place of taxes 54,796 23,441

1,404,713 936,815

Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts (1,088) (1,088)

$ 1,403,625 $ 935,727

4. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES              

2018 2017

Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 534,933 $ 792,956
Accrued vacation, overtime and sick time 289,206 264,460
Accrued interest on long-term debt 15,441 15,441

$ 839,580 $ 1,072,857

The vacation and overtime liability is comprised of the vacation and overtime that employees are
deferring to future years. Employees have either earned the benefits (and are vested) or are entitled
to these benefits within the next budgetary year. Sick time is recorded at 50% of total time incurred.

13

DRAFT



CITY OF DAWSON

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2018

5. OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASE       
2018 2017

Lease agreement with Roynant Inc. repayable in equal
monthly installments of $1,879, including implied interest at
5.00%, due August 1, 2021, secured by machinery and
equipment. $ 54,551 $ 73,846

Lease agreement with Roynant Inc. repayable in equal
monthly installments of $2,052, including implied interest at
5.25%, due February 28, 2018, secured by machinery and
equipment. - 11,707

$ 54,551 $ 85,553

The future minimum lease payments over the next four years are as follows:

2019 $ 22,550
2020 22,550
2021 13,164

Less amount representing interest: 3,713

$ 54,551

14
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CITY OF DAWSON

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2018

6. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS          
2018

Net Book

Value

2017

Net Book

Value

Engineered structures

Water and wastewater $ 3,688,373 $ 3,854,628

Other 804,983 889,276

Cable television 393,188 454,896

Roads 582,068 603,626

5,468,612 5,802,426

Buildings 10,351,431 6,745,606

Work in progress 906,665 4,657,263

Land 1,630,285 1,469,401

Machinery, equipment, and furnishings 1,087,561 1,010,504

Land improvements 1,184,596 1,063,102

$ 20,629,150 $ 20,748,302

Machinery, equipment, and furnishings cost includes $235,413 (2017 - $235,413) of assets under capital lease.

Cost Cost
Beginning of End of

Year Additions Disposals Transfers Year

Engineered structures

Cable television $ 1,542,682 $ - $ - $ - $ 1,542,682

Water and wastewater 14,334,914 - - - 14,334,914

Other 1,574,076 - - - 1,574,076

Roads 646,742 - - - 646,742

18,098,414 - - - 18,098,414

Buildings 17,957,500 - - 4,293,328 22,250,828
Machinery, equipment, and

furnishings 3,058,209 236,844 (28,814) - 3,266,239

Land 1,469,401 160,884 - - 1,630,285

Land improvements 1,575,781 119,350 - 66,194 1,761,325

Work in progress 4,657,263 641,365 (32,442) (4,359,522) 906,664

$ 46,816,568 $ 1,158,443 $ (61,256) $ - $ 47,913,755

Accumulated Accumulated
Amortization Amortization

Beginning of Current End of
Year Amortization Disposals Transfers Year

Engineered structures
Cable television $ 1,087,786 $ 61,707 $ - $ - $ 1,149,493
Water and wastewater 10,480,283 239,128 - - 10,719,411
Other 684,801 11,421 - - 696,222
Roads 43,116 21,558 - - 64,674

12,295,986 333,814 - - 12,629,800

Buildings 11,211,893 687,503 - - 11,899,396
Machinery, equipment, and

furnishings 2,047,707 159,786 (28,814) - 2,178,679
Land improvements 512,680 64,050 - - 576,730

$ 26,068,266 $ 1,245,153 $ (28,814) $ - $ 27,284,605
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CITY OF DAWSON

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2018

7. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS        

2018 2017

Unrestricted surplus $ 1,882,378 $ 2,979,883
Restricted surplus:

Reserves  (Note 8) 4,329,047 3,865,546
Equity in tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) 20,574,599 19,735,760

$ 26,786,024 $ 26,581,189

8. RESERVES        

2018 2017

Recreation - facility $ 1,022,593 $ 910,177
Sewer services 724,035 667,889
Administration 453,842 449,703
Water services 314,263 286,625
Recreation - capital 226,260 118,638
Recreation - operating 197,842 131,631
Equipment replacement 193,279 220,383
Load capacity 179,028 157,578
Heritage 174,482 141,679
Road maintenance 170,044 150,657
Waste management 149,558 128,377
Road replacement 149,291 142,976
Cable 118,732 117,649
Administration equipment replacement 75,186 45,765
Protective services 67,251 98,356
Council equipment replacement 31,591 16,439
Future land development 28,570 28,309
Parking 27,357 27,107
Downtown Revitalization 25,843 25,608

$ 4,329,047 $ 3,865,546

9. CONTINGENCIES  

a) The City and the Yukon Government are in discussions over whose responsibility the closure and
post-closure costs of the Quigley Waste Management Facility will be. City management
anticipates the City will be responsible for a portion of the costs but currently the City’s share, if
any, has not yet been determined.  Since the amount cannot be reasonably estimated at this time
no amount has been included in the financial statements.

16

DRAFT



CITY OF DAWSON

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2018

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

The City's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable
and accrued liabilities and obligations under capital lease.  It is management's opinion that the City is
not exposed to significant interest or currency risk arising from these financial instruments.  Unless
otherwise noted, the fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values.

The City is exposed to credit risk with respect to receivables.  Credit risk arises from the possibility
that customers may experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill their obligations.  The large
number and diversity of customers minimizes the City's credit risk.  

11. SEGMENTED DISCLOSURES    

The City provides a range of services to its citizens.  Segment disclosures are intended to enable
users to better understand the government reporting entity and the major expense and revenue
activities of the City.  For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts
that are directly attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis.  

The segments have been selected based on a presentation similar to that adopted for the municipal
financial planning and budget processes. Segments include:

(a) General Administration consists of corporate administration and general municipal services.

(b) Parks and Recreation develops initiatives to provide opportunities and support in the areas of arts
heritage and culture, and in recreation, sport and leisure.

(c) Protective Services is comprised of fire, bylaws enforcement and emergency measures.

(d) Transportation Services is comprised of roads, streets, walks and lighting.

(e) Utilities and Cable TV is comprised of water supply and distribution, wastewater treatment and
disposal, waste management and cable television.

(f) All other is comprised of council and other legislative, land use planning, zoning, development
and cemeteries.

The accounting policies used in the segment disclosures are consistent with those followed in the
preparation of the financial statements (Note 1). For additional information see the Schedule of
Segmented Disclosure (Schedule 2).

12. RESTATEMENT    

Subsequent to the City's 2017 financial statements being issued, it was discovered that government
transfers for the Recreation Centre in the amount of $203,652 were incorrectly not recorded in 2017.

Comparative figures have been restated to correct for this.

The effect on the financial statements has been to increase 2017 receivables, net financial assets,
accumulated surplus, government transfers for capital revenue, and annual surplus by $203,652.
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CITY OF DAWSON

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended December 31, 2018

13. BUDGET          

The budget figures presented in these financial statements are based upon the 2018 operating and
capital budgets approved by Council on April 10, 2018.

The 2018 budget, prepared by the City, reflects all municipal activities including capital projects, debt
repayments, and reserves for future use. The reconciliation below is provided to encompass these
items and is provided for information purposes only.

2018
(Budget) 2018

2017
(Actual)

Annual surplus $ 8,553,907 $ 204,835 $ 1,391,662

Add:
  Amortization expense - 1,245,153 1,279,210
  Transfers from reserves 2,412,057 217,752 87,007

2,412,057 1,462,905 1,366,217

Deduct:
  Transfers to reserves (581,640) (681,254) (795,251)
  Acquisition of tangible capital assets (9,457,335) (1,158,443) (1,972,124)
  Long term debt repayment (926,989) (926,989) (53,606)
  Obligations under capital lease repayment - (31,002) (41,692)

(10,965,964) (2,797,688) (2,862,673)

$ - $ (1,129,948) $ (104,794)

14. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS    

These financial statements were approved by Council and management.
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MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETING #C19-14 of the council of the City of Dawson held on Monday,  
July 15, 2019 at 7:00 PM in the City of Dawson Council Chambers. 

 
PRESENT:  Mayor    Wayne Potoroka 
   Councillor   Natasha Ayoub 

  Councillor    Stephen Johnson  
   Councillor   Bill Kendrick 

 
REGRETS:  Councillor    Molly Shore 
 
    
ALSO PRESENT: CAO    Cory Bellmore  

A/EA    Amanda King 
    CDO    Clarissa Huffman 
 

Agenda Item: Call to Order 

 
The Chair, Mayor Potoroka called council meeting #C19-14 to order at 7:02 PM. 
 
Mayor Potoroka welcomed the new City of Dawson Fire Chief, Mike Masserey, to the community. 
 

Agenda Item: Agenda 

 
 
C19-14-01 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Kendrick that the agenda for council 

meeting # C19-14 of July 15, 2019 be adopted as presented.  
  Motion Carried 4-0 
 

Agenda Item: Public Hearing 

 
C19-14-02 Moved by Councillor Kendrick, seconded by Mayor Potoroka that council move into the 

committee of the whole for the purposes of holding a public hearing and for hearing 
delegations.  

  Motion Carried 4-0 
 
a) Subdivision Application #19-048: Lot 33, Dome Road Subdivision 
 

The Chair called for submissions. 
The Chair called for submissions a second time.  
The Chair called for submissions a third and final time, and hearing none declared the  
Public Hearing closed. 

 
b) Consolidation Application #19-027 & Zoning Bylaw Amendment #19-011: Lot 1047-2 N. Klondike 

Highway 
   
  The Chair called for submissions. 
                        The Chair called for submissions a second time.  
                        The Chair called for submissions a third and final time, and hearing none declared the    
    Public Hearing closed. 
 
C19-14-03 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Kendrick that committee of the whole 

revert to council to proceed with the agenda.  
  Motion Carried 4-0 
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             _____       ______       
            Mayor       CAO 
 

 

 

Agenda Item: Adoption of the Minutes 

 
Council noted the error C19-13-19 ‘Councillor MacArthur’ to be corrected to ‘Mayor Potoroka’. Council 
also requested that acronyms be spelled out in full to avoid confusion. 
 
Council requested a breakdown of costs and attendee numbers for Seedy Saturday. 
 
a) Council Meeting Minutes #C19-13 of June 24, 2019 
 
C19-14-04 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Shore that the minutes of council 

meeting #C19-13 of June 24, 2019 be approved as amended.  
  Motion Carried 4-0 
 

Agenda Item: Financial and Budget Reports 

 
a) 2019 Accounts Payable Report #19-10 RE: Cheque Run #53708 - 53757 
 

Further information Cheque # Vendor Name 
Council noted the payment was for 
travel to Haines Junction for AYC 

53726 Johnson, S 

Council asked if this was the final 
payment. CAO to report.   

53733 Master Pools Alta Ltd.  

 
C19-14-05 Moved by Councillor Johnson, seconded by Councillor Ayoub that council acknowledge 

receipt of the Accounts Payable Report #19-10 RE: Cheques #53708 - 53757; provided 
for informational purposes. 

  Motion Carried 4-0 
 
b) 2019 Accounts Payable Report #19-11 RE: Cheque Run #53758 – 53789 
 

Further information Cheque # Vendor Name 
Council noted the payment was for 
travel to Haines Junction for AYC. 
Councillor Kendrick had been 
reimbursed an incorrect amount but 
had rectified the overpayment  

53677 Kendrick, W 

 
C19-14-06 Moved by Councillor Johnson, seconded by Mayor Potoroka that council acknowledge 

receipt of the Accounts Payable Report #19-08 RE: Cheques #53758 – 53789; provided 
for informational purposes.   

  Motion Carried 4-0 
 
c) 2019 Accounts Payable Report #19-12 RE: Cheque Run #53790 – 53837 
 
C19-14-07 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Johnson that council acknowledge 

receipt of the Accounts Payable Report #19-08 RE: Cheques #53790 – 53837; provided 
for informational purposes.   

  Motion Carried 4-0 
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             _____       ______       
            Mayor       CAO 
 

 

 

Agenda Item: Special Meeting, Committee, and Departmental Reports 

 
a) Request for Decision RE: Subdivision Application #19-048 – Lot 33, Dome Road Subdivision 
 
C19-14-08 Moved by Councillor Kendrick, seconded by Mayor Potoroka that Council grant 

subdivision authority to subdivide for Subdivision Application #19-048, “Plan A”, subject to 
the conditions as presented in the Request for Decision RE: Subdivision Application #19-
048: Lot 33, Dome Road Subdivision.  

 
C19-14-09 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Kendrick that council move to 

committee of the whole for the purposes of discussion.  
   Motion Carried 4-0 
 
Council discussed with the CDO as to whether the conditions had been rectified. CDO explained that 
with the short turnaround of time between Committee of the Whole and Council some were unable to 
completed so the conditions are still in effect. CDO assured council that if Plan B was chosen then it 
would come back to council for decision. Council requested assurance that no trails were in conflict with 
the proposed plan.    
 
C19-14-10 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Kendrick that committee of the whole 

revert to council to proceed with the agenda.  
   Motion Carried 4-0 
  Main Motion Carried 4-0 
 
b) Request for Decision RE: Zoning Bylaw Amendment 19-073 & Subdivision Application #19-081: 
Sidhu Trucking 
 
C19-14-11 Moved by Councillor Johnson, seconded by Councillor Ayoub that council grant 

subdivision authority to create ‘Parcel A’ as shown in Figure 2, subject to the conditions as 
presented in the Request for Decision RE: Zoning Bylaw Amendment 19-073 & 
Subdivision Application #19-081: Sidhu Trucking. 

 
C19-14-12 Moved by Councillor Kendrick, seconded by Mayor Potoroka that council move to 

committee of the whole for the purposes of discussion.  
   Motion Carried 4-0 
 
Council discussed their displeasure at Yukon Government’s (YG) lack of fair process with not tendering 
the land and not following their obligations under the Yukon Lands Act. Council discussed YG taking the 
first step and providing the City with an authority letter. Council discussed wanting to see a hydrology 
study regarding what the effects of filling the pond would have on neighbouring properties and the effect 
on the ecosystem. The CDO explained the plan in place for a procedural policy between relevant 
departments to make Spot Land applications work for all parties and suggested the authority letter be 
added to the conditions of the application. She was concerned that further delays would take the 
applicants past the 90 day application deadline. CDO and CAO added that if the application was rejected 
then no one can apply for the lot for 6 months, however the current applicants could ask for an extension.  
 
C19-14-13 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Kendrick that committee of the whole 

revert to council to proceed with the agenda.  
   Motion Carried 4-0 
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             _____       ______       
            Mayor       CAO 
 

 

C19-14-14 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Kendrick that committee of the whole 
take a 5-minute recess. Carried 4-0 

 
C19-14-15 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Kendrick that the matter be referred to 

Committee of the Whole and request confirmation of the Minister’s preferred disposition 
method of the parcel in question as per the Yukon Lands Act. 

   Motion Carried 4-0 
 

Agenda Item: Bylaws and Policies 

 
a) Zoning Bylaw Amendment No.1 Bylaw #2019-06 – Second Reading 
 
C19-14-16 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Ayoub that Council that #2019-06 

being the Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 1 Bylaw be given second reading.   
  Motion Carried 4-0 
 
C19-14-17 Moved by Councillor Johnson, seconded by Councillor Ayoub that Council that #2019-06 

being the Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 1 Bylaw be given third and final reading.   
  Motion Carried 4-0 
 

Agenda Item: Correspondence 

 
C19-14-18 Moved by Councillor Kendrick, seconded by Mayor Potoroka that council acknowledge 

receipt of the following correspondence: 
- RCMP, Dawson Detachment, “M” Division – May 2019 Policing Report 
- Pauline Frost RE: Climate Change Strategy 
For informational purposes.  
Motion Carried 4-0 

 

Agenda Item: Public Questions 

 
C19-14-19 Moved by Councillor Kendrick, seconded by Councillor Johnson that council move to 

committee of the whole for the purposes of hearing public questions.  
   Motion Carried 4-0 
 
Dan Davidson asked if it was Council’s decision to take down the trees on Craig Street. Council 
responded that they aren’t involved with the operational side but had ok’d the project as there was a 
need for replacement of pipes to deal with odour issues and to renew the tower. Council added that there 
was a lesson to be learned in making sure that encroachments and ground-truthing were dealt with so 
issues are not replicated in regard to future projects.  
 
Dan Davidson asked if the problem had been solved with the recent pool closure. CAO informed Mr. 
Davidson that the leak had been contained and that the pool would be opening once testing had been 
completed. 
 
Dan Davidson asked if there was an update on the Front Street paving as one layer had been put down 
but it was not finished yet. CAO did not have Yukon Government’s schedule. 
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             _____       ______       
            Mayor       CAO 
 

 

C19-14-20 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Johnson that committee of the whole 
revert to council to proceed with agenda.  

  Motion Carried 4-0 
 

Agenda Item: In Camera 

 
C19-14-21 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Kendrick that council move into a 

closed session of committee of the whole, as authorized by Section 213(3) of the 
Municipal Act, for the purposes of discussing a land related matter.  

  Motion Carried 4-0 
 
C19-14-22 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Johnson that committee of the whole 

revert to an open session of council to proceed with the agenda.  
  Motion Carried 4-0 
 

Agenda Item: Adjournment 

 
C19-14-23 Moved by Mayor Potoroka, seconded by Councillor Johnson that council meeting #C19-

14 be adjourned at 9:14 p.m. with the next regular meeting of council being July 29, 2019. 
Motion Carried 4-0 

 
THE MINUTES OF COUNCIL MEETING C19-14 WERE APPROVED BY COUNCIL RESOLUTION 
#C19-15-__ AT COUNCIL MEETING #C19-15 OF JULY 29, 2019. 
 
 
               
Wayne Potoroka, Mayor     Cory Bellmore, CAO     
          



 

Report to Council 

X For Council Decision     For Council Direction  For Council Information 
 

 In Camera     
 

SUBJECT: Subdivision Application #19-068: Lot 13 Callison Phase II  

PREPARED BY: Clarissa Huffman, CDO  ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Applications & Supporting Documentation 
 DATE: July 12, 2019 

RELEVANT BYLAWS / POLICY / LEGISLATION: 
Municipal Act 
Subdivision Bylaw 
Official Community Plan 
Zoning Bylaw 

 

  

RECOMMENDATION 

It is respectfully recommended that Council: 

1. Grant subdivision authority to subdivide Lot 13 Callison Phase II, subject to the following conditions:  
1.1. Application successfully passes through a public hearing.  
1.2. The applicant submits a Stormwater Management Plan to the satisfaction of the CDO and Public 

Works Superintendent.   
1.3. The applicant submits a plan of subdivision completed by a certified lands surveyor drawn in 

conformity with the approval. 
1.4. The access easement shall be registered on title.  
1.5. The applicant shall, on approval of the subdivision plan by the City of Dawson, take all necessary 

steps to enable the registrar under the Land Titles Act to register the plan of subdivision. 

ISSUE  

The applicant has submitted a Subdivision Application for Lot 13, Callison Phase II. This is substantially the 
same as a previous subdivision in 2014. The 2014 subdivision authority lapsed because title was not raised 
within the one-year timeline as per the Municipal Act.  

BACKGROUND SUMMARY 

The applicant received subdivision authority in 2014 to subdivide Lot 13. The subdivision was not completed 
as per the requirements of the Municipal Act; therefore a new application was required.   

ANALYSIS / DISCUSSION / ALIGNMENT TO OCP & STRATEGIC PRIORITIES  

Municipal Act  

The Municipal Act s. 314 details the requirements for any proposed plan of subdivision to have direct 
access to the highway to the satisfaction of the approving authority. Given that new access would be 
required, it is a condition of subdivision approval that the access location is approved by administration. 
Access to the second lot was achieved in the first subdivision application using a 10m easement to use the 
existing driveway. No changes are proposed to alter this design.    



S. 319 stipulates that a subdivision approval may be valid for a period of up to twelve months. If the 
applicant has not provided proof that the conditions of approval have been met, under the Act approval is 
void. The applicant can request an extension of a further twelve months, which may be granted in whole or 
in part, at the discretion of the approval authority.  

Subdivision Bylaw 

Subdivision Control By-Law S3.01 states that every subdivision of land must be made in accordance with 
the Municipal Act, the Official Community Plan, the Zoning Bylaw, and the Subdivision Control Bylaw. The 
Analysis/Discussion section of this report is intended to discuss the proposal’s conformity with the 
provisions outlined in the relevant legislation, policies, and plans.  

Official Community Plan  

The existing titled property is currently designated as MU – Mixed Use. Uses associated with this 
designation primarily include a range of commercial and industrial structures. Therefore, the consolidated lot 
would be required to retain the same designation. Any new use or development on the proposed lots would 
be required to conform to the OCP designation.  

Zoning Bylaw   

The subject property is currently designated as Commercial Mixed Use (C2) The C2 designation is intended 
to permit a wide range of commercial uses that provide services to local industry and highway tourism 
needs. Examples include commercial storage, campgrounds, contractor services, manufacturing, outside 
storage, service stations, etc. As a commercial service, the use of the land is compatible with the permitted 
use of the land, and no changes are proposed or required.  

A zoning assessment was also conducted on the property, and no outstanding issues were noted. Two 
buildings towards the rear of the lot are considered to be legal non-conforming, but do not impact the intent 
of the subdivision. All other structures on the lot are compliant with the zoning bylaw and do not impact the 
subdivision. Therefore, administration is comfortable recommending approval of this subdivision.  

APPROVAL 

NAME: Cory Bellmore, CAO SIGNATURE: 

 
DATE: July 19, 2019 

 











 

 

Report to Council 
 

x For Council Decision     For Council Direction  For Council Information 
 

 In Camera     
 

 

AGENDA ITEM: Playground Surface Replacement 

PREPARED BY: Marta Selassie ATTACHMENTS: 
 

DATE: July 23, 2019 

RELEVANT BYLAWS / POLICY / LEGISLATION: 
 

  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT, council direct administration to submit an application to Gas Tax for $80,000 to cover a portion of the 
anticipated funding required to complete the playground surface replacement project. And council approve 
the use of recreation reserve money to fund the remainder. 

ISSUE / PURPOSE 

The protective surface replacement of the Minto Park Playground was identified as a project in the capital 
budget to be completed in 2019. The anticipated funding for this project was recreation reserves and 
“funding source to be secured”. Administration is seeking council approval to apply to gas tax for a portion 
of this project. 

BACKGOUND SUMMARY 

An RFP has been issued to obtain prices for replacing the surface material at both the Minto Park and 
Community Garden playgrounds or just the Minto Park playground. Administration will evaluate any bids 
received to determine if both options are feasible at this time. 

ANALYSIS / DISCUSSION  

  
The playground surface material at both playgrounds needs replacing. If not feasible to complete both 
projects this year, Minto Park would be the priority. 

 

APPROVAL 

NAME: Cory Bellmore, CAO SIGNATURE: 
 

DATE:  

 
 

 

 



 

 

Report to Council 

 For Council Decision     For Council Direction X For Council Information 
 

 In Camera     
 

SUBJECT: Lot 13, Block 1, Day’s Addition Removal of Caveat Request 

PREPARED BY: Clarissa Huffman, CDO  ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2009 Development Agreement  
2. Development Permit #09-07  
3. Window Replacement Request  
4. Development Permit #14-031 
 

DATE: July 23, 2019 

RELEVANT BYLAWS / POLICY / LEGISLATION: 
n/a  

 

ISSUE  

The applicant’s lawyer has requested discharge of a caveat on her property held by the City of Dawson. 
The caveat has been forwarded to our lawyer for removal, as the Heritage Advisory Committee is satisfied 
that the work completed on the house meets the requirements of the Development Agreement.  

BACKGROUND 

In 2009, the City of Dawson registered a caveat, in the form of a Development Agreement against Lots 1, 2, 
9 and 10 to facilitate the sale of the properties to Shirley Pennell. The Agreement stated that the purchaser 
would relocate the building and restore it to historic standards. The applicant’s lawyer is of the opinion that 
the Development Agreement has been fulfilled and could be discharged. 

ANALYSIS / DISCUSSION / ALIGNMENT TO OCP & STRATEGIC PRIORITIES  

Based on land records, since 2009, the following work has occurred.  

In 2009, a window was added to the north side of the house and railings were added to the house to match 
the balcony. This work was approved by the Planning Board. In 2013, the applicant applied to replace all 
windows with historically ‘sympathetic’ vinyl windows, which was approved by the Heritage Advisory 
Committee. In 2014, the applicant applied to build an addition onto the house. This was approved by the 
CDO at the time, and then discovered to be problematic after the fact, as the lots had not been consolidated 
and the proposed addition crossed the property line.  

This is not compliant with the zoning bylaw, and it was recommended by the administration that the 
applicant purchase the alley and that the lots be consolidated with the alley to legally facilitate the 
development.  

A survey conducted in June 2017 shows that in addition to the dwelling’s situation partially on all four 
properties and the alley, the historic portion of the dwelling also encroaches into the Front Street Right-of-
Way. The applicant approached Yukon Government to purchase a portion of the Right-of-Way in order to 
consolidate it with the lots in question to alleviate the encroachment. This request was denied, and the 
applicant was instead directed to apply for a License of Occupation. The Licence of Occupation was 
approved in 2018, and the consolidation was completed. The last step to resolve any outstanding issues 
associated this lot would be to remove the caveat.  



 

 

APPROVAL 

NAME: Cory Bellmore, CAO SIGNATURE: 
 

DATE:  
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Committee Minutes Wednesday, 3rd of July, 2013 
 19:00 
 City of Dawson Council Chamber 

 
Meeting Type: Regular Meeting: # HAC 13-12  
Facilitator: Micah Olesh    
Attendees: Sylvia Burkhard, Hector Renaud (Acting Chair), Jim Williams 
Absent: Trina Buhler 
Delegates: Dave Robinson, Shirley Pennell, Molly MacDonald 
 
Meeting Called to order at 19:02 pm 
 Minutes 

 
Agenda Item: Agenda Presenter: Sylvia Burkhard  
Resolution: #13-12-01 Seconder: Jim Williams 

THAT the Agenda for Heritage Advisory Committee Meeting HAC 13-12 be accepted as presented . 
 
Discussion: None 
Votes For: 3  
 

 Votes Against: 0 
 

Abstained: 0

 
Agenda Item: Delegates Presenter: Jim Williams  
Resolution: #13-12-02 Seconder: Sylvia Burkhard 

THAT the Heritage Advisory Committee move into the Committee of the Whole to hear delegations.  
 
Discussion:  
 
Votes For: 3 
 

 Votes Against: 0 
 

Abstained: 

 Agenda Item: Delegates Dave Robinson 
 
Discussion: 
Current exterior is rotting and must be replaced.  Goal is to increase detailing and ornamentation.  
Gussets will be hand done by Dave.  Scale is 1’ : ¼”.  Carpentry work will be done by Doug and Dan 
Fraser.  The design was taken from the Alexandra Hotel, researched at the archives.  It will be cove 
siding just as is currently on the building.  The side building may be expanded upon later in a separate 
application.  
 

 Agenda Item: Delegates Shirley Pennell 
 
Discussion:  Window sealant is leaking on the current windows and so wish to replace five windows.  
The first choice is with fixed upper panes , similar to the customs house or the rectory.  It would be like a 
transit window. 
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HAC – if the upper window is trimmed out as one window, it will be too large to look historic.  There will 
be an extra trim. 

Agenda Item: Delegates Molly MacDonald & Luke Hunter 
 
Discussion:  Must still decide how to best categorise the information.  Photos of buildings will be divided 
into two age groups: 1896-99 (the early, rougher town site), and post 1900- the more established 
Edwardian town site.   The data base will be searchable by architectural items such as roofs, verandahs.  
There will be close up cropped photos of these items and a ID number allowing one to identify the 
original photo.  The HAC request an emphasis on residential construction since this is the most common 
type of application submitted.  Proportion should be included in the database.  For commercial style 
buildings, it is important to included façade elements such as brackets and trimboards as a searchable 
item.  Should photos of closer communities such as Bear Creek and Klondike City be included in the 
database? “Bear Creek’s ghost is all over town” and visible in that many people brought Bear Creek 
structures into town.   The accessibility issues discussed last meeting still haven’t been ironed out.  The 
initial phase of this project will not be web-accessible.  We must figure out how to deal with Outside 
contractors.  Again, the city will be able to add material from non-museum sources – possibly through a 
YG partnership ?   
  
Action Items Person Responsible Deadline 

Send HAC permit list to Luke Micah Olesh ASAP 
Contact Cathie Ritchie re: possible YG-City 

Dawson partnership for future database 
submissions and accessibility 

Micah Olesh ASAP 

 

Agenda Item: Delegates Presenter: Jim Williams 
Resolution: #13-12-03 Seconder: Sylvia Burkhard 

THAT the Committee of the Whole revert to the Heritage Advisory Committee. 
 
Discussion:  
 
Votes For: 3 
 

 Votes Against: 0 
 

Abstained: 

 
Agenda Item: Minutes Presenter: Sylvia Burkhard  
Resolution: #13-12-04 Seconder: Jim Williams 

THAT the minutes for Heritage Advisory Committee meeting #HAC13-11 be accepted as presented 
 
Discussion:  
 
Votes For: 3 
 

 Votes Against: 0 
 

Abstained: 

Agenda Item: Business arising from the minutes   
  
 
Discussion 
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None 
 
Action Items Person Responsible Deadline 

   

Agenda Item: Applications Presenter: Sylvia Burkhard  
Resolution: #13-12-05 Seconder: Jim Williams 
 
That Application 12-047 for an alteration at lot 3, block LH, Ladue Estate meets Heritage Management 
Guidelines  
 
Discussion:  
 
The deck was an add-on to the residence.  Some historic residences had verandahs and some did not.  
Queen and 8th had a boxed in porch as proposed.  This needs additional drawings including a site plan 
and elevations.  What will be done with the roof?  Is this proposing that the whole deck be boxed in or 
only the south side?  It isn’t clear.  
 
Votes For: 0 
 

 Votes Against: 3 
 

Abstained: 0

 

Agenda Item: Applications Presenter: Jim Williams 
Resolution: #13-12-06 Seconder: Sylvia Burkhard  
 
That Application 11-051 for an alteration of the front façade at lot 29, block A, Ladue Estate meets 
Heritage Management Guidelines.   
 
Discussion:  
 
This application need dimensions specified and a side view of the brackets proposed. 
 
Votes For: 1 
 

 Votes Against: 2 
 

Abstained: 0

 Agenda Item: Applications Presenter: Sylvia Burkhard 
Resolution: #13-12-07 Seconder: Jim Williams  
 
That Application 11-052 for a new fence at lots 6 and 7, block LC, Ladue meets Heritage Management 
Guidelines subject to the applicant providing an historic photograph of this type of fencing.   
 
Discussion:  
Is this fence type historic?  Unknown; Photographic evidence to be provided by the applicant is needed 
for a ruling. 
 
Votes For: 3 
 

 Votes Against: 0 
 

Abstained: 0

 Agenda Item: Applications Presenter: Jim Williams 
Resolution: #13-12-08 Seconder: Sylvia Burkhard  
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That Application 11-053 for an alteration of windows at lots 1,2,9, and 10, block 1, Day’s Addition meets 
Heritage Management Guidelines subject to receiving a copy of the window schedule from Northerm.   
 
Discussion:  
 
Will fixed windows look like awning windows?  At the bottom of the fixed window, the window holder 
will be more solid and if this is too thick, it will not look historically accurate.  
 
Votes For: 3 
 

 Votes Against: 0 
 

Abstained: 0

Agenda Item: New Business 
                          2nd Ave. moved building  
Discussion:  
All exterior building elements were put on post WWII.  The slabs on the roof were put on in the 1970s, 
the inside was redone in the 1950s, the wiring and addition were post WWII add-ons also.  It was 
probably not a residence in Bear Creek, but served as a storage building.  
 
Conclusions:  
 
Action Items Person Responsible Deadline 

   
   

 Agenda Item: New Business 
                          HAC Mandate 
Discussion:  
At Council session, Mayor Potoroka mentioned that the mandate of the HAC was more expansive than 
we perceive it to be.  The HAC judges heritage value only and sees matters outside of this to fall outside 
of HAC purview as per the HAC bylaw and the Zoning Bylaw.  
 

 
Resolution: #13-12-09 Presenter: Jim Williams  
 Seconder: Sylvia Burkhard 

THAT Heritage Advisory Committee Meeting HA 13-12 is adjourned at 21:30.    
 
Discussion: None 
Votes For: 3 
 
  

Votes Against: 0 
 
 

Abstained: 0 

 
 
________________________________ ________________________________ 
Community Development Officer  HAC Chairperson                    













































 

Report to Council 
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 In Camera     
 

SUBJECT: Industrial Infill and Dome Road Urban Residential Development Boundaries  

PREPARED BY: Clarissa Huffman, CDO  ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Development Boundary Maps  
 DATE: July 23, 2019 

RELEVANT BYLAWS / POLICY / LEGISLATION: 
Official Community Plan  

  

RECOMMENDATION 

It is respectfully recommended that Council: 

1. Direct administration to begin preliminary development planning work for Industrial Infill Areas 1, 2 , and 3 
and Dome Residential Areas A, B, C, and D, as shown in Development Boundary Maps 1 and 2.  

ISSUE  

Administration and Yukon Government are looking to begin feasibility studies for high-priority development 
areas identified by Council. 

BACKGROUND SUMMARY 

In a recent planning exercise, Council provided feedback on a draft development priority area map. This 
map has been updated based on feedback, and administration is now seeking final approval to begin 
preliminary investigations alongside Yukon Government in order to develop the subject lands.  

As requested by Council Industrial Infill Areas 1 and 2 will be explored for residential as well as mixed use, 
keeping in mind land use compatibility, highest and best use, as well as provision of a range of lot 
development in all land use classes.  

Urban Residential Areas D and E have also been added to the maps. Area D will form a part of the current 
feasibility work, due to its spatial relationship with Areas A, B, and C. Further conversations with Rural Land 
Development have indicated that including Area E in this planning work will be challenging due to its more 
distant spatial relationship with the priority planning areas. Therefore, Area E has been included on this map 
to demonstrated that Council’s desire to plan this area has been noted, however it has been flagged as an 
area for further consideration in the medium term.  

ANALYSIS / DISCUSSION / ALIGNMENT TO OCP & STRATEGIC PRIORITIES  

Commercial/Industrial Mixed-Use Infill  

Three areas are proposed for this class of development, named “Industrial Infill” 1, 2, and 3. Area 1 is south 
of Rabbit Creek Road, immediately east of Bonanza Creek Road. Area 2 is north of the Klondike Highway 
across from the existing Guggieville Subdivision. Area 3 is south of the Klondike Highway, across from 
Prospector Road.  

Site suitability will look at a range of factors such as geotechnical, flood risk, sensitive habitats, 
compatibility, efficient use of land, and so on, to determine the suitability and appropriateness of 



development for each area. Where possible, the scope of work will also include consideration of serviced 
versus non-serviced uses, including demand for this land class.  

The land identified is predominately Mixed-Use in the OCP and ZBL. Therefore, the primary use being 
considered for these three parcels would be consistent with this vision.  

Dome Road Urban Residential  

The three areas for consideration are areas A, B, and C, as identified in the Stantec site suitability report. 
Considerations for the preliminary research at this location will be very similar, however rather than 
commercial/industrial mixed-use infill, the proposed designation of these three areas is Urban Residential. 
Council provided feedback previously that there was interest in moving forward with smaller serviced lots in 
this location, and to only consider larger un-serviced lots where it was not technically feasible to do larger 
lots. An additional consideration that is of high priority for this area is walkability and recreation. For this 
reason, compatibility with the Trails Management Plan will be a requirement for this development.  

This area is predominately designated Future Residential Planning in the OCP, with portions around the ski 
trails currently designated as Parks and Natural Space.  

Official Community Plan  

S. 7.2 Housing Implementation Approaches states that the City will “investigate the suitability of the Slinky 
Mine and Dredge Pond areas for new residential development”. The proposed work aligns with this 
implementation approach by conducting development planning for Slinky Mine area as part of the Dome 
Road Development Areas.  

S. 8.1 Economic Development Long Term Goals states that the City should ensure that “there is an 
adequate supply of commercial and industrial land”. The proposed work aligns with this goal by researching 
the potential of future commercial and industrial land in opportunistic compatible infill areas. Also, 
considering the potential of serviced versus un-serviced uses ensures that “a range of industrial 
development types are accommodated”, which is another goal under s. 8.1.  

By protecting existing trails through the Trail Management Plan and developing a plan for compatible land 
uses that incorporates the trails, the project would be aligned with s.12.2 Parks and Recreation 
Implementation Approaches, which states that the City should “provide recreational resources that 
encourage active lifestyles”, as well as s. 13.2 Transportation Implementation Approaches, which states that 
the City should “maintain a walkable community to encourage the use of non-motorized transportation”. A 
major component of an active lifestyle is active transportation, including using the trails as an active 
transportation network.  

By choosing commercial/industrial infill areas rather than developing ‘greenfield’ areas, this project aligns 
with s. 14.1 Municipal Infrastructure Implementation Approaches, which states that the City should “promote 
the development of continuous and compact development in order to reduce the infrastructure required and 
its associated costs”.  

Other Considerations  

Any changes to the OCP or ZBL required as a result of this planning work will be proposed after the 
preliminary feasibility work in order to reduce administrative workload (i.e. it would not make sense to 
change a designation before determining if the new designation is feasible, because it would then need to 
be changed back). If Council is interested in changing the proposed boundaries or proposed designations 
presented in this report, this should be done by resolution prior to beginning the feasibility work in order to 
improve clarity of communication to staff and to avoid wasted time researching an option that is not 
preferred by Council.  

APPROVAL 

NAME: Cory Bellmore, CAO SIGNATURE: 
 

DATE:  
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1.0 Introduction 

The City of Dawson’s Development Incentives Policy (DIP) was passed in 2015 in an effort to encourage the 
creation of market rental housing units in the community, and more specifically in the Downtown Core as 
identified in the 2012 Official Community Plan (OCP)1. The policy followed on the heels of the City’s Downtown 
Revitalization Plan, which recommended a number of different incentives-based approaches to increasing 
vibrancy in this part of the Historic Townsite. The policy was modeled after the City of Whitehorse’s DIP and 
varies only in regards to the number of residential units required for eligibility.

Since the policy was passed, 38 rental units have been (or will imminently be) developed throughout Dawson 
under the three different incentives levels and their respective eligibility requirements. Please refer to the table 
below for an overview of the incentives and associated uptake.  

Level Eligibility Type of Incentive # of 
Agreements 

Minor Develop a secondary suite permitted by the 
City of Dawson 

Waiver of up to 100% of the 
cost of development permit 
fees and 100% of the load 
capacity charge 

2016 – 5 
2017 – 3 
2018 - 0 

Standard 1) Develop multi-unit residential building
Downtown with a minimum of 4 units; 

2) Develop a Downtown mixed-use
development 

10 years of graduated grants 
in amount of taxes owing on 
assessed value of 
improvements, starting at 
100% in Year 1 and decreasing 
10% each year until full 
taxation applies; maximum of 
$50,000 

2 applicants 
1 agreement 
signed in 
2018 but no 
construction 
started 

Major 1) Provide a multi-unit residential building
Downtown with a minimum of 8 rental 
units for a minimum term of 10 years; 

2) Provide a Downtown mixed-use
development with a minimum of 5 rental 
housing units for a minimum term of 10 
years; or 

3) Provide a minimum of four Supportive
Housing units. 

10 years of grants in amount 
of taxes owing on assessed 
value of improvements to a 
maximum value of $500,000 

Two 8-plexes 
One 14-plex 
(Dates of 
agreements 
unknown but 
construction 
initiated in 
2016 & 2018) 

In 2018, Council and City administration decided to undertake a review of the DIP to ensure that it was meeting 
its intended objectives. At the same time, the City wished to explore the related issue of how new development 
is currently charged within the City and consider an alternative framework modeled more closely on the 
Development Cost Charge (DCC) programs in common use in other municipalities across Canada. The current 
Load Capacity Charge (LCC) has been in place for many years and pertains specifically to the recovery of costs 

1 The updated 2018 OCP maintained the same boundaries for the Downtown Core as the 2012 OCP. 
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associated with new connections to the City’s water and sewer infrastructure, limiting its ability to assist the City 
in recovering broader growth-related costs for infrastructure and/or services.  

The objectives of the City of Dawson Development Incentives Review and Development Cost Charge Program 
Design Project are to:  

• Amend or draft a new Development Incentives Policy that is reflective of the needs of the community
and an assessment of the current program in relation to industry best practice;

• Development charges that are more reflective of the current cost of development and allow the City to
provide increased community benefit through the collection of these costs;

• Development of a development charge system that is fair and transparent so that those paying the
charges know what they are paying for and why it is necessary; and,

• Promote strong fiscal management by identifying where incentive dollars come from within the
municipal budget, and where development charge revenues will be allocated (in keeping with relevant
provisions of the Official Community Plan.

Between February and July of 2019, Groundswell Planning of Whitehorse was retained by the City to review the 
DIP and consider potential frameworks for a Dawson-specific development charge program.  

The following final report is intended to serve as a final record of City administration and Council’s deliberations 
of the following issues: 

• What potential revisions should be made to the DIP to increase its effectiveness and to reflect the
governance, market and community context of Dawson City in 2019?

• What other development issues and/or opportunities warrant potential inclusion in a revised DIP and
how might they be best addressed?

• Is the concept of a Development Cost Charge framework as conventionally applied in other jurisdictions
appropriate for the City of Dawson to adopt?

• What does the City of Dawson wish to specifically achieve through the implementation of a
development-related charge and what options are best suited for it?

The final report provides an overview of resident and stakeholder views and relevant examples and practices 
from other municipalities. Groundswell’s initial summary analysis and recommendations for Council consideration 
are included for both incentives and development charges are included, along with Council responses, 
questions, and ideas. The report will effectively serve as a record of decision-making to accompany the updated 
DIP and a resource for future revisitation of the DCC issue.   
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2.0 Engagement Findings - Incentives 

2.1 Overview 

Phase 1 

The first phase of community and stakeholder engagement consisted of both semi-structured interviews and an 
online survey.  

Semi-structured interviews were conducted with recipients of Dawson development incentives to inform an 
assessment of the program’s effectiveness and potential areas for policy and/or program improvement. The 
semi-structured lines of questioning included:  

• How would you describe your experience working with the City of Dawson to receive an incentive? Was
the process straightforward and simple to navigate?

• Did you receive other funding to develop housing?

• To what degree did the City of Dawson incentive influence your decision to proceed?

• How could the City offer or deliver the existing incentives to encourage the development of more
housing units in Dawson?

• Are there other incentives that you think the
City should consider including in the policy
moving forward? What other development
challenges should it try to address?

A total of 15 interviews were conducted with: 

• Six of eight Minor Incentive recipients;

• Two of two Standard Incentive
recipients/applicants;

• Three representing both Major Incentive
recipient organizations;

• Two prospective Major Incentive recipient
organizations (and major community
employers);

• Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in; and

• Dawson City Chamber of Commerce.

Figure 1. Poster Promoting Survey 
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In addition to the interviews, 35 responses were received to the online survey, which ran from May 13-21 and 
was promoted via Facebook, City e-newsletter, and direct mail-outs to households. The results are discussed in 
Section 2.3.   

Phase 2 

The second phase of community and stakeholder engagement consisted of an online survey from June 27-July 
4, “lunch n’ learn” session on July 4, and electronic solicitation of comments from key stakeholders. 18 online 
survey responses were received and three individuals attended the “lunch n’ learn” session. No formal 
comments were received from stakeholders or members of the public.  

The lines of enquiry were narrowed in the second phase of engagement to focus on specific input to an initial 
revised version of the policy (included in Appendix E).  

The results are discussed in Sections 2.4 and 2.5. 

2.2 Phase 1 Interview Results 

Minor Incentive Recipients 

• Most recipients heard about the program through word-of-mouth or online.

• Most reported that the process was fairly straightforward. One recipient appreciated the low amount of
paperwork and administration required; however, two others felt that the process (or lack thereof)
conveyed a lack of transparency and/or legitimacy.

• Everyone reported that the City was helpful and accommodating during the process.

• Virtually all recipients received YHC’s grant of $10,000 under the Municipal Matching Rental
Construction Program. The YHC grant, versus the City incentive, was the catalyst for most recipients to
pursue the development of rental housing. However, numerous recipients commented literally, or to the
effect, that “every little bit helps”.

Standard Incentive Recipients 

• One applicant was unable to proceed because the timing of the City’s new zoning bylaw (which would
have allowed his proposed eight “cluster” rental units to meet the definition of “multi-unit residential”)
extended beyond the funding deadline for YHC’s Municipal Matching Rental Construction program. The
status of his project is now uncertain; even with the City incentive, the business case for the
development was marginal.

• The other applicant (with whom an agreement has been signed) is currently navigating code and
engineering requirements for his project, a 4-unit, 3-storey town home concept. This project will likely
proceed without incentives from either the City of Dawson or YHC and there are several interested
purchasers.

• Both applicants reported that the City was very accommodating and easy to work with through the
application process.
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• One interviewee commented that the City should try to expand the policy to allow for more innovation
and new projects on the home ownership, versus rental, end of the housing continuum. The City could
potentially partner with private and/or non-profit developers to “pilot” affordable home ownership
projects and establish a precedent for subsequent projects.

Major Incentive Recipients (or Prospective Recipients) 

• A two-time recipient organization reported that the initial round was administratively confusing and that
the City was quite tentative due to the “newness” of the policy. The second round proceeded with less
confusion; the process was better understood and the interviewee commented that the City seemed
highly invested as a result of helping bring the first project to fruition.

• Interviewees noted that City exhibited high levels of willingness to “make things work” in regards to
their housing projects.

• Several interviewees explained how relatively low property values and higher construction costs seriously
undermine the financial viability of larger-scale projects in Dawson City. As an example, the construction
budget for one project was $1.5-million dollars, resulting in a building asset valued at $1.3-million
dollars. They felt that the perception of some that people are “getting rich” off of development in
Dawson is distorted and uninformed.

• As with the other levels of incentive, recipients reported that maximizing the matching contribution of
YHC funding was critical to project viability. In the case of two developments, the value of the
anticipated tax grants was simply too low to trigger the maximum YHC matching limit ($500,000) and
some creativity was required to raise the value of the City’s contributions.

• Several interviewees felt that the stipulation of a “Downtown” location is too restrictive due to there
being relatively few larger parcels available in the area not owned by government.

• The two-time recipient noted that the initial project has been highly successful. There has been only
minor tenant turn-over, a waitlist of 15 individuals is maintained, and tenants seem generally satisfied
with their housing situation.

• One interviewee noted that the incentive application process requires clarification by the City. They felt
that the administrative process is very loosely defined in the policy and could benefit from an intake
application and more defined review and approval process. The organization has been contracted by
another organization to help it navigate the development of 8 units via the Major Incentive and YHC
programs. It is also regularly contacted by local residents interested in building secondary suites.

• One recipient noted that the jump from $50,000 to $500,000 places the development of 6-plexes at a
distinct disadvantage. On the basis of one recipient’s experience, a 6-plex is the maximum size of
building that can be realistically accommodated on one standard city lot while leaving sufficient space
for parking; as such, this specific development size/density should be better positioned to succeed in a
land-constrained Dawson.

• Recipients suggested that other incentives could target the redevelopment of vacant land, placing
special emphasis on the adaptive reuse of heritage cabins for rental accommodation, targeting highly
expensive larger heritage building renovations/conversions, and promoting the use of vacant properties
as public amenity spaces. Other suggestions simply related to the City working with other governments
to target specific parcels for strategic development.
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• Providing sufficient on-site parking has posed some challenges and one interviewee indicated that the
City has been unwilling to show flexibility around this requirement. Another interviewee suggested that
an incentive be provided to convert vacant land to parking to assist new development.

• It was noted that phasing larger projects is not uncommon in Dawson with the limited labour force and
weather/winter contingencies. Allowing for longer terms (i.e. more than 12 months) for project
completion would be more reflective of typical Dawson construction realities.

• Tying the development incentive to the issuance of a development permit can pose challenges for
applicants working to meet other funding program deadlines, according to one recipient. For example,
an eligible design project still working through the design phase (and hence without a development
permit) may have an impending deadline for funding contingent on the City of Dawson’s. Having the
development incentive agreed to in a ‘subject to’ manner is seen as being “incredibly helpful”.

• One interviewee reported that a rough capital breakdown of 40% mortgage and 60% grants makes a
multi-unit residential project viable accounting for affordable rents, construction costs, and ongoing
maintenance and operating costs (building management, maintenance, utilities, snow removal, etc.) The
tax grant effectively eases the pressure of operations and maintenance for the first ten years and allows
for the housing provider to achieve a more stable fiscal position as larger maintenance and replacement
expenses are incurred during the second decade of building life.

• One interviewee suggested that a different consideration be employed for non-profit entities as they
may have a different objective versus a private developer and by virtue of legislation have to be fully
transparent about their finances.

• One interviewee felt that a strategic yet challenging source of developable land for housing projects is
public land located in the Downtown. Ideally, there would be an allowance for an incentive to benefit a
third party leasing Crown or federal land to build rental housing that could work with the policy
provisions around fellow governments being ineligible.

• One interviewee cautioned against policies with “unintended consequences” for the entire private
sector in Dawson City. Incentives should be widely available; for example, instead of a “first come, first
serve” approach, the policy should have set intake dates and pro-rate available funding across projects if
oversubscribed. Mixed-use incentives need to be applied carefully so that new commercial activity does
not compete with existing businesses that did not benefit from the incentives. Applying the incentive to
the residential portion only could help keep the playing field “level” for the business community.

• One interviewee reported that obtaining bank financing in Dawson is very difficult and that it can be
prohibitively expensive to complete the environmental due diligence work (i.e. environmental site
assessments) required by banks. The City could assist by coordinating such work across multiple
properties and creating an economy of scale for everyone involved.

Other Stakeholder Interviews 

• One interviewee indicated a strong interest in having geographic eligibility for projects extended to
facilitate development on suitable fee simple Settlement Land parcels that have access to municipal
servicing. The geographic eligibility limitation of Downtown is unnecessarily limiting.

• One interviewee suggested that the City should be promoting alternative homeownership developments
– such as tiny and cluster housing - that make efficient use of land.
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• One interviewee raised concerns about the cost and fairness to Dawson taxpayers. He commented that
businesses already face “astronomical” taxes in Dawson and can’t afford more. He felt that the City
needs to prove that it is not harming the taxpayer through incentives before expanding further, and
Dawson has to remain competitive.

• One interviewee felt that business loan programs may be a more appropriate vehicle to support
redevelopment and recirculate tax dollars in a manner that benefits the community and reduces
exposure to Dawson taxpayers as a whole. The benefits of using municipal tax dollars should be
distributed across the entire taxpayer base.

• One organization commented that housing is critical to it’s ability to attract and retain workers and felt
that the benefits of tax incentives highly outweigh the risks. The City is contributing to a viable business
community through the incentives program.

2.3 Phase 1 Survey Results 

A total of 35 responses were received for the online survey distributed in Phase 1. The complete results are 
included in Appendix A. The following section includes a high-level summary by key topic only.  

• Respondent Profile:  Almost 2/3 of respondents were long-time (16 years or more) residents of Dawson
City. Almost 1/3 own businesses and ¼ have built their own home or secondary suite. Only 2
respondents had actually received an incentive under the policy.

• Awareness:  A majority (66%) of respondents indicated being “somewhat” or “very” aware of the policy
prior to the survey.

• Policy Effectiveness: Almost 69% of respondents felt that the policy had helped to increase the supply
of rental housing in Dawson. The remainder of responses were either neutral or “don’t know” versus
disagreement.

• Housing Need:  100% of respondents felt that the availability of rental housing has a significant impact
on the appeal of Dawson City as a place to live, work, and do business. 79% feel that Dawson is still
experiencing a serious shortage of rental housing.

• Agreement with Policy Rationale:  69% of respondents felt that it is appropriate for the City to
intervene to make rental housing development more affordable Just over half (52%) agreed that costs of
construction are too high for affordable rents to happen without government support, while a high
percentage (38%) indicated either neutrality or uncertainty on that point.

• Level of Support for Incentives:  A healthy majority (76%) of survey respondents indicated support for
the continuation of the Minor Incentive as currently administered, with somewhat softer support (71%)
and more opposition (25%) expressed for the Standard Incentive. Slightly less than half of respondents
(48%) indicated support for continuing the Major Incentive, while 30% opposed it.

Concerns raised included the ability of the City to provide services for the new development during the
incentive period without burdening other taxpayers, and the incentive paying “for other people to get
richer”. One respondent suggested that further research is required to determine if this level of incentive
is still warranted given the large number of housing projects recently (or due to be) completed.
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• Other Areas for Incentives:  When asked to pick the “Top 3” aspects of development the City should
continue to or begin to address through incentives, 50% of respondents chose rental housing and
heritage building adaptive reuse, slightly less (46%) chose affordable homeownership, and 43% chose
energy efficiency. Only 7% indicated no support for the City using incentives.

• Comments, Ideas, and Suggestions:  Respondents provided a range of comments covering
everything from the need for new developments to have onsite parking and disincentives for vacant and
derelict buildings to support for increased incentives and the suggestion to increase the incentives for
secondary suites moving forward.

2.4 Phase 2 “Lunch n’ Learn” Results 

Three stakeholders attended the “lunch n’ learn” on July 4 in Council chambers to share their feedback. All three 
are recipients of the incentive; however, only one has actually initiated (and completed) their project. The draft 
policy was reviewed and key feedback themes included:  

• Revised policy is an improvement:  Stakeholders generally felt that the revised policy improved upon
the existing one. The improved flexibility that expanded eligibility (geographic location, non-contiguous
parcels, government land leases, removal of project funding caps, etc.) appeared to adequately satisfy
some of the concerns previously raised.

• Homeownership a key gap:  One stakeholder felt that homeownership continues to be a significant
gap in the policy and, as such, the policy ignores the interests of underhoused individuals who want to
permanently invest in Dawson. It was mentioned that the private sector is likely to have less interest in
becoming long-term landlords with rental buildings but could be motivated to pursue some innovative
homeownership-oriented projects. “Rent-to-own” developments could be a strategic way to address the
needs (and income) of Millennials in Dawson in particular.

Another participant noted that building multi-unit developments indirectly assists on the homeownership
front by allowing individuals who are over-housed (i.e. seniors, etc.) to downsize, freeing up single family
dwellings.

• Secondary suites:  Stakeholders had mixed feelings about the high priority placed on secondary suites.
One commented that suites are an inefficient way to address critical housing needs in a short timeframe.
Another noted that building costs are so high that unless a homeowner can build on their own, the
economics remain challenging (even with the expanded incentives). On the positive side, secondary
suites were felt to be a good fit for multi-generational families in Dawson. It was noted that the doubling
of water/sewer charges for properties with a suite is a likely factor in the relatively low number of suites
being built.

• Overall cap on incentives:  There was a fairly neutral response to the proposed $100,000 cap on
incentives and question as to whether it was necessary.

• Streamlining and facilitation of application and reporting:  There was support for the proposed
standard incentives application form and a request for a standard template for annual reporting.
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• Indirectly related but important issues:  A number of comments were shared by stakeholders on
matters that do not directly pertain to the policy itself but are concerned more broadly with
development:

o The City needs to advocate for Yukon Housing Corporation to revise its Municipal Matching
Rental Construction Program funding structure to reflect the higher costs and lower taxes of rural
Yukon communities. A 2:1 funding ratio (versus 1:1) or the removal of caps altogether would
greatly assist.

o High water and sewer changes and taxation rates are disincentives to development in Dawson
and should be reconsidered by Council.

2.5 Phase 2 Survey Results 

A total of 18 responses were received for the online survey distributed in Phase 2. The complete results are 
included in Appendix F. The following section includes a high-level summary by key topic only.  

• Respondent Profile:  Many respondents were business owners and long-time Dawson residents.
Interestingly, only 75% had participated in the previous survey.

• Mixed reaction to Council priorities:  While participants overwhelming agreed with Council’s
decision to continue incentives, there are varying levels of agreement about what types of development
should receive them. There was strongest agreement with addressing vacant/derelict properties,
moderate agreement with prioritizing affordable rentals over market, and strongest disagreement with
not providing homeownership-related incentives and discontinuing eligibility for commercial portions of
mixed-use development.

• Support for proposed incentives:  All of the proposed incentives received strong levels of support
from respondents, with the secondary suites and vacant/derelict properties receiving the most support.

• Support for more flexible eligibility provisions:  Most of the proposed eligibility revisions received
support from respondents. Allowing First Nation development corporations to receive incentives
generated the most opposition, although still 50% supported the idea.

• Support for a funding cap:  A majority of respondents (58%) supported the proposed incentives cap
of $100,000; however, 25% strongly opposed the idea. Comments indicate that some felt that the
threshold is too high.
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3.0 Strategic Considerations for Expanded Dawson Incentives

As part of the review of the Development Incentives Policy, City Council and administration wished to consider 
the matter of whether additional incentives should be considered for inclusion in an updated policy. Groundswell 
approached the matter from a slightly different angle, asking which development issues and/or opportunities 
warrant an incentive in the first place.  

With limited administrative and fiscal capacity at the City, Groundswell initially suggested that incentives may be 
best limited to addressing issues and/or opportunities that meet most (if not all) of the following criteria:  

o The incentive helps to address a significant inherent disadvantage of Dawson, as compared to other
Yukon communities, as a place to live, work, and do business;

o Few to no other incentives are available and/or sufficient to help address the issue;

o The issue is a priority for local residents;

o The incentive addresses complex, persistent or seemingly intractable issues that are unlikely to
resolve within the short-to-medium term without some form of intervention;

o The incentive directly supports the fulfillment of the guidance and priorities outlined in the Official
Community Plan;

o The direct benefit to recipients from an incentive is matched and/or exceeded by the indirect benefits
provided to the community as a whole;

o The incentive has minimal potential to negatively impact the interests of local residents, community
groups, and/or other governments; and

o Incentives will help developers lever other project capital and/or the incentivized project is likely to
act as a catalyst for other development beneficial to the community.

Utilizing some of the key highlights of the OCP and survey results as guidance, Groundswell developed a 
rudimentary matrix to help evaluate the performance of previously identified development issues and 
opportunities in the community – or at least those for which a financial incentive from the City could potentially 
effect change – in achieving those criteria. The results – cursory as they are – suggest that housing availability 
and affordability, heritage building adaptive reuse, and vacant/underutilized land are the development issues 
that best satisfy the majority of, it not all, criteria. Please refer to the following page.  

This cursory evaluation is intended primarily to help frame Council thinking and priorities and Groundswell 
welcomes further elaboration and interpretation of it. For the purposes of the cross-jurisdictional research, it 
served to pinpoint which development aspects to “dig deeper” into. These four issues are given further 
consideration in the following section.  
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Issue/ 
Opportunity 

Address 
Dawson 

weakness 

Few/no 
other 

incentives 

Local 
priority 

Fulfill 
OCP 

Shared 
benefits 

Complex Low 
negative 
impact 

Catalyst 
potential 

Housing 
availability 

x x x x x x x x 

Housing 
affordability 

x x x x x x x x 

Energy 
efficiency 

? x x x 

Downtown 
vitality 

x x x x x x 

Economic 
development 

x x x x x 

Heritage 
adaptive 
reuse 

x x x x x x x x 

Conformance 
with Heritage 
Guidelines 

x x ? x x x x 

Vacant/under 
utilized land 

x x x x x x x x 
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4.0 Cross-Jurisdictional Review of Incentives 

To inform Council and administration’s thinking about revisions to and potential new incentive areas for 
Dawson’s DIP, an Internet-based review of policies and programs was conducted with two primary lines of 
enquiry:  

• Policies and/or programs administered in similar-sized jurisdictions with potential relevance to Dawson
City; and,

• Policies and/or programs geared towards addressing the priority Dawson development
issues/opportunities identified in the previous section in both similar-sized and larger jurisdictions.

The following section summarizes the key findings from the review. 

4.1 Similar Policies in Small and Large Municipalities 

An online search of municipal development incentives for the construction of secondary suites and multiple unit 
residential buildings in similar-sized Canadian jurisdictions yielded fairly minimal results. It would appear that 
very few (if any) municipalities of Dawson’s size are administering policies or incentives with the same objective. 
What the jurisdictional scan did indicate was that the smaller municipalities that do have incentive programs are 
typically promoting different objectives – typically economic revitalization and repopulation.  

Due to the low number of results, Groundswell expanded its review to relevant policies and programs in medium 
and larger municipalities. Even this expanded search found that larger municipalities typically target tax 
incentives specifically towards affordable housing. Similar to Dawson’s policy, most programs identified utilized 
an exemption or rebate in the amount of the taxable amount of assessable improvements from new 
development or redevelopment. The amount taxable on the land is almost always exempt. A few larger 
municipalities offer both tax incentives and cash grants for specific types of development in priority areas.  

Policies and programs with similar and/or relevant objectives to Dawson’s DIP from both small and larger 
municipalities are presented in Tables 1 and 2.  

4.2 City of Whitehorse – Lessons Learned 

The City of Whitehorse’s policy is virtually identical to Dawson City’s, the primary difference being the number of 
residential units required to receive an incentive. As such, a review of the Whitehorse DIP and City 
administration’s successes and challenges with it to date was considered as pertinent, if not more so, than what 
is happening in small-sized jurisdictions outside of the territory.  

The City is currently reviewing its policy (as well as Development Cost Charge regime) to ensure it remains 
relevant to Council priorities and Whitehorse’s development context. The policy has been highly successful in 
the view of administration and Council, with 169 projects completed or in process since its adoption in 2011, 
broken down as follows:  
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Table 1. Similar Programs/Policies in Other Small Municipalities 

Community Population 
(2016) 

Program/Policy Eligibility Details Noteworthy Practice 

Town of 
Oliver, BC	

4928	 Revitalization 
Tax Exemption 
Program (RTEP) 

Oliver’s RTEP has two relevant components: the 
Downtown Core Commercial Revitalization and 
Core Area Residential Revitalization programs.  

The Downtown Core program applies to new 
commercial construction or expansion of 
existing buildings, including construction of 
residential dwelling units above the ground 
floor.  

The Core Area program applies to construction 
of not less than four units and not less than two 
stories high.  

10 years of tax exemptions are 
granted as follows: 
• Downtown Core - Year 1

exemption is set at 100%, followed 
by a graduated reduction of 20% 
in Years 6-9, and a final 10% 
reduction in Year 10. 

• Core Area - exemption of 100% is
granted in Years 1-5, value of 
improvements and 35% of land 
value are then reduced by 20% 
and 5% respectively in Years 6-9, 
and then 10% and 5% in Year 10. 

The policy applies to 
strata developments 
(both restricted and 
non), whereas most 
policies tend to 
exclude them. In 
most incentive 
programs, the land 
value portion of the 
assessment is also 
usually ineligible.	

Municipality 
of Jasper, 
AB 

4590 Caribou Creek 
Loan Guarantee 
Bylaw 

The municipality passed a bylaw in 2012 to guarantee the mortgage for a housing 
project being developed by Caribou Creek Non-Profit Housing Ltd. The bylaw 
guaranteed the indebtedness of the non-profit to a credit union, with a ceiling of 30% 
of the financing of the development.  

High degree of 
administrative and 
legislative due 
diligence in dealing 
with exceptional 
circumstances	

City of 
Meadow 
Lake, SK 

5244 Infill Housing 
Incentive 

New and infill development in established 
residential neighbourhoods 

A rebate is issued in the amount of 
the municipal tax and school tax 
based on residential assessment on 
improvements, and base tax on 
improvements in the following 
amounts: 100% of levy in 1st year, 
75% in second year, 50% in third 
year. 

Town of 
Ladysmith, 
BC 

8537	 DCC Reduction 
for Downtown 
Specified Area 
Bylaw	

Any type of development occurring within the 
Downtown Specified Area	

The bylaw allows for a waiver of 
applicable development charges 
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Table 2. Similar Policies/Programs from Medium to Large Municipalities 
Community Population 

(2016) 
Program/Policy Eligibility Details Noteworthy Practice 

District of 
North 
Cowichan, 
BC 

28,807	 Revitalization 
Program Bylaw 

Residential developments with a minimum 
density of 100 dwelling units/ha, mixed-use 
development with a minimum density of 100 
dwellings units/ha, or supportive housing. 
The waiver applies to all lands zoned for 
industrial uses (with a few minor exceptions). 

Waiver of Development Cost Charges Uses density versus 
number of units to 
establish eligibility. 
Conversion of 
underutilized 
industrial lands. 

City of 
Kelowna 

127,380	 Rental Housing 
Incentives 
Programs	

The Rental Housing Grants program applies 
to developers of purpose-built rental housing 
with 5 or more units at the time of building 
permit issuance. Rental Housing Tax 
Exemptions are applicable to purpose-built 
rental housing of 5 or more units anywhere in 
the city but only when the vacancy rate is at 
or below 3%.  

Grant of up to $8000 for 3+ bedroom 
units, $4000 for 2-bedroom units, and 
$2000 for bachelor or 1-bedroom 
units. The tax exemption applies to 
100% of the value of improvements for 
a period of 10 years. 

Program includes a 
linkage to market 
conditions to help 
avoid overbuilds and 
ensure prudent use 
of municipal funds.	

City of 
Regina 

215,106 Housing 
Incentives 
Policy 

Full range of new market rental and 
homeownership housing units in specific 
areas of the municipality 

• Tax exemption varying from 5 years
at 25% of value of improvements (for 
garden and secondary suites) to 5 
years at 100% for affordable housing 

• Affordable rental and
homeownership projects eligible for 
a capital grant of up to $25/$15K. 

Allows for “stacking” 
of incentive and grant 
for preferred or high 
priority projects and 
utilizes a Score Card 
to assess the grant 
provided.  

City of 
Saskatoon, 
SK 

246,376	 New Rental 
Construction 
Land Cost 
Rebate 
Program, 
Secondary 
Suites Program	

The rebate program applies to the 
construction of new market rentals. Units 
must remain on the rental market for 15 
years.  

The Secondary Suites program applies to 
illegal, substandard suites.  

• Up to $5000 rebate per new unit in
capital grants and a five-year 
incremental property tax abatement 
on improvements 

• 25% rebate on permit required to
legalize an existing suite and a 100% 
rebate on building and plumbing 
permits 

Stacking of both tax 
abatement and 
rebate; eligibility of 
existing substandard 
housing.  

City of 
Edmonton 

932,546	 Multi-Unit 
Mixed-Use or 
Residential 
Development 

Mixed-use, market housing project 
predominantly located above ground floor 
retail or commercial uses and multi-unit 
market housing projects with no commercial 
component  

• Grant of $12,000 per new dwelling
for mixed-use	

• Grant of $7000 per new dwelling for
no commercial component	
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Incentive 
Level 

# of Incentives Resulting Housing Units/Types 

Minor 145 145 secondary and/or garden suites 
Standard 12 55 residential units 
Major 11  21 supportive housing, 172 rental, 50 residential units 

 
 
The City planner leading the review feels that the policy needs to become more sophisticated to reflect the 
increasingly complex housing market and community it applies to. The original policy was essentially geared 
towards development of the Downtown area. Moving forward, housing and particularly affordable housing, 
versus mixed-use development, will be the focus. In the past few years, Council has questioned the 
appropriateness of incentives for larger private (and sometimes upscale) condominium developments for which 
there is a reasonable business case without incentives. The updated policy is likely to focus specifically on 
supportive and rental housing and increasing density in targeted areas.  
 
The grants in the amount of Development Cost Charges (DCCs) applicable to Minor Incentives will also be 
revamped moving forward. The DCC grant was implemented as opposed to a tax grant because YG Property 
Assessment and Taxation apparently does not adequately reflect the value of improvements on secondary 
suites2. Currently, DCCs and taxes pertinent to incentives are collected into general revenues and the City has to 
budget out for both; changes in construction plans can create discrepancies between budgeted and actual 
amounts. Administering the DCC and tax grants requires about two weeks of City planning staff time annually, in 
addition to the time required from finance staff. 
 
The preferred (and recommended) approach is to avoid tax grants altogether except for rental and supportive 
housing. Administration is recommending that DCCs for both be set to zero and tax grants be administered in 
addition. Technically, any development for which zero DCCs may apply will still be required to submit an 
application and will in principle “receive” an incentive; however, the administrative burden will be much less.  
 
Other anticipated changes include clarifying that eligibility extends to First Nation development corporations to 
ensure consistency with the policy’s practical application to date. The City administratively closed a loophole last 
year by including a provision in development agreements to bar recipients of incentives to utilize their rental 
units for short-term rental (STR) purposes.   
 
As the policy is currently written, the incentive applies to multi-residential ownership developments. Some 
creativity has been required to process one recent ownership-oriented multi-unit residential project in 
Whitehorse. The 10-year tax incentive is being provided to the original developer, even though it is selling most 
units and will ultimately have minimal ownership interest. So long as the unit owners pay their property taxes, the 
taxable amount on the improvement (i.e. the unit) will be granted back to the developer for the 10-year period. 
The assumption is that the developer will pass on the savings to purchasers. The argument the developer makes 
is that passing on the incentive to purchasers over the 10 years would force it to raise the purchase price 

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
2 According to the Yukon Property Assessment and Taxation Branch, the construction of a rental suite could have varying impacts on the 
assessed value of a property. A secondary suite that doesn’t increase the living area of a dwelling may have a negligible impact unless it 
involves a new kitchen/bathroom. A separate garden suite is very likely to result in an increased property value. In actual practice, three 
Dawson property owners who developed rental suites under the incentive program had assessment value increases ranging from $5020-
$12,400 (equating to approximately $78 to $193 in taxes).  
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substantially. This higher purchase price would potentially create a gap between appraised value and price that 
would make obtaining a mortgage problematic.  

Home ownership incentives of this nature are rare overall, but one similar program found in Regina requires the 
developer to transfer the incentive to the new unit owner.  

4.3 Small Municipality Incentives - Miscellaneous 

To help Council and City administration understand what types of other incentives small municipalities are 
administering, Groundswell compiled an assortment of more relevant, fulsome examples from communities in 
British Columbia. The examples identified highlight the fact that municipalities can incentivize any range of 
priority policy or development issues, relative to their financial and administrative capacity to do. For the most 
part, the incentives programs identified focus on economic and Downtown revitalization through Revitalization 
Tax Exemption Programs (RTEPs), which are enabled by the Community Charter in BC.  

An assortment of potentially relevant incentives policies and programs offered by small municipalities in British 
Columbia, Alberta, and Saskatchewan are presented in Table 3.  

4.4 Housing Affordability Incentives & Approaches 

Traditionally the domain of provincial and federal governments, affordable housing has become a major focus 
for municipal planning policy and incentives over the past few decades. Local governments have various policy, 
planning, and financial tools to create or help create affordable housing units. Generally speaking, they can use 
tax and spending powers to subsidize the creation of units. They can leverage their planning and regulatory 
approval powers to encourage private sector participants to build affordable units as part of market housing 
development projects. In some cases, they can also elect to provide direct financial contributions.  

Planning and zoning tools are probably the most common municipal approach to promoting affordable housing. 
Reducing setbacks, allowing smaller lot sizes, supportive zoning for secondary units, garden suites, mixed-use 
and multi-residential buildings, and waiving off-street parking requirements are all common measures taken to 
encourage higher densities and lower the cost of housing. Two specific approaches – density bonusing and 
inclusionary zoning – directly link zoning permission and development approval to the actual creation of housing 
(please see examples below).  

Where financial tools are utilized by smaller municipalities, they are typically limited to the waiver or reduction of 
development-related costs and the use of tax incentives. Only one example of a tax incentive was identified, and 
direct cash/municipal reserved funded approaches – such as loans to homeowners - appear to be similarly rare.  

Please refer to Table 4 for an overview of housing incentives and related policy/planning approaches from small 
to large jurisdictions in British Columbia, Alberta, and Saskatchewan.  

4.5 Heritage Protection and Adaptive Reuse Incentives 

Research suggests that the “Top 5” most significant factors discouraging heritage property development are low 
Return on Investment (ROI), limits on development potential, complexity of Building Code compliance, fear of 
unknowns, and delayed ROI (National Trust for Canada, 2014). Conversely, the top priorities for encouraging
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Table 3. Miscellaneous Incentives Programs/Policies in Small Municipalities 
Community Population 

(2016) 
Program Eligibility Details Noteworthy Practice 

Keremeos, 
BC 

1502 Business 
Façade 
Improvement 

Commercial and retail buildings in the 
Downtown  

50% reimbursement grant up to a 
maximum of $2000 per 
building/project 

Tumbler 
Ridge, BC 

1987 Revitalization 
Tax Exemption 
Program 

New construction (min. $100,000 value) and 
upgrades (min. $25,000 value) in the town’s 
commercial and industrial zones including 
improvements that are accessible to persons 
with disabilities and contribute to 
environmental sustainability and carbon 
neutrality 

Four levels of tax incentives: 
• Basic – Year 1 – 100%, Year 2- 50%
• Accessible – Year 1 – 100%, Years 2-

4 – 75%/50%/25% 
• Green – Same as Accessible
• All – Years 1/2 – 100%, Years 3-5 –

75%/50%/25 

“Stacking” feature 
that promotes the 
achievement of 
multiple 
development 
objectives	

City of 
Rossland, BC 

3729 Revitalization 
Tax Exemption 
Program 

Commercial, recreational, or industrial 
development/redevelopment (both min. 
$10,000 value) that meets a minimum of two 
of six objectives:  
• Economic development
• Heritage property conservation
• Green building technology
• Water or energy conservation
• Improved aesthetics and/or amenities

Maximum term of 5 years. 100% 
exemption in Year 1 and graduated in 
Years 2-5 to reduce by 20% until full 
assessment is reached in Year 6 

Promotes the 
achievement of 
multiple growth and 
sustainability 
objectives while 
allowing for flexibility 
for individual 
property owners 	

Sparwood, 
BC 

3784 Revitalization 
Tax Exemption 
Program 

Two specific addresses, all hotel/motel 
development, and/or new construction or 
significant renovation of commercial buildings 
within a designated revitalization area  

Tax exemptions range from $100,000 
to the total value of improvements and 
may be granted for a period from 
three (3) to seven (7) years 

Municipality 
of Jasper, 
AB 

4590	 Off-Site Levy 
Reduction 

New development achieving high standards 
of environmental and energy performance 

50-90% reduction depending on level
of LEED, Built Green, Energuide, and 
R-2000 standards achieved

City of 
Meadow 
Lake, SK 

5244 Exterior 
Improvements 
and 
Commercial 
Tax Incentives 
Programs 

• Projects that improve the image and
attractiveness of the city and use of local 
labour and materials 

• Commercial and industrial projects in the
downtown revitalization area 

• Rebate of $50 per $1000 of
construction value up to a maximum 
grant of $1000 

• 5-year rebate starting at 100% in
Year 1 and decreasing in 25% 
increments until full taxation is 
reached in Year 6 
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Table 4. Affordable Housing Programs/Policies in Other Municipalities 
Community Population 

(2016) 
Program/Policy Eligibility Details 

Ucluelet, BC 1717	 Official 
Community Plan - 
Various	

OCP sets out a number of provisions aimed at making housing more affordable, including: 
• A requirement for 15-20% of new multi-family developments to be affordable.
• Encouragement for developers to set aside 15-20% of all units for employees of new developments.
• Density bonusing in medium/high density zones (i.e. increase of 20 units/ha where 30% of units are

affordable) 
Tofino, BC 1932 Affordable 

Housing Reserve, 
Land Banking, 
Community 
Housing	

The Tofino Housing Corporation (established by the District) is working with a non-profit partner to build 
units using its Affordable Housing Reserve and revenues from the Municipal and Regional District Tax. This is 
an example of a very small municipality establishing an Affordable Housing Reserve Fund (ARHF). ARHFs are 
common in larger municipalities throughout BC. Some municipalities contribute to them via municipal 
general revenues while others utilize density bonusing programs to secure major funds from developers. 

Town of 
Osoyoos, BC 

5085 Near-Market 
Affordable 
Housing Program 

NMAH operates in designated areas of Osoyoos to deliver lower cost affordable homes at a discount below 
comparable market housing to qualified applicants. Developers build and help subsidize a required share of 
modestly priced affordable homes in their residential projects as a condition of zoning approval, and sell 
them to approved program recipients registered on a waiting list by the Town’s Affordable Housing 
Authority (AHA). Each home stays in the Town’s Affordable Housing Pool for a 15-year term and can only be 
resold by the homeowner at a maximum fixed price equal to the original purchase price, plus an annualized 
rate of interest aligned with BC Based Consumption Price Index. 

City of 
Parksville, BC 

12,514	 Development 
Cost Charge 
Waiver Bylaw	

The bylaw allows for the 100% reduction of DCCs payable for affordable rental housing, including 
supportive living housing	

Town of 
Canmore, AB 

13,992 Perpetually 
Affordable 
Housing (PAH) 
Policy 

The PAH contribution policy applies to residential, business and development sectors. Typically 
development requires the inclusion of PAH units that become the property of the Canmore Community 
Housing Corporation (CCHC). The homes are offered as leasehold tenures and restrictions are placed on 
maximum resale price and the CCHC holds a Restrictive Covenant and Option Agreement on title.  

City of 
Penticton, BC 

37,035 Development 
Cost Charge 
Reduction Bylaw	

The bylaw allows for the 100% reduction of DCCs payable for affordable rental housing, including 
supportive living housing, or a 50% reduction for projects that achieve a high score on the City’s 
Sustainability Checklist 

City of 
Saskatoon, SK 

246,376 Mortgage 
Flexibilities 
Support Program 

The program was created by the City, Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) and the 
Saskatchewan Housing Corporation (SHC) to increase affordable homeownership opportunities. With a 5% 
down payment grant from the City and mortgage loan insurance from CMHC, qualified homebuyers (i.e. 
who meet maximum income thresholds) have the means to finance the purchase of affordable units brought 
to market by private homebuilders leading “designated” projects. Developers contribute 3% of the down 
payment and the City contributes 2%.  
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heritage development include ongoing property tax relief, income tax credits, heritage grants, and property tax 
abatement (Ibid).  

Key criteria for determining the effectiveness of a heritage incentive is working include the degree of annual 
uptake, encouragement of conservation work that may not have otherwise happened, adherence to accepted 
heritage conservation principles, and achievement of measurable heritage conservation outcomes (Jeanes, 
2014). Not surprisingly, municipal heritage-related programs and policies appear to be more common in eastern 
Canada than other parts of the country. Ontario in particular has a wealth of heritage incentive programs, most (if 
not all) of which draw from three primary mechanisms, as reported by the Ministry of Heritage (Ibid): 

1) Grants and loans (48 programs in 36 municipalities as of 2014);
2) Heritage property tax relief ($3.3M of relief in 2012 and 40 municipalities); and
3) Community Improvement Plan incentives (which overlap with Heritage Conservation Districts)

Please refer to Table 5 for an overview of heritage protection and adaptive reuse incentives from small to large 
jurisdictions in British Columbia, Ontario, and Nova Scotia.  

4.6 Vacant and/or Derelict Property Incentives 

An online review of Canadian municipal solutions to the issue of vacant and/or derelict properties yielded very 
little of potential application to Dawson. Many medium to large municipalities have specific brownfield 
development incentives but the issue of more generic vacant land development is typically addressed indirectly 
through broader revitalization tax incentives.  

Municipal vacant building bylaws are common in larger cities throughout Canada but these are primarily 
concerned with issues of public safety versus neighbourhood vitality. Winnipeg’s Vacant and Derelict Buildings 
Bylaw allows the City to take possession of a derelict building with no compensation to the owner. This approach 
appears to be unusual; in fact, many Ontario properties are eligible for a provincial rebate if they have 
commercial and/or industrial buildings that have been vacant for a consecutive minimum number of months.   

With the exception of the City of Vancouver, it would seem there is little to no municipal precedent for a “stick”-
oriented taxation tool to addressing vacant properties in Canada. The online scan found no other municipalities 
that charged similar taxes.  

Two potentially useful examples of taxation-related approaches to addressing vacant land are presented in Table 
6.
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Table 5. Heritage Incentive Programs/Policies in Other Municipalities 

Community Population 
(2016) 

Program/Policy Eligibility Details 

Town of 
Cobourg, ON 

19,440	 Heritage 
Programs 
(Various) 

The Town of Cobourg administers a number of different heritage-oriented programs, including: 
• Permit Fee Program – waives building and planning fees for projects in the Core Heritage Conservation

District and allows for a 50% waiver elsewhere; 
• Heritage Loan Program – loan of up to $15,000 per project available to support exterior restoration of

Ontario Heritage Act designated properties; 
• Heritage Tax Incentive Program – available only to projects in the Core Heritage Conservation District;

provides a 10-year grant equal to annual increase in the town portion of property taxes; and 
• Development Charges Credit on Existing Buildings Program – credits are made available to offset

applicable development charges where a redevelopment project utilizes an existing building 

East Hants, 
NS 

23,000	 Heritage 
Property 
Incentive 
Program	

The program assists municipally registered heritage properties not used exclusively for commercial purposes 
(unless owned by a non-profit society). The cash grant covers 50% of eligible repairs or renovations to the 
building exterior (or structural upgrades) up to a maximum of $2000 per property. Architectural, engineering, 
and other consulting fees are eligible for funding. 

City of 
Victoria 

85,792	 Tax Incentive 
Program 

The City of Victoria first enacted the Tax Incentive Program (formerly the Downtown Heritage Tax Incentive 
Program) in the late 1990s. Formerly restricted to the Downtown area, the revamped program is available to 
all private property owners of eligible heritage designated commercial, industrial and institutional city-wide. 

The program applies to the seismic upgrading costs specific to the conversion of existing space to residential 
uses or for the rehabilitation of heritage designated buildings for uses other than residential. Both professional 
design and engineering services as well as construction work is eligible. 

The term of the incentive is based on the cost of seismic upgrades and current taxation, with no upper limit. 
For example, a $200,000 seismic upgrade on a property (currently) taxed at $20,000/year would be eligible 
for 10 years of a 100% exemption on the assessable improvements. 
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Table 6. Vacancy-Related Programs/Policies in Other Municipalities 

Community Population 
(2016) 

Program/Policy Eligibility Details 

City of 
Saskatoon, SK 

246,376	 Vacant Lot and 
Adaptive Reuse 
Incentive 
Program 

The original VLAR program was designed to encourage development on existing vacant or brownfield sites, 
and the reuse of vacant buildings in specific areas of the city by providing financial and/or tax based 
incentives to owners of eligible properties. A Maximum Incentive Amount is equivalent to the increment 
between the existing property taxes (city portion) and the taxes paid upon completion, multiplied by five 
years. 

The amount of the final grant is determined through an evaluation system, based on points linked to policy 
objectives identified in the City's Official Community Plan. The points are used to determine what percentage 
of the total Maximum Incentive Amount may be available to the applicant. Under the Program, applicants are 
given a choice of a 5-year tax abatement, or a grant. 

In 2016, a policy amendment allowed for gardening on vacant lots as an interim use to promote urban 
agriculture as well as address the aesthetic and safety issues of vacant lots. The establishment of a garden on 
a vacant lot does not affect the opportunity for future incentives under the VLAR Program when the lot 
becomes developed. To earn the incentive, applicants must convert a minimum of 50% or 100 m2 of a vacant 
lot, whichever is smaller, into a garden and maintain the site in a safe and orderly manner. All noxious weeds 
must be controlled, and the garden must not generate odour, dust, drainage impacts, or noise that may 
impact neighbouring properties or the right of way. 

The garden-specific incentive is an annual grant for the property owner equal to 50% of municipal land tax, for 
up to five years. A written agreement is required between the property owner and gardener(s) if they are not 
one and the same to indicate that there is an arrangement in place to permit a garden to operate on the 
vacant lot. 

The policy was amended again in 2017 to include all new residential or office developments (without a 
vacancy requirement) and encourage heritage building protection by specifying such sites only be eligible for 
adaptive reuse (again without a minimum vacancy requirement or change of use). 

City of 
Vancouver, 
BC 

603,500 Empty Homes 
Tax	

The City of Vancouver Empty Homes Tax charges 1% of the assessable taxable value to homes deemed 
empty. Property owners in certain areas are required to sign and submit a formal declaration on an annual 
basis verifying the property is occupied. 
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5.0 Preliminary Conclusions and Recommendations: DIP 

The following section reflects the conclusions and recommendations submitted by Groundswell to Council and 
administration during Phase 1 and 2 work. Council responses to some of these points are reflected in the record 
of Council minutes contained in Appendix G.  

5.1 Key Issues and Considerations 

City Administrative Capacity 

Administrative capacity must be kept “top of mind” in considering potential revisions and expansions to the 
policy. Record keeping for the DIP in its early years was reportedly minimal, and while staff is working to institute 
a more consistent administrative approach with an application checklist and spreadsheet to track applications 
and tax grants, it is possible that additional “catch-up” is warranted. For example, according to recipients of the 
Major Incentive, the City may not have yet registered an interest on title for the properties in question. The 
interviews highlighted the potential need for an application form and at least semi-defined process timelines, as 
well as accompanying background information to help Dawson residents understand their options. This should 
not be onerous and there are many examples to draw from (the City of Whitehorse’s materials being one), but it 
will nonetheless require time and resources. Ideally, a new policy would not substantively add to the City’s 
administrative burden without a requisite benefit to the community.  

City Financial Capacity 

The jurisdictional review indicates that the use of cash-funded incentives, versus tax exemptions, is generally 
limited to larger municipalities. The survey results indicate there some residents may have concerns about the 
impact of incentives on the ability of the City to deliver services without increasing taxes. Expanding from tax 
incentives to financial grants and other direct funding mechanisms may be warranted only for the highest priority 
challenges and in areas for which a municipal funding stream can be identified or created.  

Flexibility vs. Consistency and Transparency 

In order to bring housing online in Dawson’s highly challenging development context, the City has had to 
administer the policy in a flexible manner. This flexibility has pertained to the eligibility of projects by geographic 
location, the means by which the City has maximized the value of its contribution to facilitate the leveraging of 
maximum YHC funding, and other elements that may have otherwise rendered larger housing initiatives 
unviable. There is a strong argument for the “ends justifying the means” in each of these cases; however, there 
is an opposing argument to be made for the City failing to follow its own policy. A revision to the policy presents 
an opportunity to address some of the discrepancies between “policy on paper” and “policy in practice”. It also 
allows for a clarification of some ambiguous and confusing language that could lead to, or indeed has already 
led to, unnecessary staff and Council time to interpret and resolve during the administrative of incentives.  

New and unforeseen circumstances may continue to present themselves and warrant similar flexibility going 
forward; as such, there may be a benefit to broadly outlining the conditions for it. 
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Current and Future Housing Needs: Quantity 

On the basis of discussions with incentive recipients and the survey results, it can be concluded that the policy 
has succeeded in helping bring market rental housing and some mixed development into the Historic Townsite, 
including the Downtown Core.  

Klondike Development Organization (KDO) estimated in 2018 that a total of 335 new housing units will be 
needed between 2018 and 2030 (please see the following page). The 22 new multi-residential units due for 
completion in 2019, and the likely development of 8 more in 2020, represent significant progress towards 
meeting these housing targets. However, population growth can be expected to place ongoing pressure on 
Dawson’s housing stock.  

Housing Type # of Units # of Lots Required 

Home ownership 30 1-bedroom 
65 2-bedroom 
30 3-bedroom 

105 – 70 urban serviced & 30 country 
residential 
*20 units are assumed to be
accommodated on Settlement Land 

Rental Secondary/garden suites 
48 1-bedroom 
12 2-bedroom 
Multi-unit residential 
77 1-bedroom 
23 2-bedroom 

None – growth to be accommodated on 
existing lots 

17 urban serviced lots 

Previous surveys referenced by KDO have established that housing is the top priority for improving Dawson and 
its economy (ahead of recreation, transportation, infrastructure and other investments). The survey conducted for 
this exercise reinforces that residents feel the availability of rental housing remains a critical success factor for 
Dawson. There is a strong case to be made for the continuation of incentives to help ensure these projected 
housing needs are at least partially met. At the same time, there may be value in having a “minimum test” of 
need integrated into the plan to help ensure that the housing in question   

Current and Future Housing Needs: Diversity and Affordability 

Housing needs relate not just to aggregate quantity, but also diversity and suitability of available options. What 
the policy has not necessarily facilitated to date, at least directly, is affordability and a diversity of options 
representing various points along the housing continuum.  

Both demand and demographics bear mentioning here. Dawson has a higher percentage of single-occupant 
households (45%) than the Yukon average (32%) and future population/demographic projections will see this 
trend apply to a greater proportion of residents; smaller 1-2 bedroom units are the priority need. There is also 
latent demand for home ownership, not just rental opportunities. The KDO found that 44% of Dawson City 
renters are planning to build a home in the next 5 years, and 36% indicated they may wish to build. Renters 
surveyed indicated that the primary barrier to moving from rental to home ownership is lack of land, versus 
affordability or access to financing. 
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There is potential for highly inefficient use of a limited land base should detached single family dwellings remain 
the predominant housing form in Dawson City. One approach is to encourage new private development forms – 
such as town homes, row houses and cluster housing – to meet latent demand for home ownership options in a 
land-constrained community (at present, semi-detached market housing is virtually non-existent in the Historic 
Townsite). The other approach is to encourage the utilization of as much the developable land base as possible, 
which includes idle City, Crown and federal lands that may not be available for sale but could potentially be 
leased.  

Affordable homeownership is generally not promoted directly through taxation incentives but through planning 
and zoning tools. Density bonusing and inclusionary zoning, both of which are effective revenue sources for 
municipal affordable housing funding, are unlikely to have much success in a Dawson context given the very high 
capital costs of multi-unit residential construction. The establishment of a municipal housing corporation would 
require considerable City administrative capacity and seems unwarranted given the proven experience and 
willingness of local non-profit organizations like Klondike Development Organization and possibly a few private 
developers to provide housing solutions. Ideally the City would position itself to support their efforts and partner 
around strategic projects.  

Other lower risk/effort tools could also be applied to promote both density and affordability. The best option in 
this regard is applying development charges – whether they be the current Load Capacity Charge or new charge 
– on a per m2 versus a flat rate (please refer to the discussion in Section 7.0). Should the City wish to consider
higher risk/effort tools such as homeownership grants or loans, development charges could potentially serve as
seed money.

Lastly, the jurisdictional review indicates that the practice of providing equal incentives to affordable market 
(rental or ownership) housing and market (rental or ownership) housing – which the DIP currently does - is 
unusual. Addressing this policy element could help to satisfy concerns of both survey respondents and some 
interviewees that incentives are benefiting private developers at the expense of taxpayers.   

Downtown Revitalization vs. Smart Growth 

Currently, development in the Downtown Core is prioritized in the policy on the basis of revitalization of this 
area; however, this priority does not align with the realities of land availability in a highly geographically 
constrained market. The principles of Smart Growth (dense development oriented to utilize existing 
infrastructure) may be as valid a criterion to apply towards incentive eligibility for multi-unit residential projects as 
Downtown Core revitalization. Presumably, a property located outside of the Downtown Core but still within the 
serviced portions of the Historic Townsite would utilize City infrastructure and services to an equivalent degree.   

Reuse and Renovation 

The language of the policy suggests eligibility for new development but redevelopment is not explicitly 
mentioned. Given the strong built heritage values in the Historic Townsite and substandard housing conditions 
evident in some parts of Dawson, adaptive reuse and renovations may merit equal consideration to new 
construction – and accordingly explicit mention in the policy. Reuse and renovation are included as eligible  

A combination of land/lot scarcity, high construction and infrastructure costs, and lower household incomes are 
arguably the most significant limiting factors to orderly growth in Dawson. None of these are likely to resolve in 
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the foreseeable future, notwithstanding the possibility of a major mine development that could address incomes 
but greatly exacerbate land scarcity and costs.  

Fairness 

Tax incentives raise a number of issues around fairness. A primary concern is the creation of a level playing field 
between different applicants under the same policy. A secondary but important concern is the impacts of 
incentives on the broader playing field between those who receive them and those who don’t. This concern may 
be particularly applicable to the private sector, where competitiveness is paramount and there can be sensitivity 
to perceptions of undue public sector interference.  

Aside from the broader issue of fairness to taxpayers where incentives are concerned, two specific applications 
were identified as being problematic to private sector fairness. The first is the incentive for mixed-use 
development in the Downtown Core, which could theoretically create a tax advantage for a new business that 
could compete with an existing business that has not received the incentive (e.g., a mixed-use development with 
a grocery store on the main floor). Less obvious but potentially impactful is the use of incentives to build housing 
for staff. Such an incentive would place one employer at a distinct advantage over another.  

There was discussion of a policy “work around” to address the mixed-use development scenario. YG Property 
Assessment and Taxation Branch does not currently apportion assessment value to residential and/or 
commercial uses in a mixed development unless the related units are part of a condominium development (and 
thus treated as separate properties). However, in a June 11 conversation, staff indicated there was a possibility 
the Branch could undertake this type of assessment for a non-condo mixed development if the volume of 
requests was very low.  

Alignment with YHC Programs 

The Municipal Matching Rental Construction Program administered by YHC, and which provides a matching 
incentive to the City of Dawson, is expended and currently under review. Confirmation of new funding and 
possibly revised parameters is expected in late June or July 2019. It may be advisable to postpone any final 
revisions to Dawson’s policy until this time to ensure compatibility.  

5.2 Recommendations 

“Housekeeping” Revisions 

1. Make minor revisions to the Background section to align language and terminology with the Canada
Mortgage and Housing Corporation’s Housing Continuum framework.

2. Add a definition for “multiple unit residential building” and ensure consistency with the recently passed
Zoning Bylaw.

3. Revise the definitions of “Economic Development Incentive” and “Graduated Economic Development
Incentive” so that the language is more consistent between the two.

4. Clarify that eligibility extends to First Nation development corporations.
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5.   Clarify the “development fees” under Section 11 or eliminate this clause entirely and provide certainty 
through a development fee/charge waiver embedded directly in the incentives (see below).  

6.   Specifically refer to “redevelopment”, “upgrades”, or “renovations” as an eligible activity assuming the 
outcome is new housing units on the market.  

7.   Replace the term “provide” under the Major Development Incentive with “develop” or similar language 
to make consistent with the Standard and Minor Incentives;  

8.   Clarify that staff and student housing meets the eligibility criteria and determine whether or not the same 
incentives (on a total unit basis) should apply to them;  

9.   Revisiting timelines and approval procedures to ensure that projects are positioned for matching funding 
and can undertake phased projects;   

10.  Develop an application form and processing timeline and incorporate these into the policy.   

 
“Scope and Intent” Revisions 
 

11.   Include a provision in the policy explicitly allowing Council and/or administration to exercise flexibility in 
order to assist applicants in leveraging other funding, subject to certain conditions (i.e., low risk to City 
finances, independent review of project financials, verification of alternatives unsuccessfully pursued, 
etc.);  

12.  Create an additional incentive level that better positions 6-7 unit buildings for economic viability, or 
alternately eliminate maximum thresholds;  

13.  Consider linking the granting of incentives for market rental housing to a minimum vacancy rate3 and/or 
(where vacancy rate threshold is exceeded) independent market research proving the need;  

14.  Cease eligibility for private homeownership-oriented multi-unit residential developments unless they are 
geared to affordable housing. Alternately, clarify in policy and implementation how the tax incentive will 
apply to both the original development corporation and subsequent strata corporation.  

15.  Extend the geographic eligibility for multiple-unit residential buildings to serviced portions of the 
Historic Townsite (versus Downtown only);   

16.  Consider extending additional zoning/planning flexibility to bring affordable housing to market, 
including relation of parking requirements; 

17.  Consider an incentive for renovations that bring illegal secondary or garden suites into Code 
compliance;  

18.  Consider limiting eligibility, or providing a funding advantage, to affordable housing developments. For 
example, both development charge waivers and a tax incentive could be offered to affordable housing 
projects only. This could apply solely to non-profit organizations and/or more broadly;  

19.  Consider including a provision to accommodate potential developments on leased government land 
subject to the taxable entity being the lessee; 

	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  
3 The Yukon Bureau of Statistics Rent Survey would be the logical guide.  
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20.  Consider a provision that allows for Council to pursue partnerships with non-profit and/or private 
developers to “pilot” affordable homeownership initiatives, subject to satisfaction of certain objectives 
or criteria;   

21.  Consider a points or incentives “stacking” system that maintains the core focus on increasing the 
housing stock, particularly in serviced areas, but awards additional incentives for affordability, heritage 
building re-use, and energy efficiency;  

22.  Consider a cap or maximum amount on the tax incentives that the City will provide annually (e.g., $100K 
across all incentives);  

 
Related Programs and/or Policies 
 

23.  Consider formalizing the Heritage Grant as mentioned in the Heritage Management Bylaw and award 
grants along with tax incentives for adaptive reuse of heritage buildings and associated design or 
engineering work, subject to an evaluation framework. The grant could be funded via general municipal 
revenues or a new revenue stream tied to development charges; and, 

24.  Consider creating a grant geared towards community-oriented interim uses of vacant land or property or 
covering the costs of due diligence-related work (i.e. studies, etc.) required to facilitate redevelopment 
of parcels with constraints. Council can weigh in on the appropriateness of a taxation-based disincentive 
separate to this exercise. The jurisdictional review would suggest that this approach is not in common 
practice; however, there is no obvious impediment to enacting such a policy in the Municipal Act.  

 
An initial sample framework for housing-related incentives that was presented to and deliberated upon by 
Council is included in Appendix C.  
 
Subsequent Council discussions and decisions pertaining to the DIP are summarized in Section 10.0 and 
reflected in Appendix G.   
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6.0 Development Charges Overview  

A development charge is a fee paid by developers and builders to fund local growth-related infrastructure. 
Development charges take some of these growth-related costs off the property tax base, and instead charges 
those who directly trigger the spending.  

Development charges (also called capital cost charges, infrastructure charges or offsite levies) are collected as 
part of the approval process for a new development. They can apply to many different kinds of developments – 
residential, commercial, industrial and institutional. They are typically levied to cover some or all of the growth-
related infrastructure costs resulting from the new development, such as water and sewage services, roads, 
parks, community facilities and libraries. The new demand created as a byproduct of growth does not always 
relate to works that are located on or adjacent to the property being developed. For example, new development 
may require a local government to increase the size of a pre-existing water storage reservoir. 

These charges help ensure developers, rather than existing taxpayers, pay for the infrastructure costs triggered 
by development. While development charges are increasingly being used to support planning goals by 
providing incentives (and disincentives) for certain types of development and growth, the literature indicates that 
their policy-related aspects are less understood and underutilized by municipalities (Baumeister, 2012).  

All provinces allow municipalities to levy some form of development charge. The rules surrounding how the 
charges are structured, and what costs they can cover, vary from province to province. British Columbia, Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, Ontario and Halifax, Nova Scotia are the only jurisdictions in which development charge 
programs are widely employed and well-established (Ibid).  

6.1 Load Capacity Charge 
 
The Load Capacity Charge (LCC) is levied against any development requiring a new water/sewer connection, 
separate from and in addition to the machine and labour time that the City charges to install the pipes. The LCC 
is a one-time flat rate charge that theoretically helps to recover the costs of increased load on the City’s water 
and sewer infrastructure.  
 
LCC rates are set out in the Fees and Charges Bylaw at $1550 per single family dwelling (with 2 bathrooms) and 
$415 per water outlet for multi-family or commercial properties (or additional single family dwelling bathroom). It 
is extremely difficult to attribute the costs of an individual new water/sewer connection on the entire system’s 
operating costs, nor is there corporate memory as to the origins of the $1550 charge. For all intents and 
purposes, the amount of the charge is arbitrary.  
 
LCCs collected by the City are deposited into the LCC Reserve, which currently totals $180,478.15. The past 
three years have seen almost $47,000 in LCCs collected as shown below.  
 
Year LCCs Collected Notes 
2016 $15,150 All single family dwellings and secondary suites 
2017 $8740 All single family dwellings and secondary suites 
2018 $22,900 Includes KDO’s first 8-plex 
TOTAL $46,790  
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7.0 Engagement Findings – DCCs 
 
A total of 35 responses were received for the Phase 1 online survey. The complete results are included in 
Appendix A. The following section includes a high-level summary by key topic only. It should be noted that a 
smaller sample of respondents actually completed the development charge related questions (versus the ones 
pertaining to development incentives).  
 

•   Respondent Profile:  Almost 2/3 of respondents were long-time (16 years or more) residents of Dawson 
City. Almost 1/3 own businesses and ¼ have built their own home or secondary suite. Only 2 
respondents had actually received an incentive under the policy.  

•   Agreement with DCC Rationale:  Almost 2/3 (65%) of respondents felt that the infrastructure and 
services required by new development should be paid for by beneficiaries versus existing taxpayers, 
while slightly more (68%) felt that it is appropriate for the City to use charges to promote development 
prioritized in the Official Community Plan. There was slightly less agreement (61%) with the need for the 
City to adopt more sophisticated policy and fiscal tools. The use of other jurisdictions as a benchmark for 
City fees and charges was highly divisive, with 30% disagreeing, 30% agreeing, and 30% indicating 
neither agreement or disagreement.  

•   Appropriate Use of Development Charges:  When given four options for the allocation of 
development charges, respondents indicated the most support for water and sewer (56%), followed by 
roads (61%) and recreation facilities (55%). “Planning and background studies” garnered most 
opposition (32%) than support (23%), along with considerable uncertainty (27%).   

•   Conditions for Supporting a Cost Increase:  When asked to indicate the conditions under which they 
would potentially support a development-related cost increase under a new DCC program, consistent 
and fair application and clear revenue tracking and transparent allocation were selected most frequently 
(57% and 52%, respectively). 22% indicated no support for charge increases under any condition.  

•   Level of Support for DCCs:  A majority of respondents indicated neutrality (44%) or uncertainty (22%) 
when asked to indicate their support for a DCC. 22% showed support versus 13% showing opposition.  

•   Comments, Ideas, and Suggestions:  Respondents provided a range of comments, including the 
need for developers to pay their costs, charges needing to reflect relative costs of multi-family versus 
single family residences, the need for progressive levies, and the need to treat non-profit organizations 
differently. One respondent pointed out a perceived contradiction between asking about incentives for 
developers while increasing charges on individual residents and suggested that homeownership be 
incentivized.  

 

A few stakeholder interviews explored the issue of development charges and potential criteria for community 
acceptance. Generally speaking, the idea of a charge raised concerns about increased development costs in an 
already highly challenging market. Several questioned whether or not such a charge was actually necessary, or 
simply the City looking to generate general revenues. One interviewee felt that a new development charge 
could be received more favourably if introduced in tandem with a review of (and corresponding reduction in) 
what are felt to be inordinately high labour rates the City charges out to homeowners/developers for the 
connection of properties to City water and sewer infrastructure.  
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8.0 Cross-Jurisdictional Review of DCCs 
 
The following section provides an overview of development charges as administered in British Columbia, 
Alberta, and Ontario, with a particular focus on British Columbia.  

 
8.1 British Columbia 
 
Overview 
 
Sections 932 through 937 of the Local Government Act sets out the general requirements under which local 
governments, by way of a bylaw, may charge Development Cost Charges (DCCs). Using DCCs, local government 
can apply a common set of rules and charges to all development within a community. DCCs are applied as one-
time charges against residential, commercial, industrial and institutional developments. They are usually 
collected from developers at the time of subdivision approval or at the time of issuing a building permit.  

DCCs must be kept in a separate fund from a local government's general operating fund. A local government 
may only spend DCC monies, and the interest earned on them, for the specific projects and services for which 
they were originally collected. For example, DCCs collected for sewer infrastructure in a new development may 
only be spent on that specifically.  

Generally, infrastructure construction begins after enough DCCs have been collected by the local government 
for the project; however, in certain circumstances construction must begin before enough funds have been 
collected. In these circumstances either the local government or the developer will "front-end" the cost. These 
costs are then recovered through DCCs as the development progresses. If either the local government or the 
developer borrows funds to pay these costs the interest paid on these borrowed monies can be recovered 
through future DCCs.  

Guiding Principles  
 
The Government of British Columbia’s Development Cost Charge Best Practices Guide establishes six Guiding 
Principles that should be followed by municipalities in the development of a DCC bylaw, as follows:  
 

1.   Integration – DCC programs should be subordinate to and consistent with broader community planning 
goals and comprise only one element of a municipality’s approach to address land use efficiency, 
housing affordability and community sustainability. 

2.   Benefiter Pays – Those who will use and benefit from the installation of systems should pay. 

3.   Fairness and Equity – Costs should be distributed between existing users and new development in a fair 
manner. Furthermore, DCCs should equitably distribute costs between the various land uses and 
different development projects.  

4.   Accountability – The establishment of charges should be a transparent local government process and all 
information upon which DCCs are based should be accessible to stakeholders.  
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5.   Certainty – Stable charges and orderly construction of infrastructure should be cornerstones of a DCC 
program, and sufficient DCC funds must be collected to ensure that infrastructure development can 
proceed in a timely manner.  

6.   Consultative Input – Adequate opportunities for meaningful and informed input from the public and 
other interested parties should be provided.  

 
Eligible Infrastructure  
 
The Local Government Act permits DCCs to be established for providing, constructing, altering, or expanding 
facilities related only to the following local government services: 
 
•   Roads (other than off-street parking) •   Drainage; and, 
•   Sewage •   Parkland acquisition. 
•   Water  

 
It is important to note some exceptions to this rule. The Vancouver Charter allows the City to collect DCCs for 
acquiring property for childcare facilities and affordable housing. The Resort Municipality of Whistler Act allows 
for the collection of DCCs for employee housing.  
 
Rate Calculation 
 
Rate calculation is generally an involved and complex exercise undertaken by municipalities with external 
support. Municipalities have to carefully consider broad policy matters as well as technical issues prior to 
establishing DCCs. In setting rates, local governments also have to take into account whether the proposed 
DCCs will:  
 

•   Be excessive in relation to the capital cost of prevailing standards of service 
•   Deter development; or 
•   Discourage the development of reasonably priced housing or reasonably priced serviced land.  

 
In the simplest terms, a DCC rate is calculated by dividing the new recoverable costs of projected development 
by the projected units of growth as follows:  
 

 
 
 
 

DCC 
Recoverable 
Costs (Net 

DCCs)

Units of 
Growth

DCC Rate

Figure 2. General DCC Rate Formula 
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DCC recoverable costs (gross versus net) are calculated using a combination of technical inputs and policy-
related inputs. The technical inputs include the projected types and amount of new development, the 
infrastructure and services required by the projected new growth, and the allocation of benefits conferred by 
that infrastructure between existing and new development. Please refer to the figure below.  
 

 
 
Some of the overarching policy decisions that need to be made by municipalities prior to the calculation of 
technical inputs include:  
 

•   Will DCCs be applied on a municipal-wide or area-specific basis?  

•   What timeframe will the DCC program relate to? (i.e. revolving or build-out) 

•   What categories of development will be charged? 

•   To what level of detail will land uses be broken down? 

•   What units will be used to calculate DCCs? (i.e., lots, units, floor area) 

 
Considerable effort and level of detail is required to address the technical inputs. Growth projections should 
account for unit types, number of units, and/or floor area requirements for all classes of development (i.e., 
residential, commercial, institutional, etc.) All infrastructure project costs must be calculated to the class of cost 
estimate enabled by the planning horizon or level of technical information available. Typically infrastructure is 
outlined as lists of projects under each DCC category, each with an accompanying sheet detailing project-
specific costs. The various project components related to planning, engineering, and legal aspects are 
incorporated. While the allocation of benefit is prone to subjectivity, municipalities should include supporting 
technical documentation where possible.  
 
These technical inputs should be closely informed by overarching municipal planning documents, such as Official 
Community Plans, Servicing Plans, and Financial Plans. These documents should identify where and how much 
growth is anticipated to occur and how the municipality plans to service it. A municipality – or more typically the 
engineering consultant team it retains – should theoretically have a solid planning foundation upon which to 
calculate DCC costs.  
 
Once the total development related costs are determined, other policy and financial aspects are factored in. 
Other funding sources – including the amount of money in existing DCC reserves and provincial funding – are 
deducted from total costs, as the municipality’s “assist factor”, to arrive at a final calculation of net recoverable 
costs. Please refer to the figure below.  

Growth 
Projections

Total 
Infrastructure 

Costs

Benefit 
Allocation

Total DCC

Related Costs

Figure 3. Technical Inputs Factored into Total DCC Costs 



 32 

 
 
In general, determining the appropriate level of detail can be challenging and municipalities need to strike a 
balance between levying excessive charges in relation to prevailing standards of service versus being 
underfunded.  
 
DCCs in Practice 
 
On the basis of an Internet-based review, Groundswell concludes that most British Columbia communities of 
Dawson City’s size do not to have DCC programs in place. The exceptions tend to be small communities facing 
serious private development pressures in rapidly growing regions such as Vancouver Island and the Interior. The 
table below gives an overview of DCC rates for single family and multi-family dwellings in smaller BC 
municipalities. Most utilize a flat per dwelling unit rate for both types of dwellings but Tofino applies the practice 
of basing rates on floor area for multi-family units. This approach is typically used for commercial, industrial, and 
institutional development.  
 

Community Population 
(2016) 

DCC – Single Family Dwelling 
(2018)  

DCC – Multi-Family Unit 
(2018) 

Cumberland, BC 3753 $19,742 $12,429 
Enderby, BC 2964 $7050 n/a 
Lantzville, BC 3605 $15,913.42 $11,206.82 
Peachland, BC 5428 $19,356 - $19,658 $11,525 
Tofino, BC 1932 $18,248 $92.73/m2 
Ucluelet, BC 1717 $12,882 $9720 

 
Some BC communities are adopting increasingly complex DCC frameworks that take into fuller account the 
impact of both density and location on infrastructure and service costs. The City of Kelowna, for example, 
structures its residential DCC rates using six different residential density categories and numerous area-specific 
categories. Smaller municipalities are likely to follow suit in the coming years.  
 

8.2 Alberta 
 
Overview  
 
Alberta’s equivalent to the DCC is the Offsite Levy, enabled by the Municipal Governance Act. The specific use 
of the term “off-site” is a somewhat nuanced but noteworthy difference from British Columbia’s DCC. An off-site 

Total DCC 
Related 
Costs

Other 
Funding 
Sources

Municipal 
Assist Factor

Net DCC 
Recoverable 

Costs

Figure 4. External and Municipal Funding Inputs into Net DCC Recoverable Costs 
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levy helps pay for infrastructure required outside or "off" the site of a particular development or subdivision that 
will directly or indirectly serve that development. Developers pay for the full cost of infrastructure within their 
development site, including roads and utility infrastructure, but assist municipalities by contributing to the costs 
of growth by paying a “levy” towards capital costs related to other infrastructure. The DCC as applied in British 
Columbia is less prescriptive on the off-site versus on-site issue.  

Offsite levies were originally restricted to projects relating to water, sewer, storm water and roads. A 2017 
amendment to the Off Site Levies Regulation allows for a levy to be used to pay for all or part of the capital cost 
(including any related land acquisition) of new or expanded recreation facilities, fire halls, police stations, and 
libraries. Similar to BC, the legislation sets out a standard for municipalities to follow in establishing levies, 
including consultation with affected parties and the acquisition of supporting technical data and analysis.  

Rate Calculation 

The calculation process is very similar to the one utilized in BC. The final charges are typically expressed on a per 
hectare basis.   

DCCs in Practice 

Similar to British Columbia, it appears that most Alberta communities of Dawson City’s size do not to have 
Offsite Levy programs in place. The table below gives an overview of applicable rates for single family and multi-
family dwellings in smaller Alberta municipalities (converted from ha to m2 for easy comparison to British 
Columbia examples).  

Community Population 
(2016) 

DCC – Single Family 
Dwelling 

(2018) 

DCC – Multi-Family Unit 
(2018) 

Banff, AB 7851 $21.14/m2 $21.14/m2 
Fort MacLeod, AB 2967 $4.94/ m2 $4.94/ m2 
Jasper, AB 4590 $20.60/m2 $20.60/m2 
Peace River, AB 6842 $3.24 - $6.04/m2 $3.24 - $6.04/m2 
Rocky Mountain House 6635 $7.95/ m2 $7.95/m2 

Offsite levies have been the subject of various court cases in the province, primarily related to the 
apportionment of infrastructure benefits – and accordingly costs between new and existing development. 
Interestingly, the Municipality of Crowsnest Pass repealed its Offsite Levy Bylaw in 2012 due to concerns that it 
was making the community less competitive in attracting new development ( ).  

8.3 Ontario 

The Development Charge Act sets out a process by which municipalities can pass their own development charge 
bylaws. Similar to British Columbia and Alberta, these bylaws are accompanied by a background study. A 
development charges bylaw can only be passed within one year of a background study’s completion, and there 
are mandatory public meetings that take place as the information is prepared by municipal staff. Once that 
occurs, a municipality can impose charges against land that is ready to be newly developed or redeveloped. 
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Collected revenue pays for increased capital costs related to both “hard” – roads, water, stormwater, and 
wastewater - and “soft” – libraries, recreational facilities, and parkland development - services. The collection of 
charges for “soft” services is subject to a 10% discount to ensure that municipalities do not “gold plate” services 
with development funding above and beyond general municipal standards already established.  

8.4 City of Whitehorse 
 
Development cost charges were first introduced to Whitehorse in 1995, with the enabling bylaw having been 
updated most recently in 2012. The original charge was set at $2500, although a technical report commissioned 
by the City preceding the enactment of the bylaw apparently recommended a charge of $12,000 (Shewfelt, pers. 
comm). Council felt that such a charge could not be borne by prospective homebuilders, nor be politically 
palatable, and arbitrarily set a rate of $2500 instead (Ibid). Council approved a 40% increase to $3500 in 2012 
and annual increases in 2013, 2014, and 2015 of 2% to reflect inflation.  
 
Currently, City administration is revisiting the charge in tandem with the Development Incentives Policy. The 
current rate for a DCC for a single family unit is $3641. This flat rate indirectly confers an advantage on larger 
units, the difference being $15/m2 between a 1500 ft2 home and a 3500 ft2 home. A jurisdictional scan of other 
similar sized municipalities in British Columbia and Alberta found that the average DCC was $10,465 per unit, 
and that none charge on a per m2 basis for single family development (Kosick, pers. comm). Using the smallest, 
average, and largest residential home sizes on record from the first two phases of Whistle Bend as a proxy, staff 
have played with some pricing scenarios. A potential adoption of a $40/m2 rate would have no cost impact on 
the smallest unit, whereas the average and largest units would see their costs increase by about $3300 and 
$7500 respectively (Ibid).  
 
A similar inequity exists in multiple family residential units. City staff found that most other municipalities charge 
on a per m2 basis, with the average DCC being $67/m2 and $7724/unit for a flat rate. Pricing scenarios identified 
$40/m2 as the threshold at which studio and 1-bedroom units did not see a substantial DCC increase.  
 
City staff has recommended to Council that DCC rates be set at $35/m2 for both single and multiple family 
dwellings. The rationale is that this rate results in the proposed changes to the linked DIP being close to or at 
cost neutral based on development projections.  
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9.0 Preliminary Conclusions and Recommendations: DCCs 

The following section reflects the conclusions and recommendations submitted by Groundswell to Council and 
administration during Phase 1 and 2 work. Council responses to some of these points are reflected in the record 
of Council minutes contained in Appendix x.  

9.1 Key Issues and Considerations 

Technical Input Constraints 

Development cost charges as legislated and applied in British Columbia, Alberta, and Ontario set a high 
threshold of accountability and technical rigour and rely on comprehensive Official Community Plans and 
accompanying servicing and financial plans to specify where and how growth will be accommodated and what 
the servicing and financial implications are. The City of Dawson’s OCP serves as a useful guide of priority 
direction and policy, but it largely leaves the hard questions of growth unanswered. As such, the OCP provides a 
somewhat inadequate planning foundation upon which to base a technical, development cost-focused 
framework.  

“Developer Pays” Principle 

The concept and underlying rationale for DCCs stems from a historic development context in which private 
developers were not contributing to the incremental, or indirect, costs of municipal infrastructure. The 
fundamental principle of “growth pays for growth” or “user pays” underpinning DCCs is poorly satisfied in a 
Yukon context, where the territorial government is the land developer. Furthermore, the territory already funds 
the majority of upgrades to existing infrastructure and is anticipated to continue doing so (as per the funding 
sources indicated in the 2019 Capital Plan recently passed).  

Given the preceding point, the considerable cost and effort associated with projecting and costing the land and 
infrastructure needs to service future growth, as is consistent with best practice, would be in the service of a 
“moot point” when considering the latter step of factoring in government funding contributions into the net 
recoverable DCC calculation. In most instances, the final computation will be simple:  total DCC related costs 
minus territorial and federal government contributions will be at or close to zero. In a Dawson City development 
context, the municipal contribution can reasonably be anticipated to be negligible, not withstanding 
administration and Council time.  

In fact, it could be argued that the levying of a new infrastructure-related charge constitutes “double-charging” 
in so far as the individual home builder would theoretically pay both the City for growth through a DCC as well 
as Government of Yukon through territorial/federal income taxes.  

Transparency and Community Buy-In 

The survey results indicated an expectation of fair and consistent application and clear tracking and targeted 
spending of collected charges. The continuation of offsetting incentives and OCP fulfillment are lesser 
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considerations. Overall, the response to a prospective DCC is neutral and/or uncertain, leaning slightly towards 
positive. 
 
With major infrastructure needs perhaps an unsuitable rationale upon which to base the introduction of a new 
DCC, the City could try to base a DCC on other costs associated with population growth and development. In 
doing so, it would want to rationalize to what extent the pinpointed growth-related costs are not adequately 
covered through associated increases in the municipal tax base. Survey results indicate more opposition than 
support for utilizing charges to pay for “soft” costs of preparing for and responding to development, such as 
planning and backgrounds studies. Pursuing this direction would need to be carefully rationalized and 
substantiated with information from City departments.  
 
BC’s Best Practices Guide’s foundational principles serve as a useful guide for Dawson, despite the contrasting 
contexts for application of a DCC. The “Benefiter Pays” principle is problematic for obvious reasons but the 
remainder could be achieved. Further, the “test” of ensuring charges are not excessive or deterring 
development enshrined in DCC legislation in BC should also be applied to a prospective Dawson charge.  
 
Support for OCP Objectives and Linkage to Incentives 
 
Survey results showed fairly strong agreement in principle with using charges to promote OCP objectives, as well 
as the adoption of more sophisticated policy and tools. Given the challenges identified around incentivizing 
homeownership, instituting a charge that confers a direct or indirect advantage to smaller dwellings is an 
important policy “win”, and one that would reflect emerging best practice. Such a charge would work in tandem 
with incentives to promote preferred and strategic development forms.  
 

9.2 Framework Options 

On the basis of the preceding discussion, Groundswell developed a suite of six potential options for the City to 
considering in determining how (or whether) to proceed with a DCC, as follows: 

 Option 1. Maintain and/or revise the Load Capacity Charge as the sole development charge.  

Description Maintain the Load Capacity Charge as the sole “development charge” levied on new 
construction. A review could try to determine whether or not the charge is adequate, or 
alternately - excessive.  

Advantages Simple and likely to be the most palatable to the public and business community 
Disadvantages The City misses an opportunity to strategically direct growth and/or potentially generate 

revenues from which to fund incentives. In the case of a revised LCC, attributing specific 
costs may prove to be a challenging exercise for City administration.   
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Option 2. Implement a DCC based on growth-related “soft” costs not adequately funded 
otherwise.  

Description City administration in each department would need to inventory the growth-incurred 
services and/or infrastructure prone to funding “gaps” in the municipality – i.e. items 
funded neither via municipal taxes or territorial/federal funding – and determine how to 
attribute costs to them. These costs could then be tracked for a given timeframe and 
projected for a future specified timeframe.  

Advantages This approach could help generate revenues to better enable the City to supplement tax 
revenues for incremental service increases. 

Disadvantages Attributing costs in a transparent, technically rigorous manner could be highly 
challenging and leave the City open to an ongoing debate with detractors as to costing 
“minutiae”. This exercise could also be demanding of staff time.  

	
  
Option 3. Implement a DCC proportional to Whitehorse and/or market’s ability to pay. 

Description Using Whitehorse’s proposed DCC increase as a baseline, develop a Dawson DCC pro-
rated to reflect differences in median income and cost of living. Alternately and/or in 
conjunction with this approach, a maximum threshold for increase over the currently 
administered LCC could be set (similar to Whitehorse council’s approach in both 1995 
and 2012). Given the vastly different development context, basing a DCC on similar-sized 
jurisdictions in BC and/or Alberta is not advised.  

Advantages This approach could be relatively straightforward and it reflects survey guidance to treat 
Dawson’s circumstances as unique versus adopting other small jurisdiction rates.  

Disadvantages This approach may fail to go far enough in treating Dawson’s circumstances are unique. 
Unless the revenues are clearly tracked, Council will be vulnerable to criticisms of 
unnecessary charges unless there is a clear and defined purpose. This approach would 
also rely on the City to conclude its DCC review prior to implementing Dawson’s rate.  

	
  
Option 4. Implement a DCC structured to be at (or close to) revenue neutral factoring in related 
incentives.  

Description Based on past building permit and construction activity, an estimate of future 
development (by type) and “unfunded” incentives such as DCC waivers and grants could 
be made. A corresponding target could be developed for DCC revenues that would 
need to be generated to offset these costs and divided by the number of un-incentivized 
developments.  

Advantages This approach may satisfy potential concerns about Council instituting a charge that 
would be subsumed into general revenues and not used for its intended purpose    

Disadvantages This approach would rely on good estimates of projected development by building type 
over the short to medium-term. Given the relatively small scale of development in 
Dawson and corresponding low revenues, revenue neutrality may hinder Council’s ability 
to use financial incentives to make a demonstrable impact on priority issues unless 
charges were set quite high. A higher administrative burden may be required to track and 
report on revenue neutrality, and the City would need a mechanism to adjust charges on 
an ongoing basis.  
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Option 5. Implement a DCC geared towards achievement of Official Community Plan priorities. 

Description OCP objectives could be achieved in two ways: first, through the promotion of specific 
development forms and areas with preferential charges; and second, through the 
utilization of collected charges as seed money for grant-based incentives. Such a DCC 
would ensure equity between smaller, more affordable dwellings and denser 
development forms in the historic townsite. Charges would be structured on a per m2 
basis in keeping with emerging best practice. DCCs collected could be allocated to funds 
or reserves specifically earmarked for the achievement of affordable housing (rental 
and/or homeownership), heritage adaptive reuse, and/or interim uses of vacant 
properties. To emphasize its purpose, the charge could be renamed a “Strategic/Smart 
Growth” charge or similar.  

Advantages Fully transparent in terms of outcomes and shows strong Council commitment to 
achievement of the OCP. Charges could help to establish stable funding for new and 
beneficial grants. 

Disadvantages This approach may not reflect the market’s ability to pay. A higher administrative burden 
on tracking and reporting would be required. The small scale of development may result 
in minimal funds being raised for grants. 

	
  
Option 6. Implement a DCC combining elements of Options #3-#5. 

Description A combined approach could utilize Whitehorse’s DCC and the current LCC as a starting 
point and be geared towards the achievement of OCP priorities through a gradient 
charge framework that factors in square footage and location. Revenue neutrality would 
be a subordinate consideration to OCP/smart growth and market capacity for increased 
costs. Council could determine its relative importance. Depending on how development 
proceeds in any given year, there may be charge-related revenues held in reserve by the 
City. Alternately, requests for related exemptions or grants could account for all DCC 
revenues.  

Advantages Benefits from all of the advantages of the related options. 
Disadvantages This approach would require tracking and reporting on achievement of outcomes. 

Revenues generated to help fund grant-based incentives could be minimal.  
 

9.3 Recommendations 

Groundswell initially recommended that Council pursue either Option #1 or Option #6 – the latter being 
contingent on a decision by Council to create a source for cash funding development-related grants.  

The adoption of Option #6 requires further deliberation about what constitutes an appropriate charge. Four 
pricing scenarios were presented in Appendix C for consideration. Groundswell recommended adopting the 
Scenario 3 charge of $20.66/m2 for development across all land use categories to which LCCs are currently 
applied. Half of fees collected under a new Development Charge could be allocated to the Water and Sewer 
reserves and the remaining half could be allocated to a new Strategic Development Reserve (or other suitable 
name) through which cash grants can be funded. Such a reserve and accompanying grant system would require 
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administrative capacity in the form of a new stand-alone or updated DIP which outlines eligibility criteria, the 
evaluation process, and how funding is allocated.  
 
Implementing a $20.66/m2 development charge would represent a significant increase to what homeowners 
currently developing 2 or 3-bedroom single family dwellings pay in LCCs. However, this increase could be 
completely offset or significantly reduced with smaller building footprints and/or the construction of a secondary 
suite, which are mutually supportive strategies for prospective homeowners.  
 
It should be noted that the basis for the $20.66 charge is the proposed updated City of Whitehorse 
Development Cost Charge, which has yet to be adopted.  
 
Subsequent Council discussions and decisions pertaining to DCCs are presented in Section 10.0 and reflected in 
Appendix G.  
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10.0 Final Conclusion and Recommendations  
 
The final outcome of the project is a draft revised Development Incentives Policy (DIP) that reflects a balance of 
stakeholder and public input, Council priorities and direction, and overall feasibility within the context of City 
human and financial resources. Please refer to Appendix H for the final draft policy.  
 
Unfortunately, the related issue of Development Cost Charges (DCC) did not proceed to a decision point; its 
complexity and the limited time available during Council meetings proved to be problematic. Furthermore, the 
issue did not seem to be as pressing a concern for Council as ensuring the policy was up-to-date. Nonetheless, 
Council is now equipped with analysis and recommendations that it can revisit at a future date when it has 
additional time or capacity, or the issue becomes a higher priority.  
 
In closing, Groundswell recommends that the City consider the following items to ensure that the revised policy 
is functioning as intended and other related matters are attended to:  
 

1.   Prioritize the development of public information (i.e. incentives brochure, etc.) and administrative 
supports (i.e., standardized application and annual reporting forms).   
 

2.   Monitor all aspects of program delivery (as set out in the revised policy), with careful attention paid to:  
 

•   Overall uptake and comparison of uptake both prior to and post-revisions;  

•   Compliance with annual reporting requirements;  

•   Whether or not the underdeveloped property thresholds are achieving their intended 
objectives; and, 

•   The effectiveness of the Zoning Bylaw in ensuring that any higher density developments 
receiving incentives in residential areas are compatible with the surrounding neighbourhood.  

 
3.   Revisit the policy within three years to consider the inclusion of a homeownership-related incentive, with 

the following recommended parameters: 
 

•   Incentives should be limited to higher density building forms in the Historic Townsite;  

•   Incentives should be limited to affordable homeownership only. The lack of median home sale 
price data for Dawson City means that affordability would be best based on a combination of 
Dawson City median income and CMHC’s definition of affordability (i.e. housing costs not 
exceeding 30% of before-tax income);  

•   Restrictions on the resale of affordable owned units should be required (and would be 
consistent with affordable homeownership programs elsewhere); and 

•   Restrictions around strata and condo corporations would need to be removed.  

 
4.   In partnership with local organizations such as Klondike Development Organization, undertake a housing 

market analysis within 5 years to update local information on supply, demand and market composition. 
Utilize this study as a baseline in determining the need for continued incentives and the role of 
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incentives in achieving community growth objectives and a healthy housing continuum as set out in the 
2018 Official Community Plan.  
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Phase 1 Online Survey Results



29.41% 10

11.76% 4

5.88% 2

26.47% 9

55.88% 19

Q1 Which of the following describes you? You may select more than one
option.

Answered: 34 Skipped: 1

Total Respondents: 34

I own a
business in...

I work in the
residential...

I have
received...

I have built
my own home...

None of the
above

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

I own a business in Dawson City

I work in the residential construction and/or development field

I have received assistance under the City of Dawson’s Development Incentives Policy

I have built my own home and/or secondary suite

None of the above
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2.86% 1

5.71% 2

22.86% 8

5.71% 2

62.86% 22

0.00% 0

Q2 How long have you lived in Dawson City?
Answered: 35 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 35

Less than 2
years

2-5 years

6-10 years

11-15 years

16 years or
more

N/A - I do not
live in Daws...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Less than 2 years

2-5 years

6-10 years

11-15 years

16 years or more

N/A - I do not live in Dawson City
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24.14% 7

41.38% 12

20.69% 6

13.79% 4

Q3 Which of the following describes your level of awareness (prior to this
survey) about the City’s Development Incentives Policy:

Answered: 29 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 29

Very aware

Somewhat aware

Not so aware

Not at all
aware

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Very aware

Somewhat aware

Not so aware

Not at all aware
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Q4 Please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements:
Answered: 29 Skipped: 6

The
availability...

Dawson is
still...

It is
appropriate ...
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0.00%
0

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

37.93%
11

62.07%
18

0.00%
0 29

6.90%
2

6.90%
2

3.45%
1

31.03%
9

48.28%
14

3.45%
1 29

6.90%
2

6.90%
2

13.79%
4

27.59%
8

41.38%
12

3.45%
1 29

Strongly disagree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree

Strongly agree Don't know

The costs of
building ren...

The
Development...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

STRONGLY
DISAGREE

DISAGREE NEITHER
AGREE
NOR
DISAGREE

AGREE STRONGLY AGREE DON'T
KNOW

TOTAL

The availability of rental housing
has a significant impact on the
appeal of Dawson City as a place to
live, work, and do business

Dawson is still experiencing a
serious shortage of rental housing
and the issue needs attention from
the City

It is appropriate for the City to
intervene to make rental housing
development in Dawson more
affordable
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6.90%
2

3.45%
1

20.69%
6

20.69%
6

31.03%
9

17.24%
5 29

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

17.24%
5

41.38%
12

27.59%
8

13.79%
4 29

The costs of building rental housing
in Dawson City are too high for
developers to charge affordable
rents without government
intervention

The Development Incentives Policy
has helped to increase the supply of
rental housing in Dawson

6 / 24

DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES POLICY & DEVELOPMENT CHARGES SURVEY SurveyMonkey



10.34% 3

6.90% 2

3.45% 1

44.83% 13

31.03% 9

3.45% 1

Q5 The smallest incentive offered under the policy is the “Minor” and
involves the waiver of up to 100% of development permit fees and load
capacity charge (i.e. for City water/sewer “hook-up”) for the construction
of a secondary suite – usually about $1600 in total.  Please indicate your
level of support for the City continuing to administer the Minor Incentive

as outlined above:
Answered: 29 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 29

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither
support nor...

Support

Strongly
support

Don't know

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither support nor oppose

Support

Strongly support

Don't know
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Q6 If you indicated opposition to the City continuing to administer the
Minor Incentive as per the existing policy, please tell us why. (Please skip

ahead to the next question if you indicated support)
Answered: 5 Skipped: 30

# RESPONSES DATE

1 Minor incentive should involve more support $$ for people.... it’s currently not much of an incentive 5/20/2019 11:02 PM

2 Taxpayers are paying for policy in the end 5/20/2019 3:05 PM

3 Load capacity only relates to properties connected to city water and sewer. There are many other
properties within municipal limits that are not able to connect to water and sewer system. Other
options for these properties should be looked at.

5/16/2019 1:24 PM

4 It's not a large amount of money to the property owner and the property owner will have a rental
income in the end.

5/15/2019 11:00 PM

5 I would strongly support this IF the mill rate does not increase for the lifetime of the program. Why
do the other taxpayers have to fund this program? These on-suite units are generally under the
table rents that the landlords do not report as income. There are already programs out there that
can be accessed for single units.

5/13/2019 2:46 PM
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10.71% 3

14.29% 4

0.00% 0

50.00% 14

21.43% 6

3.57% 1

Q7 The medium level of incentive is the “Standard” and involves a grant
back of up to $50,000 in City property taxes over a 10-year period for a
mixed use or residential building with a minimum of four residential units
in the Downtown Core. The incentive is effectively a medium-term loss of

tax revenues to the City in exchange for achieving community
development objectives and gaining long-term tax revenues on a property
that otherwise may not be developed at all.  Please indicate your level of

support for the City continuing to administer the Standard Incentive as
outlined above:

Answered: 28 Skipped: 7

TOTAL 28

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither
support nor...

Support

Strongly
support

Don't know

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither support nor oppose

Support

Strongly support

Don't know
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Q8 If you indicated opposition to the City continuing to administer the
Standard Incentive as per the existing policy, please tell us why. (Please

skip ahead to the next question if you indicated support)
Answered: 5 Skipped: 30

# RESPONSES DATE

1 I don’t want to see my own taxes increased as the City tries to recuperate its tax losses due to this
kind of incentive.

5/20/2019 11:10 PM

2 Tax payers pay for incentive and higher priority items need to be completed instead. 5/20/2019 3:05 PM

3 The property owner will gain income from a rental. The city needs every penny in order to manage
the facilities in Dawson for the residents to enjoy.

5/15/2019 11:00 PM

4 The rationale is that the property may not have ever been developed. The reality is that the
property was developed and now that property is using the infrastructure within the City. I would
support perhaps 1 or 2 years but 10 years is too long. This size development makes a difference
in the rental pool making it beneficial to the community.

5/13/2019 2:46 PM

5 The developer should bring more add-on value in order to receive the subsidy, than just
conducting their own business for profit.

5/13/2019 2:04 PM
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14.81% 4

14.81% 4

22.22% 6

29.63% 8

18.52% 5

0.00% 0

Q9 The highest level of incentive is the “Major” and involves a grant back
of up to $500,000 in City property taxes over a 10-year period for a

Downtown Core residential building with a minimum of eight residential
units, a Downtown Core mixed use development with minimum of five

residential units, or a minimum of four supportive housing units anywhere
in Dawson. The incentive is effectively a medium-term loss of tax

revenues to the City in exchange for achieving community development
objectives and gaining long-term tax revenues on a property that

otherwise may not be developed at all.  Please indicate your level of
support for the City continuing to administer the Major Incentive as

outlined above:
Answered: 27 Skipped: 8

TOTAL 27

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither
support nor...

Support

Strongly
support

Don't know

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither support nor oppose

Support

Strongly support

Don't know
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Q10 If you indicated opposition to the City continuing to administer the
Major Incentive as per the existing policy, please tell us why. (Please skip

ahead to the next question if you indicated support)
Answered: 8 Skipped: 27

# RESPONSES DATE

1 I don’t want to see my own taxes increase as the City tries to recuperate its losses due this kind of
incentive.

5/20/2019 11:10 PM

2 Increasing tax base should occur not decreasing the tax base and increasing taxes on the current
tax payers.

5/20/2019 3:05 PM

3 I do not want to pay for other people to get richer 5/16/2019 8:14 PM

4 I didn't indicate opposition, however I do have comments to provide. I believe research is required
to determine if this level should be continued. To date there have been a number of large projects
that have added a significant number of housing units to Dawson.

5/16/2019 1:24 PM

5 As much as I support rental opportunities I'm unsure whether I support helping a
company/individual who already gets an income from the rental investment. It feels a bit like
keeping the wealthy wealthier. "You make the most, so you pay less"

5/14/2019 10:38 AM

6 Just seems like a huge sum lost in property tax income where the services will still need to be
provided

5/13/2019 5:18 PM

7 The rationale is that the property may not have ever been developed. The reality is that the
property was developed and now that property is using the infrastructure within the City. I would
support perhaps 1 or 2 years but 10 years is too long. This size development makes a difference
in the rental pool making it beneficial to the community.

5/13/2019 2:46 PM

8 The developer should bring more add-on value in order to receive the subsidy, than just
conducting their own business for profit.

5/13/2019 2:04 PM
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50.00% 14

25.00% 7

50.00% 14

46.43% 13

42.86% 12

7.14% 2

7.14% 2

10.71% 3

Q11 Bearing in mind the City's limited financial and administrative
capacity, what are the top 3 aspects of development it should continue or
begin to address with financial incentives? (Please choose 3 maximum)

Answered: 28 Skipped: 7

Total Respondents: 28

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 core infastructure and recreation 5/20/2019 3:05 PM

2 YG has open lots in Dawson. This should be dealt with. offer to give incentives to parks Canada to
move the yard at the north end to bear creek or some other area to open up that giant lot. Move
the downtown campground.

5/13/2019 10:07 PM

Restoring old
heritage...

Achieving
heritage des...

Rental housing

Affordable
homeownership

Energy
efficiency

Contaminated
sites

N/A - I do not
support the...

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Restoring old heritage buildings for active uses

Achieving heritage design guidelines for new construction

Rental housing

Affordable homeownership

Energy efficiency

Contaminated sites

N/A - I do not support the City using financial incentives to facilitate development

Other (please specify)

13 / 24

DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES POLICY & DEVELOPMENT CHARGES SURVEY SurveyMonkey



3 Better utilizing the City's empty lots 5/13/2019 4:39 PM
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Q12 Please share any ideas, comments or suggestions you have about
the Development Incentives Policy and how to make it work most

effectively for Dawson City.
Answered: 9 Skipped: 26

# RESPONSES DATE

1 1. Any new developments need to have designated parking for tenants-not only for winter time
plug ins for vehicles but also to get those vehicles off the streets. It’s difficult for people with
mobility issues to get near 2nd Avenue right now with all the contractors parking there, so where
will the tenants park? 2. All new developments should have wheelchair access! The new
apartment building on 3rd Avenue has a front entry sidewalk that is higher than the sidewalks
beside it? How the heck was this allowed? It shouldn’t have any different sidewalk height, just
common sense. 3. Why is (NOTE: NAMES REDACTED) the sole individuals benefiting from these
new projects financially? Is this stuff contracted out or just handed to them? Is (NOTE: NAME
REDACTED) business on the City payroll? 4. Have public meetings about each development
project, heck-have many and get public feedback! We are the taxpayers after all! Nobody would
have allowed the mess of a sidewalk in front of the 3rd Avenue apartment building, what senior is
going to be able to access that safely?

5/20/2019 11:38 PM

2 Incentives should be able to benefit everyone, not just rich developers who can add multi unit
buildings to the town. This approach does not make for a fair playing field. Other types of
development need to be considered for our town to experience balanced growth and for residents
to achieve a consistently positive quality of life.

5/20/2019 11:10 PM

3 The large projects have worked well, maybe time now to give those incentives a break, and
increase incentives for in-fill secondary suites.

5/20/2019 11:02 PM

4 I think that these incentive programs are great, but have mostly been under utilized, likely cause
most folks didn't know they existed. On my end, I only found out about it due to an application to
Yukon Housing's Municipal Matching grant. I know that we have improved the amount of rental
spaces in Dawson, which has been great, but affordability remains an issue. Most of the new
rentals are priced way too high. I think we need to re-create some sort of "Tent City" or other
extremely affordable place to setup for a summer to accommodate summer transient workers. I
know that's not what this survey is about, but I think that's one of the biggest issues in Dawson
currently.

5/20/2019 10:37 PM

5 Stop incentive policy and focus on proper prudent financial management. Complete important
infrastructure projects

5/20/2019 3:05 PM

6 Work with YG and TH to develop lots south of town extending the length of city limits. Just makes
sense to give people access to a highway, power and a bit of land.

5/15/2019 11:00 PM

7 If anything, the City should be encouraged to increase the degree to which they support
developments of rental housing, of the renovation of heritage buildings and derelict buildings in the
downtown core, and in the development of land for residential housing to be built. The City should
acknowledge that these 'losses of tax revenue' referred to above would NOT EXIST AS
REVENUES AT ALL if the development never happens... therefor they should think of the tax
incentives as a means of generating revenue for the City via taxes over the long term rather than
focusing on imaginary "losses" over the short term. You cannot "lose" what you would not have at
all if the development did not occur.

5/14/2019 1:57 PM

8 I feel Dawson is doing a good job with regards to their development incentive policies but a
miserable job of controlling the heritage build side of things; we are still getting buildings that do
not meet heritage standards and some of these are ones built by the City, hard to convince
everyone to "play the game" when the organization that writes the rules and enforces them
doesn't.

5/13/2019 4:39 PM

9 please raise taxes or some other disincentive to leaving a lot undeveloped or a derelict building
just sit there taking up space. A vacant/unused building should bear a significantly higher bill than
an occupied building, to better reflect the cost to the community in lost opportunity, lost business
revenue and other non-monetary (aka social) costs associated with derelict buildings!

5/13/2019 3:12 PM
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Q13 Please indicate your level of agreement with the following
statements:

Answered: 23 Skipped: 12

New
development...

It is
appropriate ...

The growth
pressures on...
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8.70%
2

17.39%
4

8.70%
2

43.48%
10

21.74%
5

0.00%
0 23

0.00%
0

0.00%
0

27.27%
6

54.55%
12

13.64%
3

4.55%
1 22

4.35%
1

8.70%
2

17.39%
4

43.48%
10

17.39%
4

8.70%
2 23

8.70%
2

21.74%
5

39.13%
9

26.09%
6

4.35%
1

0.00%
0 23

Strongly disagree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree

Strongly agree Don't know

It is
appropriate ...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

STRONGLY
DISAGREE

DISAGREE NEITHER
AGREE
NOR
DISAGREE

AGREE STRONGLY AGREE DON'T
KNOW

TOTAL

New development that requires new
infrastructure or services should be
paid for by the beneficiaries of that
new development versus existing
taxpayers

It is appropriate for the City to use
charges in a manner that helps
promote the types of development
prioritized in the Official Community
Plan

The growth pressures on Dawson
City and its unique development
challenges requires the City to adopt
more sophisticated policy and fiscal
tools

It is appropriate for the City to align
its development fees and charges
practices with those of other
jurisdictions of similar size

17 / 24

DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES POLICY & DEVELOPMENT CHARGES SURVEY SurveyMonkey



Q14 The City of Dawson currently charges a Load Capacity Charge
(LCC) which helps to offset the costs of providing water and sewer for

new development. The replacement of the LCC with a DCC could provide
the City with financial resources to respond to a greater range of growth-
related needs in the community. Please indicate your level of agreement
with using DCCs to finance the following City infrastructure and services:

Answered: 23 Skipped: 12

New and/or
upgraded wat...

New and/or
upgraded roads

New and/or
upgraded par...
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8.70%
2

4.35%
1

21.74%
5

34.78%
8

17.39%
4

13.04%
3 23

8.70%
2

8.70%
2

30.43%
7

30.43%
7

8.70%
2

13.04%
3 23

9.09%
2

13.64%
3

22.73%
5

31.82%
7

9.09%
2

13.64%
3 22

22.73%
5

9.09%
2

18.18%
4

18.18%
4

4.55%
1

27.27%
6 22

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

1 If the city did not already subsidize the past and current development the tax base would be
increasing and increasing taxes or adding fees would not be as nesesary

5/20/2019 3:12 PM

2 it seems like you are asking simple questions about a subject that is actually quite complex, so i
feel unable to answer as my responses would 'depend' on specific scenario in question.

5/14/2019 2:08 PM

3 Fix what we have 5/13/2019 2:50 PM

Strongly oppose Oppose Neither support nor oppose Support

Strongly support I don't know

Planning and
background...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

STRONGLY
OPPOSE

OPPOSE NEITHER
SUPPORT NOR
OPPOSE

SUPPORT STRONGLY
SUPPORT

I
DON'T
KNOW

TOTAL

New and/or upgraded water or
sewer

New and/or upgraded roads

New and/or upgraded parks and
recreation facilities and/or services

Planning and background studies
related to new development
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21.74% 5

56.52% 13

52.17% 12

26.09% 6

0.00% 0

21.74% 5

8.70% 2

Q15 Currently, the City's Load Capacity Charge (LCC) totals around
$1500 for a new single family dwelling. In combination with a

development permit fee and the cost of water/sewer hookup, City-related
development charges total around $10,000 per home.  The cost of a DCC

could potentially be lower or higher than the current $1500 for the LCC,
depending on the type of development. Please indicate the conditions

under which you would potentially support a cost increase under a new
DCC program. You may select more than one option.

Answered: 23 Skipped: 12

Total Respondents: 23

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE

A new DCC
better equip...

A new DCC is
applied...

Revenues
collected fr...

The City
continues to...

Cost increases
related to a...

N/A - I would
not support ...

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

A new DCC better equips the City to plan for and respond to growth and development

A new DCC is applied consistently and fairly

Revenues collected from a new DCC are clearly tracked and used for their intended purpose

The City continues to provide financial incentives to promote the types of development prioritized in the Official Community
Plan

Cost increases related to a new DCC apply to development not prioritized in the Official Community Plan

N/A - I would not support a charge increase for any reason

Other (please specify)
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1 Whether or not it needs to be paid immediately or over, say, 5 years, makes a difference in how I
would answer this question.

5/20/2019 11:08 PM

2 Depends.... if the City had an OCP that provided good/real guidance, maybe. I just think that all of
this depends on the type of development, and I can't say that it is related to the OCP or to
fairness.Generally I think the City should be very very careful about creating inflexible DCCs or
other fees that would prevent good projects and developments from going ahead.

5/14/2019 2:08 PM
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Q16 In general, how supportive are you of the City replacing the Load
Capacity Charge with a Development Cost Charge?

Answered: 23 Skipped: 12

4.35%
1

8.70%
2

43.48%
10

21.74%
5

0.00%
0

21.74%
5 23 3.70

Strongly oppose Oppose Neither support nor oppose Support

Strongly support I don't know

(no label)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

STRONGLY
OPPOSE

OPPOSE NEITHER SUPPORT
NOR OPPOSE

SUPPORT STRONGLY
SUPPORT

I DON'T
KNOW

TOTAL WEIGHTED
AVERAGE

(no
label)
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Q17 Please share any general comments or suggestions you have about
development-related charges and how to make them work most

effectively for Dawson City.
Answered: 6 Skipped: 29

# RESPONSES DATE

1 Developers should pay the associated costs. It’s already difficult enough to make a living and
maintain a high quality of life in this town. Perhaps consider basing the increase on household
income so those who can afford to pay more in taxes do so.

5/20/2019 11:17 PM

2 Development charges should reflect the relative cost to the city of servicing multi-family vs. single
family residences. (city should also permit multi-family residences over entire historic townsite)

5/20/2019 10:45 PM

3 development charges may not be as necessary if the city was not already subsidising
organizations and other levels of government in building

5/20/2019 3:12 PM

4 Why not incentivize home ownership if you do it for renters? Can't you see the discrepancy
between talking about giving up to 500K in breaks to developers on one page and asking to charge
home owners for upgrading roads and parks, for example, on the next?

5/17/2019 7:01 AM

5 Good and needed non-profit developments (for example a new daycare facility or affordable rental
housing) should be treated differently than private enterprises that are for-profit. Non-profits do the
lions share of good work in our community and they should be supported whenever possible
rather than making it more and more difficult for them to exist and provide services.

5/14/2019 2:08 PM

6 Charges/levies should be progressive. Don’t make people with no money pay even more to get
into the housing market. Make DCC payable over a ten-year period.

5/13/2019 8:34 PM
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Q18 Using your feedback, Council, administration, and the project
consultant will proceed with a revised Development Incentives Policy and
proposed Development Cost Charges program. If you would like to have
the opportunity to review and provide comments, please leave your email

here:
Answered: 1 Skipped: 34

# RESPONSES DATE

1 5/13/2019 8:34 PM
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APPENDIX B 

 

Stacked Incentives Examples 

 



 
Example:  Tumbler Ridge Revitalization Tax Exemption Program 

 

Example:  City of Regina Affordable Housing Policy 

Level Eligibility Term 
RTE-Basic Meets zoning criteria 

Alteration valued at $25,000 or more or 
Construction valued at $100,000 or more 

Year 1 – full minus base assessment 
Year 2 – 50% of difference  
Year 3 and beyond – no exemption 

RTE-
Accessible 

All requirements of RTE Basic plus 
Meets accessibility criteria 

Year 1 – full minus base assessment  
Year 2 -4 decreases 25% over Year 1 annually  
Year 5 and beyond – no exemption 

RTE-Green All requirements of RTE Basic plus 
Project incorporates 75% of guidelines set 
out in BC Hydro Energuide 

Same as accessible 

RTE-All Meets requirements of Basic, Accessible and 
Green levels 

Years 1/2 – full minus base assessment  
Year 3 - 5 decreases 25% over Year 1 annually  
Year 6 and beyond – no exemption 



 69 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

Sample Framework for Housing 
Incentives – June 13



 

 

Development Type Proposed Incentive 
Anywhere within City limits 
Secondary Suite or 
Garden/Detached Suite 

•  10 years, 100% grant back 
•  Waiver of development charges 

Supportive Housing  
(minimum of 4 units) 

•  10 years, 100% grant back 
•  Waiver of development charges 

Anywhere within Historic Townsite 
Affordable Rental Unit  
(minimum of 4 units) 

•  10 years, 100% grant back 
•  Waiver of development charges 

Market Rental or 
Staff/Student Housing  
(minimum of 4 units)  

10 years, 100% grant back  

Market Ownership Unit 
(minimum of 4 units) 

•  5 years, graduated incentive (decreasing 10% per annum) 

Affordable Ownership 
Unit (minimum of 4 units) 

•  10 years, 100%, contingent on resale restrictions (if possible), 
possibly an eligibility mechanism for initial purchasers 

•  Waiver of development charges 
Mixed-Use Development 
(minimum of 5 units) 

•  10 years, graduated incentive (decreasing 10% per annum) OR 10 
years full incentive on residential portion only 

•  Waiver of development charges for affordable units 
*ANY OF THE ABOVE INCENTIVES COULD ALSO HAVE CAPITAL GRANTS “STACKED” ON 
THEM I.E. HERITAGE, AFFORDABLE HOUSING, CONVERSION OF VACANT/DERELICT LAND, 
ETC. (keeping in mind policy and criteria needs and City capacity);  
*COUNCIL COULD ALSO ELECT TO HAVE ADDITIONAL “STAND-ALONE” TAX INCENTIVES 
UNRELATED TO HOUSING (ADAPTIVE RE-USE OF HERITAGE BUILDING, VACANT/DERELICT 
PROPERTY USE, ETC.) 
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APPENDIX D 

 

Development Charge  
Option #6 Scenarios



OPTION 6. Implement a development charge combining elements of Options #3-5 
 

•   Option #3: Proportionality to Whitehorse and/or market’s ability to pay 
•   Option #4: Revenue neutral factoring in related incentives 
•   Option #5: Geared towards achievement of OCP/growth priorities 

 
Condition 1. Proportionality/Ability to Pay 

•   City of Whitehorse administration recommending a DCC of $35/m2 
•   2016 Dawson household median income = 75.2% of Whitehorse median income  
•   Community Spatial Price Index (CSPI) for Dawson (2018) = 121.3 (Whitehorse = 100) 

 
Recommended 

Whitehorse DCC	
  
Proportional Dawson Charge:  

Median Income 
Proportional Dawson 

Charge:  CSPI 
Proportional Dawson 

Charge: Income + CSPI 
$35/m2 $26.25/m2 $27.55/m2 $20.66/m2 

	
  
These numbers serve as a starting point for the charge/revenue scenarios on pages 2-4 from which 
“ability to pay” is further explored.  
	
  
Condition 2. Geared towards achievement of OCP/growth priorities 
 
How could the charge be administered to satisfy this condition? 

•   Per square metre rate is a growing trend that recognizes larger homes create a larger burden 
on municipal infrastructure and indirectly incentivizes smaller, more affordable housing 

•   Charge can be waived for specific types of development aligned with priority and preferential 
growth objectives in OCP (i.e. affordable housing, Downtown revitalization, etc.) 

•   Revenues collected can be used to 1) offset the foregone revenues associated with incentives 
and 2) fund cash grant-based incentives  

 
Condition 3. Revenue neutrality 
	
  
In 2017, the Klondike Development Organization forecasted Dawson housing needs for the 2018 to 
2030 time period, from which Groundswell calculated an annual pro-rated need as follows:  
 

Unit Type Total Ownership Rental 
Pro-rated owned 

units/yr 
Pro-rated rental 

needs/yr 

1-bedroom 190 30 160 2.5 16 
2-bedroom 115 65 50 5.4 10 

3-bedroom 30 30  2.5  
TOTALS 335 125 210  

	
  
To understand the potential implications of a charge on local residents, businesses, and the City itself, 
Groundswell generated a number of different scenarios using numerous baseline assumptions:  
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1.   Garden and secondary suites continue to be exempt from development charges;  

2.   Development charges are waived (plus tax incentive) for affordable multi-residential rental units; 

3.   2/3 of rental units built annually are affordable;  

4.   Average dwelling unit sizes are: 1 bedroom - 635 ft2 (59 m2); 2-bedroom – 1200 ft2 (111.5 m2); 3 
bedroom – 1925 ft2  (178.8 m2) (Note:  based on Whistle Bend actual averages) 

5.   Half of KDO’s forecasted annual housing needs are built for each housing type;  

6.   Average size of major renovations and commercial units are equivalent to 1-bedroom and 2-
bedroom residential units, respectively; 

7.   No homeownership units are exempt from DCCs; and 

8.   2017/2018 average for new commercial is maintained and alterations are not included.  

	
  
	
  
Scenario 1:  Development Charge Geared to Median Income, Commercial and Major Renovations Included 
 

Development 
# 

units 
Average 
area (m2) 

Charge 
per m2 

Total 
charges 

Per unit 
charge DCC- LCC 

% Increase 
(vs LCC) 

1-bedroom affordable 
rental 10.56 59 $0  $0.00  $0.00  ($2075.00) -100 

1-bedroom rental 5.44 59 $26.25  $8,425.20  $1,548.75  ($526.25) -25.36 

1-bedroom ownership 2.5 59 $26.25  $3,871.88  $1,548.75  ($526.25) 3.25 
2-bedroom affordable 

rental 6.6 111.5 $0.00  $0.00  $0.00  ($2075.00) -100 

2-bedroom rental 3.3 111.5 $26.25  $9,658.69  $2,926.88  $851.88  41.05 

2-bedroom ownership 5.4 111.5 $26.25  $15,805.13  $2,926.88  $1,426.88  95.13 

3-bedroom ownership 2.5 178.8 $26.25  $11,733.75  $4,693.50  $3,193.50  212.90 

Commercial 4 111.5 $26.25  $11,707.50  $2,926.88  $1,426.88  41.05 

TOTALS $61,202.14     
 LCCs for single family dwellings (7.9@$1500 ea) $11,850     

LCCs for multi-family and commercial (32.4@$2075/unit) $67,230    

Difference ($17,877.86)    
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Scenario 2:  Development Charge Geared to CSPI, Commercial and Major Renovations Included	
  
	
  

Project 
# 

units 
Average 
area (m2) 

Charge 
per m2 

Total 
charges 

Per unit 
charge DCC- LCC 

% Increase 
(vs LCC) 

1-bedroom affordable 
rental 10.56 59 $0.00  $0.00  $0.00  ($2075.00) -100.00 

1-bedroom rental 5.44 59 $27.55  $8,842.45  $1,625.45  ($449.55) -21.67 

1-bedroom ownership 2.5 59 $27.55  $4,063.63  $1,625.45  ($449.55) 8.36 
2-bedroom affordable 

rental 6.6 111.5 $0.00  $0.00  $0.00  ($2075.00) -100.00 

2-bedroom rental 3.3 111.5 $27.55  $10,137.02  $3,071.83  $996.83  48.04 

2-bedroom ownership 5.4 111.5 $27.55  $16,587.86  $3,071.83  $1,571.83  104.79 

3-bedroom ownership 2.5 178.8 $27.55  $12,314.85  $4,925.94  $3,425.94  228.40 

Commercial 4 111.5 $27.55  $12,287.30  $3,071.83  $1,571.83  48.04 

TOTALS $64,233.10     
 LCCs for single family dwellings (7.9@$1500 ea) $11,850     

LCCs for multi-family and commercial (32.4@$2075/unit) $67,230    

Difference ($14,846.90)    
 
 
Scenario 3:  Development Charge Geared to Median Income & CSPI, Commercial and Major Renovations 
Included	
  
 

Project 
# 

units 
Average 
area (m2) 

Charge 
per m2 

Total 
charges 

Per unit 
charge DCC- LCC 

% Increase 
(vs LCC) 

1-bedroom affordable 
rental 10.56 59 $0.00  $0.00  $0.00  ($2075.00) -100.00 

1-bedroom rental 5.44 59 $20.66  $6,631.03  $1,218.94  ($856.06) -41.26 

1-bedroom ownership 2.5 59 $20.66  $3,047.35  $1,218.94  ($856.06) -18.74 
2-bedroom affordable 

rental 6.6 111.5 $0.00  $0.00  $0.00  ($2075.00) -100.00 

2-bedroom rental 3.3 111.5 $20.66  $7,601.85  $2,303.59  $803.59  11.02 

2-bedroom ownership 5.4 111.5 $20.66  $12,439.39  $2,303.59  $803.59  53.57 

3-bedroom ownership 2.5 178.8 $20.66  $9,235.02  $3,694.01  $2,194.01  146.27 

Commercial 4 111.5 $20.66  $9,214.36  $2,303.59  $803.59  11.02 

TOTALS $48,169.00     
 LCCs for single family dwellings (7.9@$1500 ea) $11,850     

LCCs for multi-family and commercial (32.4@$2075/unit) $67,230    

Difference ($30,911.00)    
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Scenario 4:  Development Charge Geared to “Ability to Pay” (i.e. % Increase Capped at 100%), Commercial and 
Major Renovations Included 

Project # units 
Average 
area (m2) 

Charge per 
m2 

Total 
charges 

Per unit 
charge DCC- LCC

% Increase 
(vs LCC) 

1-bedroom
affordable rental 10.56 59 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($2075.00) -100.00

1-bedroom
rental 5.44 59 $16.75 $5,376.08 $988.25 ($1086.75) -52.37

1-bedroom
ownership 2.5 59 $16.75 $2,470.63 $988.25 ($1086.75) -34.12

2-bedroom
affordable rental 6.6 111.5 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($2075.00) -100.00

2-bedroom
rental 3.3 111.5 $16.75 $6,163.16 $1,867.63 ($207.38) -9.99

2-bedroom
ownership 5.4 111.5 $16.75 $10,085.18 $1,867.63 $367.63 24.51 

3-bedroom
ownership 2.5 178.8 $16.75 $7,487.25 $2,994.90 $1,494.90 99.66 

Commercial 4 111.5 $16.75 $7,470.50 $1,867.63 $367.63 -9.99

TOTALS $39,052.79  

 LCCs for single family dwellings (7.9@$1500 ea) $11,850 

LCCs for multi-family and commercial (32.4@$2075/unit) $67,230 

Difference ($40,027.21) 

The four scenarios show a range of potential implications from a development charge, both in terms of 
generated revenues and effects on new owned dwellings, which presumably would not receive an 
incentive.  

The highest revenue generator is Scenario 2 (charge proportional to CPSI) and results in $64,233, with 
virtually no impact on total development costs (compared to the LCC) for 1-bedroom dwellings but an 
almost doubling and quadrupling of costs for 2-bedroom and 3-bedroom dwellings, respectively. The 
lowest revenue generator (charge geared to maximum 100% cost increase cap, or $16.75/m2) 
generates $39,053, reduces costs by over 1/3 for 1-bedroom units and limits increases for 2 and 3-
bedroom dwellings to 25% and 100% respectively. Please refer to the table below.  

Scenario Charge Total 
revenues 

% Cost 
Increase for 1-
bdm owned 

% Cost 
Increase for 2-
bdm owned 

% Cost 
Increase for 3-
bdm owned 

Equivalent 
LCC 

amount 
1 – Median 

 Income 
$26.25 $61,202.14 3.25 95.13 212.9 

$79,080 
2 – CPSI $27.55 $64.233.10 8.36 104.79 228.40 

3 – Median 
 Income + CPSI 

$20.66 $48,169.00 -18.74 53.57 146.27 

4 – 100% Cost 
   Increase Cap 

$16.75 $39,052.79 -34.12 24.51 99.66 
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Building on the assumptions above, LCCs would no longer be collected for affordable multi-unit rental 
developments or secondary suites. In a theoretical year in which one affordable rental 8-plex and four 
secondary suites are built, this would amount to $22,000 not being deposited into the LCC Reserve.  

The actual impacts of this foregone reserve allocation are difficult to quantify. The fact remains that 
significant upgrades to the water and sewer system, including those that accommodate increased load 
from new development, are likely to be funded by Government of Yukon, versus the LCC, Water or 
Sewer reserves. Administration reports that the reserve is best suited to funding new equipment 
purchases. (It is not known whether or not the reserve has been drawn down to date; this information 
was not available in the timeframe available for follow-up reporting). 
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      City of Dawson 
     Development Incentives Policy 

     # 2019-02 
 

 

 

BACKGROUND 

There is currently a need for housing – including supportive, affordable rental, and market 
rental - in the City of Dawson. These needs can be addressed through a variety of options 
including mixed-use and multi-unit residential buildings, secondary suites, and other types of 
housing developments. Increased Historic Townsite development would further the City’s 
sustainability objectives for a more compact development pattern and take advantage of 
existing services; further, the conversion of derelict and vacant properties increases economic 
and community vitality. These types of development help to meet the Official Community Plan 
goals and policies. 

Council recognizes that land constraints, high construction costs, and other factors pose 
serious constraints to the supply of housing in Dawson City, and that a subsidy may be 
required. The City does have a role in land development, permitting, and taxation, through 
which it may encourage development where it is not being initiated under normal market 
conditions. 

City of Dawson fees and charges are low relative to other jurisdictions, and many fees are 
based on cost recovery, making it challenging to reduce or grant these costs without 
impacting operating budgets. It is desirable for the City to use a model that provides 
significant financial incentives for strategic development, while limiting the short-term financial 
impact on the operational budget. 

 

POLICY STATEMENT 

The City of Dawson will provide financial incentives for projects that provide rental units, 
supportive housing, and multi-unit residential buildings and/or convert vacant and/or derelict 
properties into more beneficial land uses. 

Undeveloped or run-down properties essentially provide little more than the land value. This 
policy provides economic development incentives to encourage targeted residential 
development and increase future tax income for the City. 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

Development Incentives Policy Page 2 of 8 ______   ______ 
PO       CAO 

 

1.00 Definitions 

1.1. The following terms are used within this policy and are defined as follows: 

a. “affordable rental housing” means rental housing that is provided at or below the 
median market housing rents for comparable housing as presented by the Yukon 
Bureau of Statistics in the Yukon Rent Survey. In the event that this definition conflicts 
with that of a funding program through which an owner is seeking financial support for 
the same development, the definition of the other funding program shall apply.  

b. “base rate” means the rate calculated as the value of the tax levy for improvements 
on the property paid on July 2nd in the year that the Development Permit for the 
eligible development is issued. In the case where existing buildings or structures were 
demolished prior to issuance of a Development Permit for an eligible development, 
the base rate will be zero. 

c. “derelict property” means a property occupied by a principal building, as defined in the 
Zoning Bylaw, that has not been used for three or more years, is in a poor state of 
repair, and negatively impacts aesthetic, human health and safety, community vitality, 
property and/or other values in the surrounding neighbourhood.  

d. “development fee” means the fee(s) associated with development permit and 
development incentive applications. 

e.  “development incentive” means contributions made by the City of Dawson for 
developments meeting the eligibility criteria provided in this policy. 

f. “Downtown” means refers to the area defined within the Official Community Plan as 
the Downtown Core. 

g. “historic townsite” means the area defined within the Official Community Plan as the 
Historic Townsite. 

h. “load capacity charge” means the charge, as listed in the Fees and Charges Bylaw, 
levied against new development by the City of Dawson to recover costs associated 
with increased load on the water/sewer system.  

i. “market rental housing” means housing that is provided at above the median market 
housing rents for comparable housing as presented by the Yukon Bureau of Statistics 
in the Yukon Rent Survey.  

j. “mixed-use” means a building containing a mixture of commercial and residential 
uses. 

k. “preferred tax grant” means a yearly monetary in the amount that the developer paid 
in municipal tax as a result of improvements to the property in the assessment year 
prior to new development for which a Tax Grant applies.  

l. “rental housing” means any formation of multi-unit residential housing development 
that is retained by a single owner, with units that are available to rent on a monthly or 
semi- monthly basis. Rental units must be retained as one legal entity and cannot be 
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subdivided through a condominium process, even if all units are retained by one 
owner. 

m. “secondary suite” means a secondary suite as defined by the City of Dawson Zoning 
Bylaw. 

n. “standard tax grant” means a yearly monetary grant in the amount that the developer 
would have paid in annual municipal taxes as a result of improvements to the 
property. The base amount is determined at the time of issuance of a Development 
Permit.  

o. “supportive housing” means the use of a building for residential dwelling units that is 
owned and operated by a non-profit agency or non-government organization and 
designed to accommodate tenants who require assistance. Typical uses would 
include assisted housing for seniors or assisted housing for people with disabilities. 

p. “short term vacation rental” means the provision of rental accommodation for less 
than 30 consecutive days to a primary tenant whose purpose for residing in Dawson 
City is vacationing 

q. “vacant property” means a property that does not contain a primary building or 
structure. A property may be considered vacant if an accessory building or structure, 
as defined in the Zoning Bylaw, is present.  

2.00 DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES – GENERAL 

2.1. Based on the eligibility criteria listed in this policy, an applicant may apply for a 
development incentive as follows: 

a. Incentives as outlined in the following section will be considered by the City and, if 
granted, will be incorporated in a Development Incentive Agreement. 

b. Taxes applied to the value of improvements may be reduced in a diminishing pattern 
annually (graduated or sliding scale) or in full, for a specified time frame. 

c. Taxes applied to the value of land are not available for reduction or grant. 

d. The annual value of each Development Incentive will be calculated by subtracting the 
Base Rate and the portion of the tax levy on the value of the land from the full annual 
tax levy paid on July 2nd for the duration of the Development Incentive Agreement. 

e. Payment of Development Incentives will begin once an eligible development has 
received occupancy for all units. Any taxes paid to the City prior to occupancy will not 
be eligible for a grant under this policy. 

f. The Development Incentive will be implemented through a grant to the property 
owner. Incentives will be processed after July 2nd annually. 

g. Development Incentives will not be applied retroactively for projects which have 
already received a Development Permit. This includes permits that have been 
cancelled or lapsed and reapplied for in an effort to receive an incentive. 
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h. The terms of payment of the Development Incentives will be specified in Development 
Incentive Agreement between the City and the applicant. 

i. If an eligible development becomes part of a condominium corporation or ceases to 
function as rental or supportive housing prior to completion of the term set out in the 
Development Incentives Agreement, the Agreement will become void and the owner 
will be required to repay the Incentives received to date. 

j. The use of secondary suite, affordable rental, market rental or supportive housing 
units for short-term vacation rentals at any point during the term of the Development 
Incentives Agreement without the permission of the City of Dawson will render the 
Agreement for the entire development void and the owner will be required to repay 
the Incentives received to date. 

k. Receipt of a development incentive outlined in this policy does not disqualify an 
applicant from receiving a different Development Incentive provided for by another 
bylaw or policy. An individual or organization may receive more than one 
development incentive, as per the terms of this policy. 

l. Council may not exceed $100,000 in active tax grants (including both Standard and 
Preferred) in any fiscal year. Administration shall report on the total amounts of tax 
grants and fee/charge waivers applied through Development Incentives on an annual 
basis and update Council on the tax granting room available in January of each year.  

m. Applications will be accepted and processed on first-come, first-serve basis.  

n. For development in which a principal residence and secondary suite are constructed 
during the same timeframe, the City shall endeavor to differentiate the improvement 
values attributed to each and apply the Preferred Tax Grant to the value of the 
principal residence and Standard Tax Grant to the value of the secondary suite.  

o. No exceptions shall be made to this policy without the consent of Council.  

3.00 GENERAL ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 

3.1. The following eligibility criteria apply to all developments receiving a Development 
Incentive:  

a.  Any development receiving a Development Incentive must be in compliance with the 
Official Community Plan and the Zoning Bylaw prior to the signing of a Development 
Incentive Agreement.  

b. A development proposal that includes more than one eligible property, contiguous or 
otherwise, will be considered in its entirety for a development incentive so long as all 
applicable Development Permits are obtained within a two-month period, all 
development components are undertaken by the same developer/owner, and all 
construction has commenced within one year of issuance of Development Permits.  

c. Housing-related incentives apply to the creation of new housing units in renovated, 
redeveloped and/or newly constructed buildings.  
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d. Rental and supportive housing units that are part of a mixed-use development in the 
Downtown Core may be eligible for the applicable housing-related Development 
Incentive subject to the ability of the City of Dawson to calculate the portion of 
improvements attributable to the commercial use, for which no Development Incentive 
shall apply.  

e. Any rental or supportive housing developments that are part of a condominium 
corporation will be ineligible for Development Incentives.  

f. Government agencies, at all levels of government, will not be eligible for the 
Development Incentives under this policy. First Nation development corporations are 
eligible.  

g. Organizations that enter into a long-term lease (minimum 20 years) for development 
and/or use of a government-owned property and will be registered with the City of 
Dawson as the taxpayer for the leased property are eligible.    

h. Any applicant for or recipient of a Development Incentive shall not owe any taxes or 
other monies to the City of Dawson.  

4.00 TYPES OF DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES 

4.1. Based on the number of eligibility criteria a proposal meets, there are five types of 
incentive that can be acquired as follows:  

Type Eligibility Incentive 

a) Vacant and/or 
Derelict 
Property 

• New development with a 
minimum construction value of 
$100,000 in the Historic Townsite 

• 5 years Standard Tax Grant 

b) Market Rental 
Housing 

• Minimum of four Market Rental 
Housing units in the Historic 
Townsite 

• 10 years Standard Tax Grant 

c) Supportive 
Housing  

 

• Minimum of four Supportive 
Housing units located anywhere 
within the municipality 

Same as Market Rental Housing 
PLUS 
• Waiver of Load Capacity Charge 
• Waiver of Development Charges 

d) Affordable 
Rental Housing 

• Minimum of four Affordable 
Rental Housing units in the 
Historic Townsite 

Same as Supportive Housing 

e) Secondary 
Suite  

• Secondary suite located 
anywhere within the municipality 

Same as Affordable Rental Housing 
PLUS 
• 3 years Preferred Tax Grant up to 

a maximum of $10,000 
• Waiver of parking requirements 
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5.00 SPECIFIC ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA AND CONDITIONS 

5.1. Secondary Suite Incentive 

a. To acquire a Secondary Suite Incentive the following specific criteria and conditions
must be met:

5.1.a.1. A new secondary suite must be provided within the City of Dawson 
municipal boundaries. 

5.2. Affordable Rental Housing Incentive 

a. To acquire an Affordable Rental Housing Incentive, the following specific eligibility
criteria must be met:

5.2.a.1. A minimum of four new Affordable Rental Housing residential units must be 
provided anywhere within the fully serviced portions of the Historic Townsite; 

5.2.a.2. Rents must be kept affordable for the entire duration of the Standard Tax 
Grant. Rents should be compared on an annual basis against the most recent 
Rent Survey issued by the Yukon Bureau of Statistics. Rents must be reduced if 
found to exceed median market rates, whereas owners are encouraged to 
maintain current rents should they be below median market rates. Recipients are 
to provide this information with their grant request on an annual basis.  

5.3. Supportive Housing Incentive 

a. To acquire a Supportive Housing Incentive the following specific criteria and
conditions must be met:

5.3.a.1. A minimum of four new Supportive Housing units must be provided within 
the City of Dawson municipal boundaries. 

5.4. Market Rental Housing Incentive 

a. To acquire a Market Rental Housing Incentive the following specific criteria and
conditions must be met:

5.4.a.1. A minimum of four new Market Rental Housing units must be provided 
within the City of Dawson municipal boundaries. 

5.5. Vacant and/or Derelict Property Incentive 

a. To acquire a Vacant and/or Derelict Property Incentive the following specific criteria
and conditions must be met:

5.5.a.1. The property in question must have met the definition of derelict and/or 
vacant as of (date of policy passing) and be located within the Historic Townsite; 

5.5.a.2.  The Incentive is not stacked with another housing-related incentive; and, 
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5.5.a.3. The minimum construction value of the planned development is $100,000.   

6.00 PROCEDURE 

6.1. Application – To receive a Development Incentive as laid out in this policy, Developers 
must complete a Development Incentive Application, available from the City of Dawson. 

6.2. Screening – Applications must include a preliminary development plan.  Applications will 
not be eligible for for consideration unless they are in compliance with the Official 
Community Plan and the Zoning Bylaw and meet the minimum eligibility criteria as listed in 
this policy. 

6.3. Approval – The terms of Secondary Suite Incentives will be approved by the Community 
Development Officer. Development Incentives totaling $100,000 or less in combined value 
will be approved by the Chief Administrative Officer, and all other Development Incentives 
will be approved by Council. 

6.4. Administration – For a Preferred or Standard Tax Grant, the City will provide a grant in the 
applicable amount each year until the end of the Incentive term, following an annual 
request from the recipient in writing. Grants will be processed after property owners have 
paid their taxes in full. If a property owner is in arrears of their property taxes they will no 
longer be eligible for the Incentive. 

a. Annual requests must include the following:  

6.4.a.1. A request for the annual grant amount; 

6.4.a.2. A declaration confirming compliance with this policy; and  

6.4.a.3. A list of rents demonstrating compliance with s. 5.2.a.2 of this Policy.  

7.00 EXPIRATION OF DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE 

7.1. The Development Incentive Agreement may be revoked and cancelled if construction has 
not commenced within one year of issuance of Development Permits. 

7.2. The Development Incentive Agreement may be revoked and cancelled if there are 
outstanding open Building Permits remaining one year after occupancy is given for the 
development. 

 

POLICY TITLE:    Development Incentives Policy 

POLICY #:     2019-02 

EFFECTIVE DATE:    July XX, 2019 

ADOPTED BY COUNCIL ON:  July XX, 2019, 2019  

RESOLUTION #:    C19-XX-XX 
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Phase 2 Online Survey Results



50.00% 9

11.11% 2

0.00% 0

22.22% 4

27.78% 5

Q1 Which of the following describes you? You may select more than one
option.

Answered: 18 Skipped: 0

Total Respondents: 18  

I own a
business in...

I work in the
residential...

I have
received...

I have built
my own home...

None of the
above

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

I own a business in Dawson City

I work in the residential construction and/or development field

I have received assistance under the City of Dawson’s Development Incentives Policy

I have built my own home and/or secondary suite

None of the above
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16.67% 3

11.11% 2

11.11% 2

0.00% 0

61.11% 11

0.00% 0

Q2 How long have you lived in Dawson City?
Answered: 18 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 18

Less than 2
years

2-5 years

6-10 years

11-15 years

16 years or
more

N/A - I do not
live in Daws...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Less than 2 years

2-5 years

6-10 years

11-15 years

16 years or more

N/A - I do not live in Dawson City
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22.22% 4

77.78% 14

Q3 Did you complete the previous survey about development incentives
in May?

Answered: 18 Skipped: 0

TOTAL 18

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No
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Q4 Please indicate your level of agreement with the following elements of
Council's direction:

Answered: 15 Skipped: 3

Prioritizing
secondary...

Prioritizing
affordable...

Not providing
incentives f...
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7.14%
1

21.43%
3

35.71%
5

21.43%
3

7.14%
1

7.14%
1

 
14

7.14%
1

21.43%
3

21.43%
3

7.14%
1

42.86%
6

0.00%
0

 
14

42.86%
6

21.43%
3

21.43%
3

7.14%
1

7.14%
1

0.00%
0

 
14

28.57%
4

28.57%
4

0.00%
0

28.57%
4

7.14%
1

7.14%
1

 
14

Strongly disagree Disagree Neither agree nor disagree Agree

Strongly agree Don't know

Discontinuing
eligibility ...

Continuing
housing-rela...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

 STRONGLY
DISAGREE

DISAGREE NEITHER
AGREE NOR
DISAGREE

AGREE STRONGLY AGREE DON'T
KNOW

TOTAL

Prioritizing secondary rental suites
over multi-unit rental
developments

Prioritizing affordable rental and
supportive housing developments
over market rental developments

Not providing incentives for home
ownership related development

Discontinuing eligibility for
commercial portions of mixed-use
(i.e. commercial + residential)
developments
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26.67%
4

0.00%
0

6.67%
1

13.33%
2

53.33%
8

0.00%
0

 
15

Continuing housing-related
incentives in general
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7.14% 1

0.00% 0

7.14% 1

28.57% 4

42.86% 6

14.29% 2

Q5 In addition to housing-related incentives, Council directed City
administration and consultant to explore incentives to promote the

development of vacant and/or derelict properties. Please indicate your
level of agreement with this idea:

Answered: 14 Skipped: 4

TOTAL 14

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither
support nor...

Support

Strongly
support

Don't know

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither support nor oppose

Support

Strongly support

Don't know
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Q6 If you indicated opposition to Council's development priorities, please
tell us why. (Please skip ahead to the next question if you indicated

support)
Answered: 3 Skipped: 15

# RESPONSES DATE

1 Regarding mixed use/commercial developments - there is also a huge lack of commercial office
space in the community, which should also be a municipal priority in order to encourage economic
growth of our community.

7/3/2019 8:50 AM

2 Year round pool 7/1/2019 11:23 PM

3 If you assist homeowners fix their homes adequately, they wouldn't need to rent something
adequate for their needs. Once their needs are met, the homeowners could then add a rental unit
to assist their income and aid the community. Also having rental units over stores and other
quieter commercial businesses would also aid the community with rentals.

6/27/2019 10:37 PM
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Q7 In general, how supportive are you of the proposed incentives?
Answered: 12 Skipped: 6

Vacant and/or
Derelict...

Market Rental
Housing

Supportive
Housing
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0.00%
0

0.00%
0

16.67%
2

33.33%
4

50.00%
6

0.00%
0 12 4.33

0.00%
0

16.67%
2

16.67%
2

16.67%
2

50.00%
6

0.00%
0 12 4.00

0.00%
0

8.33%
1

25.00%
3

16.67%
2

50.00%
6

0.00%
0 12 4.08

0.00%
0

8.33%
1

16.67%
2

25.00%
3

50.00%
6

0.00%
0 12 4.17

8.33%
1

0.00%
0

8.33%
1

33.33%
4

50.00%
6

0.00%
0 12 4.17

Strongly oppose Oppose Neither support nor oppose Support

Strongly support I don't know

Affordable
Rental Housing

Secondary
Suites

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

STRONGLY
OPPOSE

OPPOSE NEITHER
SUPPORT NOR
OPPOSE

SUPPORT STRONGLY
SUPPORT

I
DON'T
KNOW

TOTAL WEIGHTED
AVERAGE

Vacant and/or
Derelict Property

Market Rental
Housing

Supportive
Housing

Affordable Rental
Housing

Secondary Suites
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Q8 If you indicated opposition to any of the proposed incentives, please
tell us why. (Please skip ahead to the next question if you indicated

support)
Answered: 4 Skipped: 14

# RESPONSES DATE

1 I think it is important to consider how to make it explicitly clear what the criteria are for a vacant
property and how eligibility would be proven. People in Dawson love to find loopholes and cheat
the system and even the best-laid plans go awry because of this. I also think it would be a disaster
to waive parking requirements for development without ensuring that our bylaw officer has
adequate authority to enforce on-street parking bylaws so that our roads don't turn into a giant
parking lot. People shouldn't be able to park their vehicles, boats, trailers, etc and not have them
move for months at a time. There needs to be a check and balance for parking to make sure that
there are systems in place for people who for whatever reason end up without a place to park their
vehicle.

7/4/2019 3:32 PM

2 Market price is a scam just like minimum wage 7/1/2019 11:25 PM

3 Not enough a) regulations for secondary suites and will b) bring about a host of problems and then
c) who is going to be monitoring that?

7/1/2019 9:23 PM

4 We need more lots opened up. More development in the Country residential and city lots out side
of downtown core. Make more land avaible for building. They need to get moving on a subdivision
development to relieve the pressure on the down town area. This will lower prices. In reality we
don’t take enough taxes in to support city councils spending habits and now we want to give it
away. Use the money to provide infrastructure so people can build

6/28/2019 7:48 AM
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Q9 The consultant heard repeatedly that the economics of development
in Dawson are such that even with incentives and other available funding,

multi-unit housing projects are barely viable. Current and prospective
recipients of incentives urged the City to make the policy as flexible as
possible in order to allow them to leverage other funding sources and
develop in a highly land-constrained community.Please indicate your

level of support for the following proposed revisions, designed to make
the policy more flexible:

Answered: 11 Skipped: 7

Extending
eligibility ...

Extending
eligibility ...

Extending
eligibility ...
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9.09%
1

0.00%
0

9.09%
1

36.36%
4

45.45%
5

 
11

 
4.09

18.18%
2

0.00%
0

18.18%
2

27.27%
3

36.36%
4

 
11

 
3.64

20.00%
2

10.00%
1

20.00%
2

20.00%
2

30.00%
3

 
10

 
3.30

9.09%
1

9.09%
1

0.00%
0

45.45%
5

36.36%
4

 
11

 
3.91

Strongly oppose Oppose Neither support nor oppose Support

Strongly support

Removing
funding caps...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

 STRONGLY
OPPOSE

OPPOSE NEITHER
SUPPORT
NOR
OPPOSE

SUPPORT STRONGLY
SUPPORT

TOTAL WEIGHTED
AVERAGE

Extending eligibility for multi-unit
developments to the fully serviced
portions of the Historic Townsite (vs.
Downtown Core only)

Extending eligibility to non-profit
organizations leasing government-
owned land

Extending eligibility to First Nation
development corporations (but not
other governments)

Removing funding caps that provided a
major advantage to larger (8+) vs
smaller (4-7) unit buildings
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Q10 If you indicated opposition to any of the proposed revisions indicated
above, please tell us why. (Please skip ahead to the next question if you

indicated support)
Answered: 4 Skipped: 14

# RESPONSES DATE

1 No mention of housing co-ops 7/1/2019 11:27 PM

2 I feel if you gave these organizations the land for free or bigger tax incentives they would still be
asking for more. The city needs to provide the land and infrastructure so people can build. When
there is no land avaible prices are hi

6/28/2019 7:57 AM

3 The first nation government is still a government and has a lot of money to support housing
initiatives. There is no need for any government to take from this fund that is meant for your
average homeowner.

6/28/2019 12:32 AM

4 Larger buildings like the 20-plex is next to impossible to prove whoch are the damaging and/or
abusive tenants, smoking/bloody biohazards in halls/using owner's hydro for free, etc. Animals are
necessary for many people's mental and physical health but not conducive to large stacked up
apartments, without adequate outside pet areas.

6/27/2019 10:59 PM
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25.00% 3

0.00% 0

16.67% 2

41.67% 5

16.67% 2

Q11 The initial public survey and some stakeholder input indicated there
is concern about the City's financial capacity to offer unlimited tax relief

for new developments. The new revised policy proposes a maximum cap
of "active" tax incentives of $100,000 - to be calculated on an annual

basis. (This means that no more than $100,000 in taxes could be granted
back to recipients at any given time). Please indicate your level of

support for placing an overall cap of $100,000 on development-related
tax incentives:
Answered: 12 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 12

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither
support nor...

Support

Strongly
support

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly oppose

Oppose

Neither support nor oppose

Support

Strongly support
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Q12 If you indicated opposition to the proposed cap, please tell us why.
(Please skip ahead to the next question if you indicated support)

Answered: 3 Skipped: 15

# RESPONSES DATE

1 This is absolutely insane. What incentives is the city going to offer to the existing developments
that are struggling

6/28/2019 7:57 AM

2 Looking to the future supporting new developments makes more sense. It not smart to look at just
the money today - we need to look at the future.

6/28/2019 12:32 AM

3 100000 in tax relief per year seems incredibly, dangerously generous 6/27/2019 11:49 PM
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Q13 Please provide any other comments you may have about the DRAFT
revised Development Incentives Policy (a complete version can be found

on the City's website):
Answered: 2 Skipped: 16

# RESPONSES DATE

1 Spending money on consultants is a huge waste of tax payers money. A summer student could
have come up with the very basic survey that you likely paid thousands of dollars to prepare.
Spend your money more wisely and stop getting consultant after consultant to make bad surveys
for you. Its a misuse of publics funds and I'm sure you are aware of that.

6/28/2019 12:32 AM

2 Actually I just sat through this whole thing so I could voice my displeasure at seeing another 
private consultant get paid (how much?) to make another surveymonkey survey. As if this couldn’t 
have been executed by the city development summer student. Pretty ridiculous and wholly 
unsurprising at this point. I guess                         was already busy charging $200 an hour on 
another project, or they could have been available for this too? What a joke.

6/27/2019 11:49 PM

17 / 17

DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES POLICY SURVEY #2 SurveyMonkey



 95 

 
 

APPENDIX G 

 

Record of Council Discussions



1)   May 27 Committee of the Whole (COW) meeting  
 
The consultant’s initial background report was presented to Council in advance of the May 27 meeting 
but most of Council had not yet had time to review. Key points made by Council during the meeting 
included: 
 

•   The original rationale for the policy was affordable rental housing; ownership-based housing was 
not the intention  

•   The policy has been effective in encouraging development but the need is still there and 
incentives should continue 

•   There may need to be bigger incentives for secondary suites to encourage more of this 
development 

•   The topic is “dense” and “dry” and it will be hard to interest the public; however, survey results 
indicate that education is needed  

•   Moving from tax incentives to cash-funded grants may be too big a step for Council 
•   Staff and student housing need to be included in the policy as they are key needs 
•   In general, Council should be making it easier for people to build affordable homes in town. 

Working with YG to make land available is the way for Council to have the biggest impact  
 
It should be noted that Development Cost Charges were discussed only very briefly. Council requested 
more time to review the background report.  
  
2)   June 17 Committee of the Whole (COW) meeting  
 
The consultant undertook some additional research to provide Council with more information to 
consider during the June 17th meeting. Council discussion included the following key points:  
 

•   The priority for the policy is rental housing. In descending order of priority, this would include 
secondary suites (affordable or otherwise), affordable rentals, and market rentals.  

•   Council reiterated the need to make the policy as effective as possible in addressing the 
development constraints inherent to Dawson City. This includes ensuring the incentives program 
is promoted and easy to understand.  

•   Secondary suite incentives need to be increased somehow.  
•   Student and staff housing must be encouraged as these are key needs.  
•   Incentives to counterbalance the building removal provisions of the Zoning Bylaw (i.e. $7500 

charge) should be investigated.  
•   The extension of geographic eligibility to the entire Historic Townsite could alter the quiet 

residential character of some areas. For example, the addition of 8-plexes outside of the 
Downtown Core may be an unintended consequence of the policy.  

•   Cash-funded grants are not desired at this time.  
 

Again, there was insufficient time left in the agenda for a fulsome discussion of Development Cost 
Charges recommendations.  

 
 
 
 



3) July 8 Committee of the Whole (COW) meeting

The July 8th COW meeting discussion focused on a brief review of Phase 2 engagement results and a 
more in-depth discussion of the draft revised policy (June 27 version). Council discussion included the 
following key points:  

• There are still concerns about incentivizing higher density developments located outside of the
Downtown Core (note that City administration explained to Council that the Zoning Bylaw
amendment process which would be required would allow for a case-by-case consideration of
such elements as heritage character, streetscape impacts, etc. and allow for the rejection of
development applications not able to sufficiently address these concerns).

• The definition of “Load Capacity Charge” should be changed to reflect how the monies
collected are actually being used. In fact, the LCC should be eliminated entirely in the interests
of making housing more affordable in Dawson and to reflect the reality that the City does not
assume fiscal responsibility for major infrastructure upgrades. (Conversely, others felt that the
collection of a DCC is fiscally prudent. The consultant noted that the definition simply mirrors the
Reserves Bylaw.)

• The definition of “development fees” should be clarified.
• The maximum program cap of $100,000 should apply at any time versus per specific fiscal year.
• The proposed vacant/derelict property tax requirement of $100,000 of investment may be too

high for Dawson. Much smaller capital investments can make a substantial difference. The
incentive will also need to consider how to value in-kind labour provided by property owners.
The subjectivity around the determination of “derelict” properties could pose problems.

• The geographic eligibility for supportive housing should be restricted to only those portions of
town west of the Klondike River bridge to encourage a more compact development pattern.

• Additional secondary suite incentives could include free City labour to do the groundwork
associated with a service hook-up.

Again, there was insufficient time for a fulsome discussion of DCCs (although one Councillor’s opposition 
to the continuation of the LCC was duly noted). The other key element which was not discussed was the 
issue of home ownership incentives. In order to advance discussion of this issue in the time remaining, 
Groundswell furnished an updated version including an additional level of incentive for home ownership 
for discussion on July 17.  

This update also included a sample list of candidate “underdeveloped” properties with associated 
improvement values.  

4) July 17 working meeting

An additional meeting was convened so that City administration and Council could work through a final 
revised version of the policy prior to the final Committee of the Whole meeting before the project’s 
conclusion. Key direction included:  

• Home ownership related incentives are more complex and Council does not have time to duly
consider them within the time remaining for the project; the focus for this iteration of the policy
will be limited to rental housing.



•   Secondary suite incentives should not be further expanded. The incentive can be simplified to a 
grant on all of the improvements (principal residence and secondary suites) versus requiring the 
calculation of which improvements relate to each.  

•   The definition of LCC should stand until there is time to revisit the associated bylaws.  
•   Geographic eligibility should extend to the Historic Townsite for rental housing but not be 

further restricted for supportive housing.  
•   The thresholds of $35,000 (for residential) and $60,000 (for commercial) in improvements and a 

minimum $75,000 construction value (as demonstrated through a professional quote) provide 
sufficient guidance for the vacant and underdeveloped property incentive.  

  
It should be noted that the $35,000 and $60,000 thresholds proposed were based on the assessed 
improvement values for a sample of candidate “underdeveloped” properties located within the Historic 
Townsite. The highest 2018 assessment value for properties that were deemed by Groundswell and City 
administration to be suitable for incentives was used as the upper limit for each class of property.  
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City  of  Dawson  
          Development  Incentives  Policy  

          #  2019-­02  

BACKGROUND  

There   is   currently   a   need   for   rental      housing   –   including   supportive,   affordable   rental,   and  
market  rental  housing,  -­  in  the  City  of  Dawson.  These  needs  can  be  addressed  through  a  variety  
of  options  including  mixed-­use  and  multi-­unit  residential  buildings,  secondary  suites,  and  other  
types  of  housing  developments.   Increased  Historic  Townsite  development  would   further   the  
City’s  sustainability  objectives  for  a  more  compact  development  pattern  and  take  advantage  of  
existing  services;;  further,  the  conversion  of  underdeveloped  and  vacant  properties  increases  
economic   and   community   vitality.   These   types   of   development   help   to   meet   the   Official  
Community  Plan  goals  and  policies.  

Council   recognizes   that   land   constraints,   high   construction   costs,   and   other   factors   pose  
serious  constraints  to  the  supply  of  housing  and  optimum  land  use  in  Dawson  City,  and  that  a  
subsidy  may  be   required.   The  City  does   have  a   role   in   land  development,   permitting,   and  
taxation,   through  which   it  may  encourage  development  where   it   is  not  being   initiated  under  
normal  market  conditions.  

City  of  Dawson   fees  and  charges  are   low  relative   to  other   jurisdictions,  and  many   fees  are  
based  on  cost  recovery,  making  it  challenging  to  reduce  or  grant  these  costs  without  impacting  
operating  budgets.  It  is  desirable  for  the  City  to  use  a  model  that  provides  significant  financial  
incentives   for   strategic   development,   while   limiting   the   short-­term   financial   impact   on   the  
operational  budget.  

POLICY  STATEMENT  

The   City   of   Dawson   will   provide   financial   incentives   for   projects   that   provide   rental   units,  
supportive  housing,  and  multi-­unit  residential  buildings  and/or  convert  vacant  and/or  derelict  
properties  into  more  beneficial  land  uses.  

Undeveloped  or  run-­down  properties  essentially  provide  little  more  than  the  land  value.  This  
policy   provides   economic   development   incentives   to   encourage   targeted   residential  
development  and  increase  future  tax  income  for  the  City.  
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1.00   Definitions  

1.1.  The  following  terms  are  used  within  this  policy  and  are  defined  as  follows:  

a. “affordable  rental  housing”  means  rental  housing  that  is  provided  at  or  below  the  
median market  housing   rents  for  comparable  housing  as  presented  by   the  Yukon  
Bureau  of Statistics  in  the  Yukon  Rent  Survey.  In  the  event  that  this  definition  conflicts  
with  that of  a  funding  program  through  which  an  owner  is  seeking  financial  support  for  
the  same development,  the  definition  of  the  other  funding  program  shall  apply.

b. “base  rate”  means  the  rate  calculated  as  the  value  of  the  tax  levy  for  improvements  
on the  property  paid  on  July  2nd   in  the  year  that   the  Development  Permit   for   the  
eligible development   is   issued.   In   the   case   where   existing   buildings   or   
structures   were demolished  prior  to  issuance  of  a  Development  Permit  for  an  eligible  
development,  the base  rate  will  be  zero.

c. “development   fee”   means   the   fee(s)   associated   with   development   permit   and 
development  incentive  applications.

d. “development   incentive”   means   contributions   made   by   the   City   of   Dawson   for 
developments  meeting  the  eligibility  criteria  provided  in  this  policy.

e. “Downtown”   means   the   area   defined   within   the   Official   Community   Plan   as   the 
Downtown  Core.

f. “historic  townsite”  means  the  area  defined  within  the  Official  Community  Plan  as  the 
Historic  Townsite.

g. “load  capacity  charge”  means  the  charge,  as   listed   in  the  Fees  and  Charges  Bylaw, 
levied  against  new  development  by  the  City  of  Dawson  to  recover  costs  associated  
with increased  load  on  the  water/sewer  system.

h. “market  rental  housing”  means  housing  that  is  provided  at  above  the  median  market 
housing  rents  for  comparable  housing  as  presented  by  the  Yukon  Bureau  of  Statistics 
in  the  Yukon  Rent  Survey.

i. “mixedA use”  means  a  building  containing  a  mixture  of  commercial  and  residential  
uses.

j. “preferred  tax  grant”  means  a  yearly  monetary  grant  in  the  amount  that  the  developer 
paid  in  municipal  tax  as  a  result  of  the  assessed  value  of  improvements on  the  
property.

k. “rental  housing”  means  any  formation  of  multiA unit  residential  housing  development  
that is  retained  by  a  single  owner,  with  units  that  are  available  to  rent  on  a  monthly  or  
semiA monthly   basis.   Rental   units   must   be   retained   as   one   legal   entity   and   
cannot   be subdivided  through  a  condominium  process,  even  if  all  units  are  retained  
by  one  owner.

l. “secondary  suite”  means  a  secondary  suite  as  defined  by  the  City  of  Dawson  Zoning 
Bylaw.

m. “standard  tax  grant”  means  a  yearly  monetary  grant  in  the  amount  that  the  developer
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would  have  paid  in  annual  municipal  taxes  as  a  result  of  improvements  to  the  property  
that  are  the  subject  of  the  applicable  incentive.    

n.     “supportive  housing”  means  the  use  of  a  building  for  residential  dwelling  units  that  is  
owned   and   operated   by   a   non-­profit   agency   or   non-­government   organization   and  
designed  to  accommodate  tenants  who  require  assistance.  Typical  uses  would  include  
assisted  housing  for  seniors  or  assisted  housing  for  people  with  disabilities.  

o.   “short  term  vacation  rental”  means  the  provision  of  rental  accommodation  for  less  than  
30  consecutive  days  to  a  primary  tenant  whose  purpose  for  residing  in  Dawson  City  is  
vacationing.  

p.   “underdeveloped   property”   means   a   property   for   which   the   value   of   assessed  
improvements  is  less  than  $35,000  in  an  R-­zone  or  less  than  $60,000  in  any  other  zone.    

q.   “vacant  property”  means  a  property  that  does  not  contain  a  primary  building  or  structure  
aligned  with  the  intended  use  of  the  property  as  set  out  in  the  Zoning  Bylaw.  A  property  
may  be  considered  vacant  if  an  accessory  building  or  structure,  as  defined  in  the  Zoning  
Bylaw,  is  present.    

2.00   DEVELOPMENT  INCENTIVES  –  GENERAL  

2.1.  Based  on  the  eligibility  criteria  listed  in  this  policy,  an  applicant  may  apply  for  a  development  
incentive  as  follows:  

a.   Incentives  as  outlined   in   the   following   section  will   be   considered  by   the  City  and,   if  
granted,  will  be  incorporated  in  a  Development  Incentive  Agreement.  

b.   Taxes  applied  to  the  value  of  land  are  not  available  for  reduction  or  grant.  

c.   The  annual  value  of  a  Standard  Tax  Grant  will  be  calculated  by  subtracting  the  Base  
Rate  and  the  portion  of  the  tax  levy  on  the  value  of  the  land  from  the  full  annual  tax  levy  
paid  on  July  2nd  for  the  duration  of  the  Development  Incentive  Agreement.  The  Base  
Rate  will  be  calculated  at  the  time  of  issuance  of  the  Development  Permit.    

d.   The  value  of  a  Preferred  Tax  Grant  will  be  calculated  by  subtracting  the  portion  of  the  
tax  levy  on  the  value  of  the  land  from  the  full  annual  tax  levy  as  paid  on  July  2nd  for  the  
duration  of  the  Development  Incentive  Agreement.    

e.   Payment  of  tax  grant  portions  of  a  Development  Incentive  will  begin  once  an  eligible  
development  has  received  occupancy  for  all  units.  Any  taxes  paid  to  the  City  prior  to  
occupancy  will  not  be  eligible  for  a  grant  under  this  policy.  

f.   The  tax  grant  portion  of  a  Development  Incentive  will  be  implemented  through  a  grant  
to  the  property  owner.  Tax  grants  will  be  processed  after  July  2nd  annually.  

g.   Development  Incentives  will  not  be  applied  retroactively  for  projects  which  have  already  
received  a  Development   Permit.   This   includes   permits   that   have  been   cancelled   or  
lapsed  and  reapplied  for  in  an  effort  to  receive  an  incentive.  

h.   The  terms  of  payment  of  the  Development  Incentives  will  be  specified  in  Development  
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Incentive  Agreement  between  the  City  and  the  applicant.  

i.   If   an  eligible   secondary   suite,  affordable   rental,  market   rental   or   supportive  housing  
housing  development  becomes  part  of  a  condominium  corporation  or  ceases  to  function  
as   rental   or   supportive   housing   prior   to   completion   of   the   term   set   out   in   the  
Development  Incentives  Agreement,  the  Agreement  will  become  void  and  the  owner  
will  be  required  to  repay  the  Incentives  received  to  date.  

j.   The  use  of  secondary  suite,  affordable  rental,  market  rental,  or  supportive  housing  units    
for   short-­term   vacation   rentals   at   any   point   during   the   term   of   the   Development  
Incentives  Agreement  without   the   permission  of   the  City  of   Dawson  will   render   the  
Agreement  for  the  entire  development  void  and  the  owner  will  be  required  to  repay  the  
Incentives  received  to  date.  

k.   Receipt   of   a   development   incentive   outlined   in   this   policy   does   not   disqualify   an  
applicant  from  receiving  a  different  incentive,  grant,  or  funding  opportunity  provided  for  
by  another  bylaw,  policy,  or  organization.  A  development    is  only  eligible  to  receive  one    
incentive  enacted  under  this  policy.  

l.   The  City  shall  not  exceed  a  $100,000  value  in  active  tax  grants  (including  both  Standard  
and  Preferred)  at  any  given  time.  Administration  shall  report  on  the  total  amounts  of  tax  
grants  and  fee/charge  waivers  applied  through  Development  Incentives  on  an  annual  
basis  and  update  Council  on  the  tax  granting  room  available  in  January  of  each  year.    

m.   Applications  will  be  accepted  and  processed  on  first-­come,  first-­serve  basis.    

n.   No   exceptions   shall   be   made   to   this   policy   without   the   consent   of   Council.   Both  
administration  and  Council  retain  the  right  to  decline  an  application  that  conforms  with  
the  policy  in  wording  but  it  deems  does  not  meet  its  intent.    

3.00   GENERAL  ELIGIBILITY  CRITERIA  

3.1.  The  following  eligibility  criteria  apply  to  all  developments  receiving  a  Development  Incentive:    

a.   Any  development  receiving  a  Development  Incentive  must  be  in  compliance  with  the  
Official  Community  Plan  and  the  Zoning  Bylaw  prior  to  the  signing  of  a  Development  
Incentive  Agreement.    

b.   A  development  proposal  that  includes  more  than  one  eligible  property,  contiguous  or  
otherwise,  will  be  considered  in  its  entirety  for  a  development  incentive  so  long  as  all  
applicable   Development   Permits   are   obtained   within   a   two-­month   period,   all  
development   components   are   undertaken   by   the   same   developer/owner,   and   all  
construction  has  commenced  within  one  year  of  issuance  of  Development  Permits.    

c.   Housing-­related   incentives  apply   to   the   creation  of   new  housing  units   in   renovated,  
redeveloped  and/or  newly  constructed  buildings.    

d.   Vacant   and/or   underdeveloped   property   incentives   apply   to   renovations,  
redevelopment,  and/or  new  construction.    

e.   Rental  and  supportive  housing  units  that  are  part  of  a  mixed-­use  development  in  the  
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Downtown   Core   may   be   eligible   for   the   applicable   housing-­related   Development  
Incentive   subject   to   the   ability   of   the   City   of   Dawson   to   calculate   the   portion   of  
improvements  attributable  to  the  commercial  use,  for  which  no  Development  Incentive  
shall  apply.    

f.   Any   rental   or   supportive   housing   developments   that   are   part   of   a   condominium  
corporation  will  be  ineligible  for  Development  Incentives.    

g.   Government   agencies,   at   all   levels   of   government,   will   not   be   eligible   for   the  
Development  Incentives  under  this  policy.  First  Nation  development  corporations  are  
eligible.    

h.   Organizations  that  enter   into  a   long-­term  lease  (minimum  20  years)  for  development  
and/or   use  of   a   government-­owned  property  and  will   be   registered  with   the  City  of  
Dawson  as  the  taxpayer  for  the  leased  property  are  eligible.        

i.   Any  applicant  for  or  recipient  of  a  Development  Incentive  shall  not  owe  any  taxes  or  
other  monies  to  the  City  of  Dawson.    

4.00   TYPES  OF  DEVELOPMENT  INCENTIVES  

4.1.  Based  on  the  number  of  eligibility  criteria  a  proposal  meets,  there  are  six  types  of  incentive  
that  can  be  acquired  as  follows:    

Type   Eligibility   Incentive  

a)  Vacant  and/or  
Underdeveloped  
Property  

•  Development  with  a  minimum  
construction  value  of  $75,000  in  the  
Historic  Townsite  

•   5  years  Standard  Tax  Grant  

b)  Market  Rental  
Housing  

•  Minimum  of  four  Market  Rental  
Housing  units  in  the  Historic  Townsite  

•   10  years  Standard  Tax  Grant  

c)  Supportive  
Housing    

•  Minimum  of  four  Supportive  Housing  
units  located  anywhere  within  the  
municipality  

•   10  years  Standard  Tax  Grant    
•   Waiver  of  Load  Capacity  Charge  
•   Waiver  of  Development  Fees  

d)  Affordable  
Rental  Housing  

•  Minimum  of  four  Affordable  Rental  
Housing  units  in  the  Historic  Townsite  

•   10  years  Standard  Tax  Grant  
•   Waiver  of  Load  Capacity  Charge  
•   Waiver  of  Development  Fees  

e)  Secondary  
Suite    

•  Secondary  suite  located  anywhere  
within  the  municipality  

•   3  years  Preferred  Tax  Grant  
•   Waiver  of  Load  Capacity  Charge  
•   Waiver  of  Development  Fees  
•   Waiver  of  parking  requirements  
for  secondary  suite  

  

5.00   SPECIFIC  ELIGIBILITY  CRITERIA  AND  CONDITIONS  

5.1.  Secondary  Suite  Incentive  
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a.   To  acquire  a  Secondary  Suite  Incentive  the   following  specific  criteria  and  conditions  
must  be  met:  

5.1.a.1.   A  new  secondary  suite  must  be  provided  within  the  City  of  Dawson  municipal  
boundaries.    

5.2.  Affordable  Rental  Housing  Incentive  

a.   To   acquire   an   Affordable   Rental   Housing   Incentive,   the   following   specific   eligibility  
criteria  must  be  met:  

5.2.a.1.   A  minimum  of  four  new  Affordable  Rental  Housing  residential  units  must  be  
provided  anywhere  within  the  fully  serviced  portions  of  the  Historic  Townsite;;    

5.2.a.2.   Rents  must   be   kept   affordable   for   the   entire   duration   of   the   Standard   Tax  
Grant.  Rents  should  be  compared  on  an  annual  basis  against  the  most  recent  Rent  
Survey  issued  by  the  Yukon  Bureau  of  Statistics.  Rents  must  be  reduced  if  found  
to   exceed   median   market   rates,   whereas   owners   are   encouraged   to   maintain  
current  rents  should  they  be  below  median  market  rates.  Recipients  are  to  provide  
this  information  with  their  grant  request  on  an  annual  basis.    

5.3.  Supportive  Housing  Incentive  

a.   To  acquire  a  Supportive  Housing  Incentive  the  following  specific  criteria  and  conditions  
must  be  met:  

5.3.a.1.   A  minimum  of  four  new  Supportive  Housing  units  must  be  provided  within  the  
City  of  Dawson  municipal  boundaries.    

5.4.  Market  Rental  Housing  Incentive  

a.   To   acquire   a   Market   Rental   Housing   Incentive   the   following   specific   criteria   and  
conditions  must  be  met:  

5.4.a.1.   A  minimum  of  four  new  Market  Rental  Housing  units  must  be  provided  within  
the  City  of  Dawson  municipal  boundaries.    

6.00   PROCEDURE  

6.1.  Application  –  To  receive  a  Development  Incentive  as  laid  out  in  this  policy,  Developers  must  
complete  a  Development  Incentive  Application,  available  from  the  City  of  Dawson.  

6.2.  Screening  –  Applications  must   include  a  preliminary  development  plan.    Applications  will  
not  be  eligible  for  consideration  unless  they  are  in  compliance  with  the  Official  Community  
Plan  and  the  Zoning  Bylaw  and  meet  the  minimum  eligibility  criteria  as  listed  in  this  policy.  

6.3.  Approval  –  The  terms  of  Secondary  Suite  Incentives  will  be  approved  by  the  Community  
Development  Officer.  Development  Incentives  totaling  $100,000  or  less  in  combined  value  
will  be  approved  by  the  Chief  Administrative  Officer,  and  all  other  Development  Incentives  
will  be  approved  by  Council.  

6.4.  Administration  –  For  a  Preferred  or  Standard  Tax  Grant,  the  City  will  provide  a  grant  in  the  
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applicable  amount  each  year  until  the  end  of  the  Incentive  term,  following  an  annual  request  
from  the  recipient  in  writing.  Grants  will  be  processed  after  property  owners  have  paid  their  
taxes  in  full.  If  a  property  owner  is  in  arrears  of  their  property  taxes  they  will  no  longer  be  
eligible  for  the  Incentive.  

a.   Annual  requests  must  include  the  following:    

6.4.a.1.   A  request  for  the  annual  grant  amount;;  

6.4.a.2.   A  declaration  confirming  compliance  with  this  policy;;  and    

6.4.a.3.   A  list  of  rents  demonstrating  compliance  with  s.  5.2.a.2  of  this  Policy.    

7.00   EXPIRATION  OF  DEVELOPMENT  INCENTIVE  

7.1.  The  Development  Incentive  Agreement  may  be  revoked  and  cancelled  if  construction  has  
not  commenced  within  one  year  of  issuance  of  Development  Permits.  

7.2.  The   Development   Incentive   Agreement   may   be   revoked   and   cancelled   if   there   are  
outstanding  open  Building  Permits   remaining   one   year   after   occupancy   is   given   for   the  
development.  
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SUBJECT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 3 

PREPARED 
BY: 

Libby Macphail, Planning and 
Development Assistant  

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Zoning By-Law Amendment No. 3  
 DATE: July 23, 2019 

RELEVANT BYLAWS / POLICY / 
LEGISLATION: 
Cannabis Control and Regulation Act 
Official Community Plan 
Zoning Bylaw 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

It is respectfully recommended that Council pass Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 3 Bylaw 
through first reading.  

ISSUE  

Yukon Government passed the Cannabis Control and Regulation Act in 2018. The regulations 
specify regulations that must be followed by all licensees and indicates that some regulations 
may be varied by municipalities. Council reviewed which regulations they wished to vary on 
June 8, 2019 and provided direction to administration.  

ANALYSIS / DISCUSSION / ALIGNMENT TO OCP & STRATEGIC PRIORITIES  

Added Definitions: “Indoor Cannabis Facility” and “Indoor Growing Facility” 

Council indicated that they wished to see an added definition for an “Indoor Growing Facility” 
that would encapsulate cannabis growing and food growing (such as hydroponics). Upon further 
investigation by administration, it was deemed that the two uses should be separated, as the 
Government of Canada Licensing for growing cannabis is complex. Cannabis businesses can 
apply for licenses that include three different activities: cultivating cannabis (growing cannabis 
products), producing cannabis (creation of goods such as oils), and packaging cannabis. 
Because there are stricter licensing requirements for the aforementioned cannabis activities, it is 
prudent to align to federal legislative wording and separate the definitions.  

 

 



Specific Use Regulations: Setbacks  

The setback distance was modified to include no setbacks between Cannabis Retail Services 
and a setback of 100m from the main entrance of Robert Service School. Council had 
discussed that allowing Cannabis Retail Services only in C1: Core Commercial would be 
sufficient enough in reducing potential land use conflicts, while also not unduly restricting 
Cannabis Retail Service business owners. However, Council still wished to reduce the land use 
conflict of Cannabis Retail Services next to Robert Service School. Administration responded by 
adding a setback distance from the main entrance of the school of 100 m. This distance was 
determined by visiting the school and visually determining what areas could be seen from the 
door and cross-referenced using Yukon Lands Viewer.  

Specific Use Regulations: Non-Regulated Goods   

Council indicated that they desired Cannabis Retail Services to have the ability to sell non-
regulated goods, including non-regulated goods that promote cannabis. By allowing Cannabis 
Retail Services to have the ability to sell non-regulated goods, it does not impact the two 
licensed business models; stand-alone stores and stores with dedicated cannabis areas. The 
purpose behind these two business models is not regarding the sale of non-regulated goods, it 
is to regulate whether or not minors can enter the premises. In the stand-alone store model, 
minors are not allowed on the premises. In the stores with dedicated cannabis areas model, 
minors are allowed on the premises, but not in the dedicated cannabis area. 

Permitted Use in Zones  

Council discussed that they were comfortable with “Indoor Cannabis Facility” and “Indoor 
Growing Facility” uses being outside of the historic townsite. These uses were added to zone 
C2: Commercial Mixed Use and M1: Industrial, which are present in the Klondike Valley.   

 
APPROVAL 

NAME: Cory Bellmore, CAO SIGNATURE: 

DATE:  

 

 



 

 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 3 Bylaw 

Bylaw No. 2019-08 

 

 

WHEREAS section 265 of the Municipal Act, RSY 2002, c. 154, and amendments thereto, 
provides that a council may pass bylaws for municipal purposes.   
  
WHEREAS section 288 of the Municipal Act, RSY 2002, c. 154, and amendments thereto, 
provides that a council, within two years after the adoption of an official community plan, or as 
soon as is practicable after the adoption of an amendment to an official community plan, a 
council must adopt a zoning bylaw. 
 
WHEREAS section 288 of the Municipal Act, RSY 2002, c. 154, and amendments thereto, 
provides that no person shall carry out any development that is contrary to or at variance with a 
zoning bylaw.  
 
THEREFORE, pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Act of the Yukon, the council of the 
City of Dawson, in open meeting assembled, ENACT AS FOLLOWS: 
 
PART I - INTERPRETATION 
 
1.00 Short Title 

 
This bylaw may be cited as the Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 3. 
 

2.00 Purpose 
 

2.01 The purpose of this bylaw is to provide for  
 
(a) An amendment to the Zoning Bylaw specific use regulations to include regulations 

for Cannabis Retail Services. 
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3.00 Definitions 
 

3.01 In this Bylaw: 
 

(a) Unless expressly provided for elsewhere within this bylaw the provisions of the 
Interpretations Act, RSY 2002, c. 125, shall apply; 

 
(b) "Bylaw Enforcement Officer" means a person employed by the City of Dawson to 

enforce bylaws; 
 

(c) “Cannabis Retail Services” means the retail sale of cannabis and products 
containing cannabis to the public; this includes storing cannabis onsite to support 
the operations of those premises, as described in the Zoning By-Law Section 2.2.  

 
(d) “CAO” means the Chief Administrative Officer for the City of Dawson; 

 
(e)  “city” means the City of Dawson; 

 
(f) “council” means the Council of the City of Dawson; 

 
 
PART II – APPLICATION 
 
4.00 Amendment  
 
4.01 This bylaw amends Section 2.2 General Definitions to include the following definitions: 

 
(a) “Indoor Cannabis Facility” means a facility used for cultivating, producing, and 

packaging cannabis for the purposes of commercial sale. 
 

(b) “Indoor Growing Facility” means a facility used for cultivating plants and/or food for 
the purposes of commercial sale, not including cannabis. 

 
4.02 This bylaw amends Section 8.0 Specific Use Regulations to include a section for 

Cannabis Retail Services, titled “Section 8.11 Cannabis Retail Services”, and is modified 
to add the following regulations: 
 
(a) There shall be no required setbacks between Cannabis Retail Services. 

 



 

 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment No. 3 Bylaw 

Bylaw No. 2019-08 

 

 

(b) A Cannabis Retail Service shall not be located within 100 m of the Robert Service 
School main entrance. 

 
(c) A Cannabis Retail Service shall be allowed to sell non-regulated goods, including 

non-regulated goods that promote cannabis. 
 
4.03 This bylaw amends Section 12.2 C2 Zone (Commercial Mixed Use) and Section 13.1 M1 

Zone (Industrial) to add “Indoor Cannabis Facility” and “Indoor Growing Facility” as 
permitted uses. 

 

PART III – FORCE AND EFFECT 
 
5.00 Severability 
 
5.01 If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this bylaw is for any reason 

held to be invalid by the decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid portion 
shall be severed and the part that is invalid shall not affect the validity of the remainder 
unless the court makes an order to the contrary. 

 

6.00 Enactment 
 
6.01 This bylaw shall come into force on the day of the passing by Council of the third and 

final reading. 
 
7.00 Bylaw Readings 

 

Readings Date of Reading 

FIRST  

PUBLIC HEARING  

SECOND  

THIRD and FINAL  
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SUBJECT: DRAFT Heritage Bylaw 

PREPARED BY: Clarissa Huffman, CDO  ATTACHMENTS: 
1. DRAFT Heritage Bylaw 
 DATE: July 23, 2019 

RELEVANT BYLAWS / POLICY / LEGISLATION: 
Official Community Plan  

  

RECOMMENDATION 

It is respectfully recommended that Council: 

1. Forward Heritage Bylaw 2019-04 to Council for first reading.  

ISSUE  

The existing Heritage Program is currently challenging to navigate, split between 5 very similar bylaws, and 
contains outdated programming and interpretation language. Feedback received from HAC and the public 
indicated that this program required review.  

BACKGROUND SUMMARY 

In February and March 2019, YG Historic Sites provided funding to review all of the heritage-related bylaws 
and provide feedback on next steps for improvement to clarity, ease of interpretation, consistency, and 
removal of duplication. The overall result of this review indicated that the most efficient way to manage the 
heritage program would be through one bylaw that consolidated the efforts of the current five bylaws. 
Throughout the June and July, the Heritage Advisory Committee provided feedback on iterations of this 
DRAFT bylaw and is now satisfied with its contents.  

ANALYSIS / DISCUSSION / ALIGNMENT TO OCP & STRATEGIC PRIORITIES  

Major Programming Changes  

Much of the draft bylaw is simply merging and consolidating the existing heritage bylaws for consistency 
and ease of interpretation, however, some policy language has been updated to be more reflective of the 
intended goals of the program.  

Heritage & Development Guide  

One of the main comments heard from the public in the last few years is that it is unclear exactly what is 
expected of applicants under the current design guidelines. Currently, applications are assessed under the 
Design Guidelines for Historic Dawson and the Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic 
Places in Canada. These documents are great resources for the historic ‘Dawson Style’, and for the 
conservation of historic resources, respectively. However, the Design Guidelines are challenging to 
implement and are not always complete, and the Standards and Guidelines are a general guideline that are 
not always specifically relevant to Dawson. Additionally, neither of these documents are owned by the City 
of Dawson, so it is not possible to amend them.  



Therefore, conversations with Yukon Government Historic Sites, the Heritage Advisory Committee, and 
various applicants have indicated that the best way to move forward would be to create a City of Dawson 
document which clearly outlines the development process, at what times a Heritage Advisory Committee 
recommendation is required, and what the design requirements are, both at a component and a streetscape 
level. This clarity will prove to be invaluable for consistency in assessing applications as well as providing 
applicants the tools they need to provide a complete application in a more efficient way.  

This draft bylaw gives direction to the Heritage Advisory Committee to provide input to the CDO on such a 
guide, as well as to continue assisting with maintaining it as a framework for decision making. YG Historic 
Sites has indicated that they may be able to provide assistance and resources in developing the contents of 
the guide. Additionally, a strong Heritage Bylaw and Development Guide means that the Zoning Bylaw 
could be amended to condense the large appendices about Heritage Management, making this document 
and the heritage management program in general much more user-friendly.  

Heritage Inventory  

The current bylaws mandate that the City of Dawson keep an inventory of all historic resources in the 
municipality. To the best knowledge of administration, such an inventory has not been maintained. YG 
Historic Sites maintains a general inventory of historic resources for all of the Yukon, which makes it a 
valuable research tool. However, this tool is not easily publicly available as it requires a login. Therefore, a 
municipal inventory still has value. The intent of the revised language about a municipal inventory is not to 
duplicate the efforts of the YG inventory, but to supplement it with information about existing historic 
structures in Dawson that is easily accessible to residents. The inventory could direct people to YG Historic 
Sites for more detailed archival information if required.  

Historic Resources Permit  

The current bylaws mandate that the City of Dawson issue Historic Resources Permits. However, to the 
best knowledge of administration, no such permit or procedural information exists. Therefore, the new 
language in this bylaw makes the mandate of the permit clearer, allowing administration to develop this 
permit and implement it appropriately.  

Heritage Fund  

Currently, the bylaws allude to a Heritage Fund and the premise that this fund is accessible to 
administration and to community members wishing to restore a heritage structure or conduct heritage 
programming in the City of Dawson. However, similar to the Historic Resources Permit, no program actually 
exists to access this fund. There is currently a Heritage Fund under the Reserves Bylaw that is contributed 
to occasionally, however it has not been drawn from since the passing of the new bylaws. Upon careful 
consideration of potential outcomes, the program was laid out so that there are two types of draws from the 
fund: 1. Heritage Advisory Committee project proposals; and 2. Applications from owners or lessees of sites 
in the Heritage Inventory.  

The language about the Heritage Advisory Committee is substantively the same in intent. The language 
about applications from the public is new proposed programming in order to implement what is currently an 
existing but unimplemented program. Under this program, applications take two forms: Tier I for designated 
Municipal Historic Sites, and Tier II for non-designated historic structures listed in the municipal Heritage 
Inventory. After analysis conducted by administration, HAC, and YG Historic Sites, it was determined that a 
two-tier program was the ideal way to provide support to non-designated structures, acknowledging that 
there are a large number of this class of structure in Dawson, and support may enhance owners’ ability to 
rehabilitate and restore these buildings. However, the higher level of funding for designated sites is hoped 
to encourage people to self-nominate to have their buildings designated as Municipal Historic Sites.  

The proposed maximums of $5,000 for Tier II, $10,000 for Tier I, and $20,000 as an annual program 
maximum are numbers proposed by administration as a starting point. Essentially, this means that on an 
annual basis, Council would support heritage restorations in the following potential ways:  

 



 a) 2 Tier I projects;  

 b) 1 Tier I and 2 Tier II projects; or  

 c) 4 Tier II projects.  

It should be noted that currently, the Reserves Fund bylaw specifically refers to providing assistance to 
Municipal Historic Sites. There are two points to be made here:  

1. This is not currently happening. The new program proposed here remedies this issue.  

2. If Council is supportive of the two-tier program being proposed to provide support to all sites with higher 
preference to designated sites, the Reserve Bylaw would need to be amended to allow this.  

The tiered application-based restoration program is preferred to the tax rebate program that currently exists 
through Bylaw #14-12. Supporting the conservation of heritage structures through funding tied to a 
restoration project is a strong way to ensure that the goals and mandate of the program are considered 
when providing funding. On the other hand, a tax rebate granted to every owner of a historic structure does 
not provide the same incentive to maintain and rehabilitate structures. First, there is no mechanism to 
ensure that property owners are actually using that money to maintain and/or restore their heritage 
structures. Second, there is no incentive to engage in heritage restoration if you are getting the money 
regardless of whether you are actively restoring/rehabilitating the building or not. Therefore, the tax rebate 
program is having minimal impact on the restoration of historic structures. The revised mandate of the 
program should resolve this issue and is a better use of municipal resources.  

The final point is that if Council is supportive of proceeding with implementing this program, it would be wise 
to consider a specified annual contribution to the Heritage Reserve so that the funds are replenished 
annually. The program could be reassessed every 5 years during the required bylaw review to determine 
how well it is functioning. 

Official Community Plan  

The programming outlined in this draft bylaw aligns with the vision of the OCP in several interconnected 
ways. S. 7.2 Housing Implementation Approaches states that the City of Dawson should “introduce new 
residential units into the historic townsite by encouraging renovation and retrofit projects in existing homes”. 
Many of the vacant and derelict historic structures in Dawson City are in the residential area. Therefore, by 
providing a tangible incentive for restoring heritage structures, it is likely that some of these structures could 
be brought back to active use through restoration and retrofitting. S. 9.2 Heritage Implementation 
Approaches states that the City of Dawson should “maintain a heritage bylaw to conserve and manage 
heritage assets”. Currently, the City of Dawson manages heritage through not one but five bylaws, not 
including the Heritage Management Plan and the heritage sections of the Zoning Bylaw. Therefore, by 
consolidating these bylaws into one, creating a Development and Heritage Guide and a municipal Heritage 
Inventory, and amending the Zoning Bylaw, as outlined in the sections above, the conservation and 
management of heritage assets in Dawson will be greatly streamlined and improved.  

Updates from July 22 COW  

Administration followed up with Yukon Government Historic Sites about the April 15 intake deadline and 
confirmed that this date was not expected to conflict with the intake dates for YG grants. Therefore, the date 
is recommended to stay the same. If, after the 5-year review period, it is determined that this date causes 
challenges for prospective applicants in accessing the Fund, it could be changed at that time.  

Additionally, administration considered the prospect of a Tier III grant. After much conversation, a third tier 
was not added at this time for three main reasons:  

1. This type of grant would be extremely administratively challenging due the added complexity of 
determining what portions of costs would be eligible.  

2. The Development & Heritage Guide developed under this bylaw is intended to be an interpretation 
guide for homeowners and developers, making the development process easier to navigate and 
reducing the level of specialized skills needed to interpret the design guidelines.  



3. Tier I and II incentives are a higher priority for implementation of the heritage sections of the OCP, 
and with limited resources being allocated to this fund, it is unlikely that this lower priority incentive 
would be evaluated for funding ahead of a Tier I or II project, making it a redundant process for both 
prospective applicants and administration.  

Repealed Bylaws  

09-04: Heritage Bylaw  

09-05: Heritage Fund Bylaw 

09-06: Heritage Advisory Committee Bylaw 

14-12: Historic Properties Stewardship Rebate Bylaw 

15-06: Historic Properties Rebate Bylaw  

Next Steps  

1. Development of a municipal Heritage Inventory, a Historic Resources Permit, and a Development & 
Heritage Guide.  

2. Amendment to the Reserve Fund Bylaw and Zoning Bylaw.  

APPROVAL 

NAME: Cory Bellmore, CAO SIGNATURE: 
 

DATE:  
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WHEREAS section 265 of the Municipal Act, RSY 2002, c. 154, and amendments thereto, 
provides that a council may pass bylaws for municipal purposes.  

WHEREAS section 37(1) of the Historic Resources Act, RSY 2002, c. 109, and amendments 
thereto, provides that a municipal council may, by bylaw, designate as a municipal historic site, 
any site in the municipality that, in the opinion of the council, has sufficient historic significance 
in accordance with section 15 of the Act.  

WHEREAS section 15 of the Historic Resources Act, RSY 2002, c. 109, and amendments 
thereto, provides that a municipal council designate any site as a historic site when satisfied that 
the site is, whether in itself or because of  

a) historic resources or human remains discovered or believed to be at the site, an 
important illustration of the historic or pre-historic development of the Yukon or a specific 
locality in the Yukon, or of the peoples of the Yukon or locality and their respective 
cultures; or  

b) the natural history of the Yukon or a specific locality in the Yukon,  

and has sufficient historic significance to be so designated.  

WHEREAS section 179 of the Municipal Act, RSY 2002, c. 154, section 48(f) of the Historic 
Resources Act, RSY 2002, c. 109, and amendments thereto, provides that a municipal council 
may establish a committee to advise Council on heritage matters.  

WHEREAS section 245 of the Municipal Act, RSY 2002 c. 154 and amendments thereto, 
provides that Council may by bylaw provide grants as Council considers expedient to any 
person, institution, association, group, government, or body of any kind.  

 
THEREFORE, pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Act of the Yukon, the council of the 
City of Dawson, in open meeting assembled, ENACT AS FOLLOWS: 
 
PART I - INTERPRETATION 
 
1.00 Short Title 

 
1.01 This bylaw may be cited as the Heritage Bylaw. 

 
2.00 Purpose 

 
2.01 The purpose of this bylaw is to outline: 

(a) The duties and responsibilities of the Heritage Advisory Committee;  
(b)   The designation and protection of municipal historic resources; and  
(c)   The framework of a Heritage Fund program;   
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3.00 Definitions 
 

3.01 In this Bylaw: 
 

(a) Unless expressly provided for elsewhere within this bylaw the provisions of the 
Interpretations Act, RSY 2002, c. 125, shall apply; 

 
(b)  “city” means the City of Dawson; 

 
(c) “council” means the Council of the City of Dawson. 

(d) "Historic Townsite" means the combined area of the Downtown Heritage 
Management Area and the Residential Heritage Management Area as defined by 
the Zoning Bylaw.   

(e) "Development Officer" means the Community Development and Planning Officer or 
their delegate as appointed by the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO).  

(f) “Heritage Inventory” means a listing of historic resources within the City of Dawson 
that includes relevant information from the Yukon Historic Sites Inventory (YHSI). 
The Heritage Inventory is intended to complement, not duplicate, the YHSI.  

(g) "Historic Resource" means a historic site, historic object, or any work or assembly of 
works of nature or human endeavor listed in the Yukon Historic Sites Inventory.  

(h) "Historic Resources Permit" means a permit issued by the Development Officer to 
authorize any proposed alteration to a historic resource.   

(i) "Minister" means the Minister of the Yukon Legislative Assembly responsible for the 
Historic Resources Act.  

(j) "Municipal Historic Site" means an area or place, parcel of land, building or 
structure, or the exterior or interior portion of a building or structure that is by itself, 
or by reason of containing a historic resource, designated by Council as a Municipal 
Historic Site.  

(k) "Municipal Historic Sites Inventory" means a listing of the Municipal Historic Sites 
designated by Council.  

(l) “Registered Owner” means the individual(s) listed as the owner on the current land 
titled for the property.  
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PART II – APPLICATION 
 
4.00 Heritage Advisory Committee Structure and Proceedings 

4.01 Council shall by resolution appoint a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of five (5) 
voting members to the Heritage Advisory Committee (HAC). Members shall be residents 
of, or be the registered owner of property/properties in, the City of Dawson but are not 
required to be Canadian citizens.  

4.02 Terms for voting members shall be of a two-year period and shall be staggered so that 
the terms of members end in alternate years. Appointments shall be to terms concluding 
on September 30th of any given year. Members may be reappointed to succeeding 
terms.  

4.03 Members serve at the pleasure of Council.  
4.04 Where a member of HAC has failed to attend three (3) consecutive Committee meetings 

without the consent of the chair, HAC may, by resolution, recommend to Council that 
Council revoke the appointment of such member by resolution.  

4.05 At the first regular meeting following September 30th in any year, HAC shall, by 
resolution appoint a chair and deputy chair for a term not exceeding one year.  
(a) Members may volunteer their names for consideration. If no volunteers come 

forward, chair and deputy chair shall fall to the two longest-standing members of the 
Committee.  

(b) A chair may serve for more than one successive term. 
4.06 Council shall appoint up to four (4) heritage professional advisory members to the 

Committee, with one (1) each invited from Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in, Parks Canada, Yukon 
College, and Government of Yukon.  
(a) Each professional advisory member may appoint an alternate who may participate 

on their behalf should they be unavailable to attend a meeting. 
(b) The Yukon College professional advisory member should be teaching or studying in 

a relevant building related field such as carpentry.  
(c) Individuals not affiliated with one of the organizations listed in 4.06 may serve as 

professional advisory members under the following conditions:  
I. There are currently less than four (4) professional advisory members appointed 

by Council; and  
II. The number of voting members appointed to the Committee has already 

reached the maximum of five (5) members.  
4.07 Professional advisory members shall:  

(a) Be non-voting members of the Committee with participation in all Committee 
meetings;  

(b) Be appointed to a term not exceeding two years, but may be reappointed to 
succeeding terms; and  
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(c) Serve at the pleasure of Council.  
4.08 Unless otherwise specified in this bylaw, conduct at meetings shall be in accordance 

with section 11 the Council Proceedings Bylaw, and amendments thereto. 
4.09 Three (3) voting members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting.  

(a) If quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time fixed for a regular or special 
meeting of HAC, the Development Officer shall ensure the names of members 
present are recorded and the meeting shall be adjourned until the next regular or 
special meeting.  

(b) If a member arrives late, no prior discussion shall be reviewed for that member’s 
benefit except with the unanimous consent of all members present at the meeting.  

4.10 Members who are in conflict of interest must declare the conflict and step down from the 
table during discussion and voting for the related agenda item(s). 
(a) Members are considered to be in conflict where they may be perceived as unable to 

make an unbiased assessment of the matter at hand due to monetary or other 
tangible benefits relating to:  
I. The member or the member’s immediate family; 
II. A corporation in which the member is a shareholder, director, or officer;  
III. A society in which the person is a member, officer or employee; or  
IV. A partnership or firm of which the person is a member.  

(b) The withdrawal and return of the member shall be recorded in the minutes. 

5.00 Heritage Advisory Committee Duties & Responsibilities  
5.01 HAC shall:  

(a) Consider and make recommendations to the Development Officer regarding historic 
resource permit applications;  

(b) Consider and make recommendations to the Development Officer regarding 
heritage aspects of a development permit applications in the historic townsite;  

(c) Consider and make recommendations to the Development Officer regarding 
nominations for designation of a Municipal Historic Site based on publicly available 
evaluation criteria;  

(d) Provide feedback and input to the Development Officer to assist with the 
development and maintenance of a Development & Heritage Guide to provide a 
consistent framework for decision making; and  

(e) Other duties as delegated to it by Council from time to time.  
5.02 HAC and its members shall not represent the City of Dawson in a formal or informal 

capacity unless requested and/or approved by Council.  
5.03 If, after two consecutive meetings, HAC is unable to make a decision on any matter 

referred to the Committee, the Committee shall refer the matter to Council.  
5.04 HAC members will be required to attend orientation and ongoing training as 

recommended by the Development Officer and determined by Council.  
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6.00 Heritage Advisory Committee Meetings  
6.01 At the last meeting of each calendar year, the Committee shall establish the regular HAC 

meeting dates for the following year.  
6.02 All regular meetings shall be scheduled from 7:00pm to 9:00pm. The Committee may, by 

resolution, extend the hours of a regular meeting, not exceeding two periods of thirty (30) 
minutes.  

6.03 When the day fixed for a regular meeting of HAC falls on a statutory holiday, the meeting 
shall be held on the following working day.  

6.04 The Development Officer may recommend cancellation of a regular meeting if there are 
no matters referred to the Committee.  

6.05 Not withstanding s. 6.04 above, the Committee shall hold a minimum of one regular 
meeting per month.  

6.06 Meetings shall be attended in person wherever possible. A member may participate by 
electronic means if it is not feasible to attend in person. Electronic participation 
contributes to the quorum of the meeting.  

7.00 Heritage Advisory Committee Agendas and Minutes  
7.01 Notice for each meeting shall be given in the form of an agenda and meeting package 

distributed electronically not less than two (2) working days prior to the time of the 
meeting. 

7.02 All matters to be considered at a meeting, including development permit and historic 
resources permit applications, shall be submitted to the Development Officer at least four 
(4) business days prior to the time of the meeting.  

7.03 No business other than that stated in the regular meeting agenda shall be heard at that 
meeting unless all members present pass a resolution unanimously to accept a time-
sensitive item.  

7.04 Upon the meeting being called to order, the following shall be the order of business 
unless otherwise determined by unanimous consent of the members present at the 
meeting:  
(a) Call to Order 
(b) Adoption of Agenda  
(c) Delegations  
(d) Business Arising from Delegations  
(e) Adoption of Minutes  
(f) Business Arising from Minutes  
(g) Applications  
(h) Reports  
(i) Unfinished Business  
(j) New Business  
(k) Correspondence  
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(l) Information  
(m) Adjournment  

7.05 Delegates may register an interest in a specific topic, in advance, in order to address the 
Committee about the topic, with a speaking time not to exceed ten (10) minutes.  

7.06 Not withstanding s. 7.05 above, delegations on standalone topics that are not associated 
with an application shall be no longer than ten minutes, and may only be accepted if time 
permits, at the discretion of the Development Officer.  

7.07 All recommendations shall be approved by a resolution. Reasons and explanations for a 
resolution shall be outlined in the minutes.  

7.08 The Chair, or any two members, may call special meetings as deemed necessary, 
provided that two (2) working days notice be given to all members prior to the meeting.  

7.09 The Committee will hold a joint special meeting with Council on a biannual basis, to be 
scheduled jointly by the Development Officer and the Executive Assistant.  
(a) The agenda for the joint meeting shall be finalized and circulated as per s. 7.01 

above.  
7.10 The Committee may, by resolution, close a meeting to the public if the matter to be 

discussed is a matter contemplated by section 213(3)(b) of the Municipal Act.  
7.11 The Development Officer shall ensure that minutes of all proceedings are legibly 

recorded and approved as accurate by resolution at the next regular meeting.  
(a) When approved as accurate, the Development Officer shall forward the minutes to 

Council as information.  

8.00 Municipal Historic Sites  

8.01 Council may either, on its own motion, or upon nomination by any person or group of 
persons, designate any site as a Municipal Historic Site when it has determined, in its 
opinion, that the site is an important illustration of the historic development of the 
Klondike Valley, or the natural history or peoples and cultures of the Klondike Valley 
Cultural Landscape, as delineated in the Heritage Management Plan.  

8.02 Designation of site as a Municipal Historic Site under s. 8.01 above must be in 
compliance with the requirements listed in Part 5 of the Historic Resources Act and 
amendments thereto.  

8.03 When a person or group of persons wishes to designate a site as a Municipal Historic 
Site, they shall complete a nomination form and submit it to the Development Officer with 
the prescribed fee as per the Fees and Charges Bylaw. 

8.04 When the Development Officer receives a nomination to designate a Municipal Historic 
Site, they shall:  
(a) Assess the application for completeness and accuracy; 
(b) Present the nomination to HAC for evaluation; and 
(c) Prepare a report including: 
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I.  the recommendations of HAC;  
II. whether the site meets the requirements of this bylaw and of the Historic 

Resources Act; and  
III. an overall assessment of the nomination with respect to overall planning 

considerations.  
(d) Present the report detailed in s. 8.04(b) above for Council consideration.  

8.05 Prior to passing a bylaw to designate a Municipal Historic Site under s. 8.01 above, 
Council will give full consideration of the recommendations provided in the report 
provided under s. 8.04(b).  

8.06 A bylaw to designate a Municipal Historic Site shall include, at minimum: 
(a) A legal description of the land to be designated, if available, and/or a written 

description of the land to be designated;  
(b) A map delineating the land to be designated;  
(c) Reasons for designation; and 
(d) Any specific protection measures or prohibitions as determined necessary by 

Council.  
8.07 All transfers or sales of Municipal Historic Sites shall be completed in accordance with 

sections 51 and 52 of the Historic Resources Act.  
 

9.00 Heritage Inventory  

9.01 Council will maintain an inventory of  
(a) all designated Municipal Historic sites in compliance with s. 55 of the Historic 

Resources Act; and 
(b) all existing historic resources within the municipality, including sites which have 

historical significance but which have not been designated by Council as a Municipal 
Historic Site.  

10.00 Protection of Historic Sites  

10.01 The Development Officer is appointed by this bylaw to serve as an inspector for the 
purposes of enforcing this bylaw and the Historic Resources Act, as per sections 48, 49, 
and 50 of the Historic Resources Act.  

10.02 No person shall make, demolish, move, or make alterations to a Municipal Historic Site 
and/or a site listed on the Heritage Inventory unless such alteration is carried out in 
accordance with a valid development permit or historic resources permit.  

10.03 In addition to s. 10.01 and 10.02 above, no person shall carry out an activity that will in 
the opinion of HAC, alter the character defining elements of a Municipal Historic Site, 
without the approval of Council by resolution.  

10.04 Upon receipt of an application for a development permit or historic resources permit for 
an activity that may alter the historic character of a non-designated site listed on the 
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Heritage Inventory, HAC may recommend that the Development Officer bring the 
application forward to determine if Council wishes to commence the process for 
designation as a Municipal Historic Site.  

11.00 Historic Resources Permit  

11.01 A historic resources permit is required for any proposed exterior alterations and/or 
alterations of a character defining element of a Municipal Historic Site and/or to a site 
listed on the Heritage Inventory that does not meet the threshold for a development 
permit as defined in the sections 4.1 and 4.2 of the Zoning Bylaw.  

11.02 Historic resources permits will be assessed and approved by the Development Officer, 
with recommendations from HAC, in accordance with the following, as applicable: 
(a) Development & Heritage Guide;  
(b) Design Guidelines for Historic Dawson;  
(c) Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada; 
(d) Heritage Management Plan;  
(e) Zoning Bylaw; and 
(f) Statement of significance and character defining elements.  

12.00 Heritage Fund  

12.01 As per the Reserves Fund Bylaw Appendix A, the Heritage Fund may be used to assist 
with the following:  
(a) Restoration, enhancement, or renovation of Municipal Historic Sites and sites listed 

on the Heritage Inventory;  
(b) Acquisition, by the City of Dawson, of Municipal Historic Sites and sites listed on the 

Heritage Inventory for heritage conservation/restoration purposes; 
(c) Provision of financial assistance to owners or lessees of Municipal Historic Sites and 

sites listed on the Heritage Inventory for restoration, enhancement, or renovation of 
the site;  

(d) Research to aid with interpretation of the culture and history of the Klondike Valley 
Cultural Landscape;  

(e) Development of interpretive media such as signage, panels, or tours; 
(f) Increasing public awareness of historic resources and heritage management of the 

City; and  
(g) Other heritage purposes as specified by the resolution of Council.  

12.02 Council shall transfer revenues from historic resources permits and Municipal Historic 
Site nominations to the Heritage Fund.  

12.03 Where HAC wishes to propose a project that meets the requirements for withdrawal from 
the Heritage Fund as per s. 12.01 above, HAC shall work with the Development Officer 
to devise a scope of work to be considered by Council.  
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12.04 With respect to s. 12.03 above, Council shall hear project proposals for the Heritage 
Fund and may decide to:  
(a) Approve the project and transfer the full requested amount out of the Heritage Fund; 
(b) Approve the project with minor changes transfer a full or partial amount out of the 

Heritage Fund;  
(c) Request that changes are made to the project scope and returned with an updated 

proposal; or  
(d) Decline the project because it is not eligible and/or is not deemed a project priority.  

13.00 Heritage Incentives 

13.01 Registered owners or lessees (with written authorization from the registered owner) of a 
Municipal Historic Site or a site listed on the Heritage Inventory may apply to the 
Heritage Fund as per s. 12.01 above.  

13.02 Eligible restoration, enhancement, or renovation costs for Tier I and II incentives include 
the following:  
(a) Repair or replacement of roofs or foundations; 
(b) Sealing to weather; 
(c) Stabilization and/or installation of additional bracing; 
(d) Repair or reproduction of doors and windows; 
(e) Repair or replacement of cladding; 
(f) Returning the exterior to its original appearance as per photographic evidence or 

other research as appropriate; 
(g) Painting, where it can be demonstrated as a conservation activity; 
(h) Interpretive signage and/or other publicly available interpretive media;  
(i) Alterations that bring a structure into compliance with current bylaws in order to 

resolve a legal non-conforming status but do not impact the heritage values or 
character defining elements; 

(j) Procurement of materials to undertake any of the above; and 
(k) Procurement of skilled labour to undertake any of the above.  

13.03 Non-eligible projects include the following:  
(a) Projects on properties owned by a government; 
(b) Cyclical repair such as cosmetic repainting and landscaping;  
(c) Private purchase of land or structures;  
(d) Projects that have already commenced or are already complete; 
(e) Projects on properties that have received funding under this bylaw within the last 

five (5) calendar years; 
(f) Restoration or redevelopment that does not conform with the Zoning Bylaw, 

Heritage Management Plan and the Design Guidelines for Historic Dawson; and the 
Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada. 
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Exceptions may be made for structures that are demonstrated to be legal non-
conforming and meet the criteria for alterations to a legal non-conforming structure 
as per the Municipal Act.  

(g) Projects on properties with outstanding property tax or compliance infractions with 
respect to any municipal bylaw;  

13.04 Owners or lessees of a Municipal Historic Site are eligible for a Tier I Heritage Incentive, 
which constitutes up to 50% of an eligible project to a maximum of $10,000.  

13.05 Owners or lessees of a non-designated heritage site are eligible for a Tier II Heritage 
Incentive, which constitutes up of 50% of an eligible project to a maximum of $5,000.  

13.06 Tier I and II Heritage Incentives are granted on an annual basis to a combined maximum 
that is equal to half of the Heritage Reserve Fund or $20,000 per year, whichever is 
lesser.  

13.07 Applications for Tier I and II Heritage Incentives will be considered complete when the 
following information is submitted to the Development Officer by April 15 of each year:  
(a) Completed application form; 
(b) Project Proposal detailing:  

I. Work plan and timeline; 
II. Rationale for the project;  
III. Current state of the structure/site (with photographs); 
IV. Explanation of how the project advances the goals of the Heritage Management 

Plan and preserves the heritage values and/or character defining elements of 
the site; and  

V. Explanation of how the project will extend the life of the site and provide 
heritage value to the broader community;  

(c) Project budget, including details on proposed outside funding sources and ability to 
finance the project; 

(d) Detailed drawings showing compliance with the Zoning Bylaw, Heritage 
Management Plan, Design Guidelines for Historic Dawson, and Standards and 
Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada where appropriate;  

(e) Historical evidence of the site/structure’s original use and features, such as historic 
photos or museum records; and  

(f) Written approval from the registered owner of the site (where applicable).  
13.08 Applications that do not meet all of the criteria listed in s. 13.07 above will not be 

assessed.  
13.09 Applications for a heritage incentive will be assessed base on the following criteria:  

(a) Whether the application is for a Tier I or II incentive, with Tier I being the highest 
weighted incentive;  

(b) The degree of deterioration and necessity of restoration;  
(c) The financial and technical ability of the applicant to complete the work;  
(d) The clarity, accuracy, and credibility of the project proposal;  
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(e) The degree of benefit to the heritage integrity of the site; 
(f) The degree of community benefit; and  
(g) Demonstration of commitment to using design features, materials, and styles that 

meet the Design Guidelines for Historic Dawson and the Standards and Guidelines 
for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada.  

13.10 Applicants may, upon request to the Development Officer, speak as a delegate to HAC 
to explain and get feedback on their proposal prior to formal submission of an application 
for a Heritage Incentive.  

13.11 Council shall, upon the recommendation of HAC, determine by resolution whether an 
application, or any part thereof, should be:  
(a) Fully approved;  
(b) Partially approved;  
(c) Approved with additional conditions; or 
(d) Denied.  

13.12 Successful applications will be required to enter into a Contribution Agreement with the 
City of Dawson, detailing at minimum, the following conditions:  
(a) The proposed project shall not commence until the proponent has obtained a valid 

development permit and/or historic resources permit, as applicable.  
(b) Funds will be released upon the completion of the project based on a site visit 

conducted by the Development Officer to confirm that the work has been completed 
as agreed; 

(c) Confirmation that any applicable territorial permits have been approved and closed;  
(d) The applicant must remain in compliance with all relevant municipal and territorial 

legislation;  
(e) The Contribution Agreement may be terminated if, in the opinion of the City of 

Dawson, the applicant fails to comply with any conditions of the Agreement;  
(f) Any project-specific conditions as identified by the Development Officer, HAC, or 

Council.  
13.13 Receipt of an incentive through another funding opportunity does not change the 

eligibility of a project under this program.  

14.00 Penalties  

14.01 A development officer may enforce the provisions of this bylaw in accordance with the 
Yukon Municipal Act. 

14.02 Any person who does the following commits an offence: 
(a) contravenes, causes, or permits a contravention of this bylaw or a historic resources 

permit; 
(b) neglects or omits anything required under this bylaw or a historic resources permit; 
(c) fails to comply with an order, direction, or notice given under this bylaw; or 
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(d) fails to provide entry for inspection under this bylaw. 
14.03 If a development officer finds that a person is committing an offence under this bylaw, 

the development officer may require the person responsible for the violation to remedy it 
through a notice of offence order. 

14.04 A development officer may issue a notice of offence order to: 
(a) the owner of the property; 
(b) the person in possession of the land or buildings; or 
(c) the person responsible for the offence. 

14.05 The notice of offence order must be delivered in person, by registered mail, or by posting 
the notice in a conspicuous location on the site.  

14.06 A notice of offence order shall: 
(a) describe the nature of the violation; 
(b) describe the actions or measures required to remedy the violation, including the 

removal or demolition of a structure that has been erected or placed; 
(c) state a time within which the person must comply with the directions or the order; 

and 
(d) state that if the person does not comply with the directions within a specified time an 

offence ticket will be issued and/or the municipality will take action or measure at the 
expense of the person. 

14.07  Where a person fails or refuses to comply with the notice of offence order, a 
development officer may take such action as is necessary to enforce the order. 

14.08 The costs and expenses incurred by the City in carrying out a notice of offence order 
shall be placed on the tax roll as an additional tax against the property concerned, and 
that amount shall be collected in the same manner as taxes on the land. 

14.09 If the corrective measures described in a notice of offence are not completed within the 
specified time, or if development continues after a permit has been revoked or a fine has 
been issued, the person to whom the order was issued may be issued an offence ticket 
by a development officer.  

14.10 All offence tickets shall be prepared and served in accordance with part 3 of the Yukon 
Summary Convictions Act.  

14.11 An offence ticket shall be served by registered mail or in person. 
14.12 Set fines under this section include the following:  

(a) Failure to obtain a historic resources permit - $250.00  
(b) Failure to obtain a historic resources permit (second or subsequent offence) -  

$500.00  
(c) Failure to comply with permit conditions - $250.00  
(d) Failure to comply with permit conditions (second or subsequent offence) - $500.00  
(e) Failure to comply with notice of offence order - $250.00 
(f) Failure to comply with notice of offence order (second or subsequent offence) -

$500.00  
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(g) Failure to grant right of entry - $250.00  
(h) Failure to grant right of entry (second or subsequent offence) - $500.00  

14.13 The costs and expenses incurred by the City in carrying out a notice of offence order 
shall be placed on the tax roll as an additional tax against the property concerned, and 
that amount shall be collected in the same manner as taxes on the land.  

14.14 When a development officer is satisfied that there is a continued contravention of this 
bylaw and it appears the contravention will not be corrected in a timely manner, the 
development officer may report such a contravention to Council.  

14.15 Council may, on finding that any development or use of land or buildings is in 
contravention of this bylaw: 
(a) direct the development officer to act on the matter; 
(b) suspend or revoke a development permit with respect to such contravention; and/or 
(c) apply to the Court for an injunction to restrain such contravention. 

14.16 A person who fails or refuses to comply with a notice of offence order is liable to 
sanctions as described in section 343 of the Yukon Municipal Act.  

14.17 In addition to the penalties provided for in this bylaw, a person convicted of an offence 
may be ordered to remove such development and reclaim the site at that person’s own 
expense. 

14.18 Should any person owning or occupying real property within the City refuse or neglect to 
pay any penalties that have been levied pursuant to this bylaw, the development officer 
may inform such person in default that the charges shall be added to, and shall form part 
of, the taxes payable in respect of that real property as taxes in arrears if unpaid on 
December 31 of the same year.  
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PART III – FORCE AND EFFECT 
 
15.00 Severability 
 
15.01 If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this bylaw is for any reason 

held to be invalid by the decision of a court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid portion 
shall be severed and the part that is invalid shall not affect the validity of the remainder 
unless the court makes an order to the contrary. 

 
16.00 Bylaw Repealed 
 
16.01 Bylaw 09-04, 09-05, 09-06, 14-12, 15-06, and their amendments are hereby repealed. 

 
17.00 Enactment 
 
17.01 This bylaw shall come into force on the day of the passing by Council of the third and 

final reading. 
17.02 This bylaw shall be reviewed every 5 years.  
 
18.00 Bylaw Readings 

 

Readings Date of Reading 

FIRST  

SECOND  

THIRD and FINAL  
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Yukon Liquor Corporation 
PO Box 2703, Whitehorse, Yukon  Y1A 2C6 

July 15, 2019 

Mayor and Council 
City of Dawson 
Box 308 
Dawson, Yukon  
Y0B 1G0 

Email: wayne.potoroka@cityofdawson.ca        BY EMAIL 
 

Dear Mayor and Council, 

We invite you to review Yukon government’s proposed approach to Yukon’s Liquor Act, which I have 
enclosed with this letter. This document outlines our proposed approach to the territory’s liquor 
legislation. It’s based on what we heard and learned from Yukon citizens, incorporates national best 
practices, and aims to balance economic opportunities with social responsibility. 

The Yukon Liquor Act review began in fall of 2017. The Liquor Act is 40 years old and parts of the 
legislation are no longer relevant. An updated Act will reflect best practices, meet modern-day realities 
and future needs. The revised act is expected to be ready for the legislative assembly this fall. 

If you have questions or concerns about this document, email YLC-connect@gov.yk.ca or call (867) 667-
5245 by August 12, 2019. Your feedback will be considered before finalizing work on the legislation.  

Sincerely, 

 
Paul McConnell 
President, Yukon Liquor Corporation 

Enc. (1) 

c. Chief Administrative Officer, City of Dawson 
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Introduction
On January 6, 2017, the Minister responsible for the Yukon Liquor Corporation 
was mandated to: 

Consult the Yukon Liquor Board, the business community, consumers  
and civil society to assess whether the Liquor Act meets current needs  
and provides for an appropriate balance between economic opportunities 
and social responsibility.

The review of the Liquor Act and regulations 
began in November 2017 and wrapped up 
early in 2019. During the engagement process 
we heard about the role beverage alcohol 
plays in the lives of Yukoners. It helped  
us better understand the diverse needs  
of our communities.

This document outlines our approach to the 
territory’s liquor legislation. It’s based on what 
we heard and learned from Yukoners and 
incorporates national best practices, as well as 
aims to balance economic opportunities with 
social responsibility.  

Disclaimer: The content of this summary reflects our proposed legislative approach.  
No decisions are final and content may change during the drafting process.

If you have questions or concerns about this document, email YLC-connect@gov.yk.ca  
or call (867) 667-5245 by August 12, 2019. Your feedback will be considered before 
finalizing work on the legislation.

mailto:YLC-connect@gov.yk.ca
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Overview of engagement
Feedback from Yukon citizens, businesses, organizations, and First Nations 
and municipal governments have helped shape the proposed approach  
for changes to the Liquor Act and regulations. 

In 2017 and 2018, Yukoners participated in 
44 public meetings and nearly 450 Yukon 
citizens provided feedback through a six-
week online survey. Significant comments 
were provided on a wide range of topics 
related to liquor. Read more in the What We 
Heard: Yukon Liquor Act review progress 
report, released August 1, 2018.

Some feedback we heard during the 
engagement process was beyond the 
scope of the Liquor Act. For example, some 
citizens raised concerns around alcohol 
support services in communities, as well as 
impaired driving regulations. We’ve shared 
all comments gathered during the process, 
some of which fell outside the scope of the 
Liquor Act, with the responsible departments 
within the Yukon government to help inform 
decision making. 

In November 2018, representatives from 
the Yukon Liquor Board, local governments, 
producers, licensees, enforcement agencies, 
harm-reduction organizations and subject 
matter experts from across the territory 
participated in a Liquor Advisory Group. The 
group explored and further recommended 
ways to modernize Yukon’s liquor legislation. 

https://yukon.ca/en/what-we-heard-yukon-liquor-act
https://yukon.ca/en/what-we-heard-yukon-liquor-act
https://yukon.ca/en/what-we-heard-yukon-liquor-act
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Part 1: Introductory

The Yukon Liquor Corporation identified 
themes during the Liquor Act review to 
ensure consistency:

› social responsibility;

›  supporting local producers and 
businesses or licensees;

›  licensee pricing;

›  consumer access to liquor;

›  licensing, inspections, permitting  
and enforcement;

›  governance;

›  general administration; and,

›  other.

These themes helped clarify the advisory 
group’s purpose, guide discussions and 
outline the principles around why legislation 
is being revised. The advisory group will 
reconvene again at the end of this summer  
to receive a progress update on this review. 

The proposed approach now has an enhanced 
focus on social responsibility, which informs 
part of the purpose of the act and is built in 
throughout the legislation. 

The Liquor Act legislation provides territorial guidelines for legal  
importation, distribution, manufacturing, possession, consumption and  
sale of liquor in Yukon in a manner that balances economic opportunity  
and social responsibility.

Social responsibility is a broad 
term with many meanings. 
In the context of the new 
legislation, social responsibility 
means making decisions with 
consideration of balancing 
the provision of liquor with 
impacts on economy, health 
and safety. 
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Part 2: Yukon Liquor Corporation

Under new legislation, the Government 
of Yukon is proposing that the Yukon 
Liquor Corporation maintains its role as the 
corporation responsible for liquor in the 
territory. The corporation is the management 
and staff who will continue to make day-to-
day operational decisions.

More specifically, the Yukon Liquor 
Corporation would continue to carry  
out the following functions:

›  purchase and import liquor for 
commercial sale;

›  operate liquor stores and warehouses;

›   distribute liquor to both public and private 
retail outlets;

›  set the price at which liquor may be sold;

›   levy proprietary charges on liquor  
(e.g. mark-up);

›  issue liquor permits for events;

›  receive and review liquor licence 
applications;

›  renew liquor licences under defined 
circumstances;

›   collect and have the authority to audit 
licensees financial records; 

›   support social responsibility initiatives; and,

›  report annually on activities. 

The Yukon Liquor Corporation will continue 
to provide an annual report to the responsible 
Minister to be tabled each year in the 
Legislative Assembly. The annual report  
will contain both financial and social 
responsibility reporting, along with financial 
accounts audited by the Auditor General  
of Canada. The revenue generated by the 
Yukon Liquor Corporation remains a transfer 
to the Government of Yukon’s Consolidated 
Revenue Fund.  

The liquor legislation is proposed to define the role and responsibilities of the 
government corporation responsible for importing liquor into and distributing 
liquor throughout Yukon.
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Part 3: Liquor Licensing Board

Under new legislation, the Government 
of Yukon is proposing to clarify that the 
president is responsible for the operations of 
the Yukon Liquor Corporation and reports to 
the Minister responsible. It also establishes an 
independent licensing board that would be 
called the Liquor Licensing Board.

The Liquor Licensing Board will act as an 
independent board from the government 
and liquor corporation, and will retain the 
ability to make rules regarding its operations 
and proceedings. Its board membership 
would continue to consist of five persons 
appointed by the Government of Yukon and 
remunerated for their work. 

The Board would be responsible for licensing 
private retail businesses and would have the 
following powers to:

›  grant licences with or without conditions;

›   refuse to grant licences;

›  hold hearings for licence applications 
when there is interest or concern; and,

›   hear appeals from licensees on sanctions 
imposed by the President of the Yukon 
Liquor Corporation. 

The legislation is proposed to define the role and responsibilities of the entity 
in charge of liquor licensing in the territory.

The Liquor Licensing Board will act as an independent 
board from the government and liquor corporation, 
and will retain the ability to make rules regarding its 
operations and proceedings. 
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Part 4: Licences 

The Government of Yukon proposes to 
streamline the number of licence types 
with clear statutory conditions that better 
support social responsibility, local economic 
opportunities and consumer choices. 

The proposed licence classes are: 

›  liquor primary; 

›   food primary; 

›   off-premises; 

›  other use primary; and,

›  manufacturing.

All licensees would continue to be subject 
to the conditions set out in the Act and 
regulations, as well as any other conditions the 
Liquor Licensing Board considers necessary. 

In addition to the classes of licence, the Act 
would provide regulation making authority  
for the creation of sub-classes.

The Liquor Licensing Board would consider 
the following information when reviewing 
applications:

›  number and type of liquor licences already 
in the area;

›   population of the areas, including seasonal 
variations;

›  any local area restrictions in place related 
to liquor;

›   potential benefits and impacts the 
business may bring to the area;

›  views of the people in the area;

›  whether the premises are suitable;

›  character of the applicant(s); and,

›  any other applicable information.

The board would also take into account  
and respect local government bylaws as 
well as views submitted during a public 
notification period.

This part of the Act details the process and requirements to 
obtain a licence to manufacture, sell or serve liquor in Yukon. 
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Part 5: Permits

This part of the Act details the process and requirements to obtain a permit  
to sell or serve liquor in Yukon. 

The Government of Yukon proposes that new 
types of permits be set out by regulation that 
better meet the needs of private and public 
event planning. 

The proposed types of permits are: 

A.  public event – resale by a non-profit 
organization or charity;

B.  public event – resale for where proceeds 
go to a non-profit or charity;

C. public event – no sale;

D. private event – no sale;

E. private event – resale; and,

F. industrial / scientific.

Anyone serving or selling liquor 
under new legislation will be 
required to have completed 
responsible server training 
available through the Yukon 
Liquor Corporation.

CURRENT LICENCE TYPES

Liquor Primary 

Food Primary 

Off-premises or ‘off-sales’ 

Canteen – beer
Mess – liquor
Club
Recreation facility
RV park
Sports Stadium
Train, ship, or aircraft
Special

Liquor manufacturer
Liquor manufacturer – retail

Liquor primary 

Food primary 

Off-premises  

Other use primary

Manufacturing

PROPOSED LICENCE TYPES

Note: Sub-classes to licences will be set in regulations.
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Part 6: Liquor control 

Advertising  
All types of advertising and marketing  
must comply with specific standards 
including the Code for broadcast  
advertising of alcoholic beverages 
established by the Canadian Radio- 
television and Telecommunications 
Commission.

Consumption   
The approach to consumption would be 
reversed from a permissive model to a 
prohibitive model, meaning that public 
drinking would be prohibited unless  
permitted by a municipal bylaw or  
through a Ministerial Order. 

Delivery  
Liquor may not be delivered to home 
residences.

Exemptions  
It is proposed that the Liquor Act would 
contain some exemptions for medicinal  
and religious purposes.

This part of the Act provides guidelines for importing, manufacturing, 
possessing, selling, serving or consuming liquor in Yukon. 

Gambling  
Move the prohibitions on gambling in licensed 
premises from the Act to the regulations.

Importation  
The personal import limits for personal 
consumption purposes are proposed  
to increase.

Manufacture  
Commercial (i.e. liquor produced for retail 
sale) may only be manufactured by a business 
licensed by the Liquor Licensing Board.

Persons would be allowed to home-brew beer, 
wine or cider for their personal consumption. 
Home-brewed products may not be sold.

Minors  
Persons younger than 19 years may not 
possess or consume liquor, except within 
a private residence with permission from a 
person who is entitled to custody of the minor.

It is prohibited to sell or serve liquor  
to a person under 19 years of age. 
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Sale   
In addition to the Yukon Liquor Corporation, 
the only persons allowed to sell liquor in 
Yukon are businesses licensed by the Liquor 
Licensing Board and persons who obtain  
a liquor permit for a specific event. 

Regulations will prescribe off-premises or  
off-sales hours of operation that may change 
in an effort to reduce alcohol-related harms.

Public intoxication   
A person must not be intoxicated in  
a public place. 

Vehicles  
Liquor may be transported in a vehicle if it 
is in a closed container and inaccessible to 
all persons in the vehicle, unless otherwise 
prescribed for certain circumstances. 

It is prohibited to sell or serve liquor to  
a person who appears to be intoxicated.
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Part 7: Enforcement 

This part of the Act provides the rules by which the Act and regulations  
will be enforced.

Offences  
It will continue to be an offence to contravene 
a provision of the legislation or a condition  
of any licence or permit. 

Penalties   
Penalties for offences, for breaching the Act, 
will continue to depend upon the seriousness 
of the offence. Offences committed by 
corporations will have higher penalties  
than those committed by individuals.  
Serious offences, such as the sale of liquor 
to a minor, will continue to be subject to 
significant penalties. 

Fines  
Minor offences, such as public consumption, 
will continue to be offences for which a ticket 
can be issued under the Summary Conviction 
Act. No major changes are anticipated to 
current levels of fines.

Other sanctions  
Licensees who contravene their licence 
conditions will be subject to other sanctions 
imposed by the Yukon Liquor Corporation 
president such as variation to one or more of 
their licence conditions, a monetary penalty 
or a licence suspension. The licensee will be 
able to appeal against the imposition of the 
sanction to the Liquor Licensing Board.

Search and seizure 
Yukon Liquor Corporation 
inspectors will able to perform 
search and seizures of liquor 
in licensed premises and at 
permitted events. 

RCMP will be able to search 
and seize the following with 
reasonable grounds: vehicles; 
persons inside vehicles; 
licensed premises; permitted 
events; and; if authorized by  
a warrant, private residences.
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Part 8: General 

›  detail the circumstances and limits on 
personal importation;

›  set fees such a licence and permit fees;

›   create new classes of licences:

›  detail licences, sub-classes, and conditions; 

›  specify requirements for storage, 
transportation and delivery;

›   set requirements for the mandatory 
responsible server training program;

›  regulate liquor retail hours for sales  
and/or service;

›  set minimum and maximum prices  
at which liquor may sold in Yukon;

›  prescribe records to be kept and reporting 
required by the Yukon Liquor Corporation, 
licensees and permit holders;

›  detail exemptions from provisions of the 
Act; and,

›  define expressions that are not defined  
in the Act or further clarify defined terms.

REGULATIONS

The Government of Yukon may make regulations necessary for the purpose  
of carrying out the Liquor Act, for example:

Some regulations will 
require mandatory public 
engagement before 
development, such as  
a new class of licence.



Yukon’s Liquor Act   |   Proposed Approach12

Next Steps
The Government of Yukon invites questions or comments on our proposed 
approach until August 12, 2019. Please send your questions or comments  
to YLC-connect@gov.yk.ca or call 867-667-5245. 

Keep up to date on the Liquor Act by visiting www.engageyukon.ca and 
specifically www.engageyukon.ca/en/2017/liquor-act-review. 

NOV. 2018 - MAR. 2019: 
advisory group 
meetings

NOV. 2017 - MAR. 2018:  
Engagement process  
(survey, 44 meetings  
in 14 communities)

AUG. 2018: 
released What  
We Heard: Yukon 
Liquor Act review 
progress report

NOV. 1, 2018: 
first advisory  
group meeting

mailto:YLC-connect@gov.yk.ca
http://www.engageyukon.ca
http://www.engageyukon.ca/en/2017/liquor-act-review.






 

Yukon Liquor Corporation 
PO Box 2703, Whitehorse, Yukon  Y1A 2C6 

July 22, 2019 

Mayor and Council 
City of Dawson 
Box 308 
Dawson, Yukon  
Y0B 1G0 

Email: wayne.potoroka@cityofdawson.ca        BY EMAIL 
 

Dear Mayor and Council, 

As you may be aware, the Yukon Liquor Corporation (YLC) is undergoing a review of the Liquor Act and 
its regulations. As part of our effort to enhance social responsibility, the corporation is shifting its 
overarching liquor consumption model set out in the Act from a permissive model—where public 
drinking is permitted throughout most of Yukon unless an area has a ban on drinking liquor—to a 
prohibitive model that will restrict public drinking throughout the territory, except where specifically 
allowed. 

In a scan of Yukon communities, your community was identified as having areas that allow for public 
drinking. If you wish to continue to allow public drinking in your municipality, the new Act will allow 
municipalities to create their own bylaws to designate public drinking areas. We will support the 
direction that you give as a municipality. 

If you would more information, we welcome an opportunity to meet and discuss this matter further.  

Please contact the YLC policy team by emailing ylc-connect@gov.yk.ca or calling Kayla Yeulet or Patch 
Groenewegen at 667-5245 to get more information and to set up a meeting.  

Sincerely, 

 
Paul McConnell 
President, Yukon Liquor Corporation 

c. Chief Administrative Officer, City of Dawson 
 

  

mailto:wayne.potoroka@cityofdawson.ca
mailto:ylc-connect@gov.yk.ca








From: Priska Wettstein  

Sent: July 11, 2019 6:18 PM 

To: wayne.potoroka@cityofdawson.ca 

Subject: Garbage bins Dome subdivision 

Hi Wayne, 

I am writing you again regarding the garbage bins for the Dome subdivision.  

I have complaint before about that, I am sure you remember that.  

As we all know there are bears around.  

Mom with cubs and two others that l know of.  

Disposing garbage was and still is a safety hazard and it is disgusting as well.  

I'm not sure why it is not possible to clean the area up and make it safe to use.  

Take a look at the C4 for instance.  

I'm quite frankly becoming upset with the situation the Dome residents have to deal. 

Just paid my property taxes too and I really think that we deserve a clean and safe area to 

dispose our waste.  

I'm by far not the only one being unhappy with this. It's a small town and people don't always 

speak their mind for fear of I don't know what really.  

I'd love to hear about plans to have it made better or actions being taken to clean it up.  

Thanks for reading. 

I have attached a collage to illustrate today's state.  

Regards, 

Priska 
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